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Financial Highlights
MBRE

Revenue Profit Attributable to Shareholders
PN B R EE(REF
(HKS million E# H &) (HK$ million 7% & 7t)

CAGR : 113% CAGR: 108%

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Total Assets Total Equity
BEEAE ERBE
(HKS$ million ¥ B & T) (HKS$ million ¥ HEET)

13,731
4,628
CAGR: 120% CAGR : 117%

4,751

2,102
1,585

583

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

* CAGR: Compound annual growth rate between 2006 and 2010
—EERFE_T-THEHRZEAAFERE
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHE

The Group has kept its spectacular growth momentum and achieved

record sales quantity, revenue and net profit for the vear, all of which
were up by 152.8% , 148.3% and 85.3% respectively compared to last
year mainly due to the continued high demand for metals in China, the

expansion of our regional coverage and our increased market share.
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China is the world’'s largest metal consumption country and the
momentum of high demand for metals is expected to continue in the
next few years. However, China's fast growing economic growth relies
heavily on natural resources and environmental degradation. This is the
reason why it has been the State government’s long-term strategic policy
to use renewable resources to achieve energy efficiency and reduce
carbon emissions. The State government has nominated the “energy
conservation and environmental protection” sector as the top strategic
industry for development under the [2th Five-Year Plan (the “Plan”). As
the sector is highly fragmented and poorly equipped and managed and
unable to adopt to the industry development need, the industry has to
change its business mode and adopt standardized operation, mechanical

processing and modernized management to meet the market demand.

As China's economy and industrial activities grown in the past decade
scrap metal reserves have been accumulated in the society, e.g.
ownership of 5 major home appliances (refrigerators, washing machines,
air-conditioners, televisions and personal computers) and motor vehicles
reached approximately |.6 billion units and 190 million units respectively
at the end of 2009. In the coming years, China's scrap metal reserves is
expected to be released into the market, providing ample room for

development in the industry.

The date of 9 December 2010 marked another major milestone for the
Company after its initial public offering, as the Company successfully
completed the issue of 90 million new shares. This share transaction
generated strong demands internationally and the Company brought in
many top-tier international institutional investors to support our long-

term growth.
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Chairman’s Statement

IFRE

Our network has covered 9 cities in Southern, Eastern, Northern and
Central China, and built a comprehensive collection network and system
which combined the recycling and dismantling processing and port
transportation. For the Eastern China operation, the completion and
reshape of the acquired port in Jiangyin city will contribute a substantial
increase in processing capacity in the region.The ramp up of the regional
operations and increase in its market share in the second half of 2010
have proven to be margins positive. For the Northern China operation,
the formation of a joint venture with X Z# E S B RHER A A
(Tianjin Pipe (Group) Corporation) and || regional recyclers is the first-
of-its-kind in the industry and would further expand our business
coverage in the Northern China region. For the Southern China

joint venture with ER M E £ B R 7

(Guangdong Materials Group Corporation) would result in a collection

operation, the potential |

system combining the metal recycling and dismantling of motor vehicles,
vessels and worn electrical appliances, which is a new attempt to
restructure regional State-owned recycling system and could become a
role model for the other provinces. For the Central China operation, our
Wuhan site has commenced formal operation during the year, and has
successfully secured a sizable and stable supply agreement with & % &
# (4L 1) 72\ (Wuhan Iron and Steel (Group) Corporation), which has
built solid foundation for our business development.

Our future development strategy is to continue to strengthen our
strategic national network, while expanding the business scope and
focusing on the market development in the Eastern and Northern China,
as well as expanding its product categories with an aim to set foot in
business such as dismantling of motor vehicles, vessels and worn electrical
appliances, and establish a comprehensive integrated metal recycling
system under the Plan. The Group will continue to strengthen the China
market by continuous adoption of various means such as co-operation,

acquisition and merger.
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We are on track to become the consolidator in the industry while
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance and high
operational efficiency. We believe that 201 | will be another good year for
the Group as the growth momentum will continue and the corporate
actions that we have done in 2010 will eventually pay off. Our long-term
goal is to become one of the largest metal recycling enterprises in the

world within the next few years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEERR S

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK EEOBERA =

Business Overview £BHER

Continuing the spectacular growth momentum in the past few years,the =~ BEHFHERDERERY  EUAEE
Group achieved a strong growth for the year ended 31 December 2010. #HEZE-T—ZF+_A=+—HIEFEHS
Revenue and profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ~ @)K - KAFEWRERAD A HEAE AL
were up by approximately 148.3% and 85.3% to HKD22,508.2 million & F 9D BI&®EF EF41483% K% 85.3%%
and HKD886.6 million respectively compared to last year, as a result of ~ 225.082{8 % ;L % 8.866/8# L * YA A%
our increased market share, the continued strong demand for recycled MmGEEREN  PRESBRINE
metals and expansion of our regional coverage. Sales volume of ferrous ~ KRASEMEBEZMEM/ENEK - KFE
metals for the year was approximately 1,570,000 tons, an increase of ~ HREESBHES4/51,570,000M @ &E
approximately 179% compared to last year while sales volume of non-  F#MN&179%  MAFENECESBHEE
ferrous metals for the year was approximately 360,000 tons, an increase = 4 A360,00008 & & EF 3 1479% °

of approximately 79% compared to last year.

%,
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SR ERER SR

Coherent to the State's long-term strategic policy to use renewable
resources to achieve energy efficiency and reduce carbon emissions, the
State government has set the “energy conservation and environmental
protection” sector as the top strategic industry for development under
the |2th Five-Year Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan put prominent focus on
both climate change and environmental issues. According to the
Copenhagen Accords, China has committed that its carbon emissions
per unit of GDP would in 2020 be reduced by 40% to 45% with
reference to the 2005 level. Steel industry being one of the major
carbon producers has been one of the industries to lead the change.
National Development and Reform Commission of China has set a
target of scrap steel usage as a percentage of steel production from
currently at around 14% to reach 20% under the Plan period. The
construction of a proper collection network and system and the
increase of industry concentration are the core objectives under the
Plan due to the fragmentation of the industry and the relatively low

penetration rate of recycled metals.

China's crude steel products production during the year reached
approximately 627 million tons, an increase of approximately 9.3%
compared to last year. China copper semis production during the vear
was approximately 10.9 million tons, an increase of approximately
I'1.7% compared to last year. The penetration of scrap metals
consumption in China during the year was still low when compared
with figures in the developed countries. Therefore, there exists a great

potential for increasing penetration of recycled metals in China.

The date of 9 December 2010 marked another major milestone for the
Company after its initial public offering as the Company successfully
completed the issue of 90 million new shares. This share transaction
generated strong demands internationally and the Company brought in
many top-tier international institutional investors to support our long-
term growth. A net proceeds of approximately HK$69 | million was
raised for capital expenditure and potential acquisitions to continue our

regional expansions and consolidations.
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The stablishment of our Group’s China headquarter in Shanghai on 22
June 2010 marked our dedication in committing more resources and
efforts towards further development of the Central, Eastern and
Northern China markets and strengthening our national network for the
Group’s long term sustainable growth. The Shanghai headquarter will also
become the business hub of the Group and will further enhance the

efficiency in management and co-operation with our business partners.

For the Eastern China operation, business flow has been strong
benefiting from one of the best metal recycling markets in China and
leveraging off the smooth execution of the new operations. The Group
has recorded substantial growth in the revenue of the Eastern China
region during the year. Margins improved in the second half of 2010 as
compared to the first half as a result of the ramp up of operations and
the increase in regional market share. In addition, the Group has
completed the acquisition of JL& IR BEEMBR A (angsu
Jiangyin Port Container Company Limited) (“Jiangyin Port”) in July 2010.
Jiangyin Port has become the regional logistic and distribution hub
supporting the Group’s recycling base in the Eastern China region. We
are in the process of reshapeing the Jiangyin Port into a large scale
recycling base and it will contribute an additional capacity of | million
tons in 201 1. It has improved the Group's operational efficiency and

competitiveness in the region and lowers the transportation costs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SR ERER SR

For the Northern China operation, business has picked up as a result of the
commitment of more financial resources and recruitment of new talents. The
Group has signed a framework supply agreement with ‘2 58 #ffl & (£ &) &
PR & £ 2 7] (Baotou Iron and Steel Group Co. Ltd) (“Baogang”) under
which the Group will supply 350,000 tons of scrap steel to Baogang in 201 .
On 19 November 2010, the Group entered into the shareholders
agreement with X E & KB R AR 2 A (Tianjin Pipe (Group)
Corporation) (“Tianjin Pipe Group™) and || regional recyclers for the
establishment of a joint venture (the "Tianjin Joint Venture”) in Tianjin, China,
to engage in the recycling of scrap metals. The first shareholders meeting of
Tianjin Joint Venture was held in March 201 | and it is expected to start
business in April 201 1. The Tianjin Joint Venture will create a “Strong-Strong”
alliance by combining the competitive advantages of the shareholders of the
Joint Venture: one of the largest consumers for scrap metals in Northern
China, Tianjin Pipe Group; management experience of scaleable operations,
national strategic collection, sales and financing platform, industry reputation
and advanced management system of the Group, and the regional collection
network covering annual scrap steel consumption of 14 million tons of the
suppliers. The Tianjin Joint Venture is the first-of-its-kind in the recycling
industry in China by combining the advantages of customers and suppliers
and has generated a lot of discussions in the industry. It will become the
largest recycling platform in the region, thereby greatly enhancing the
Group's bargaining and managing power in the Northern China region.
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For the Southern China operation, demand from existing customers such

s B R (B N) A4 8 B BR 22 8 (Lianzhong Guangzhou Stainless Steel
Corporann) has increased due to the increase in production capacity.
The Zhongshan site expands our collection coverage and will contribute
an additional capacity of 300,000 tons in 2011. On |5 March 2011, the
Company entered into a non-binding memorandum of understanding
with ERMEKE QA
("GDWZ") to set up a joint venture (the “"Guangdong Joint Venture") to

A] (Guangdong Materials Group Corporation)

engage in the business of recycling in the Southern China region. The
Group and GDWZ will inject certain Southern China assets and recycling
business respectively into the Guangdong Joint Venture. GDWZ,
restructured from the original Materials Bureau of the Guangdong
Province, is a large scale State-owned enterprise engaged in the
operation of various material resources. The recycling business of GDWZ
is currently one of the largest processors for the dismantling of scrapped
motor vehicles and scrapped vessels in the Guangdong Province. The
Guangdong Joint Venture will enable the Group to team up with one of
the largest companies engaging in the recycling and dismantling of
scrapped motor vehicles and the recycling and scrapping of vessels in the
Guangdong Province, and to enhance and refine the waste collection
network of the Group. The proposed co-operation would also help the
Group create an integrated metal recycling system that combines the
recycling and dismantling of scrap metals, electrical appliances, motor

vehicles, vessels and aircrafts.

For the Central China operation, the site in Wuhan city commenced
operation in October in 2010 with production capacity of 500,000 tons.
The Group has signed a supply framework agreement with E\ & i |
(£ E) 2 7] (Wuhan lron and Steel (Group) Corporation) (“Wugang")
under which the Group will supply 250,000 tons of scrap steel to
Wugang in 201 .
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SRR E SR

Our future development strategy is to leverage off our competitive
advantages to |) continue to strengthen our strategic national network
and product categories in order to establish an integrated metal recycling
system that combines the recycling and dismantling of scrap metals,
electrical appliances, motor vehicles and vessels, so as to fully support the
State government’s target of establishing a comprehensive recycling
system under the Plan, 2) develop a diversified sales and procurement
network to enlarge our market share, 3) continue to invest in advanced
machineries and environmental protection facilities to ensure operational
efficiency and economies of scale, and 4) increase investment in our staff
to enhance management quality and strengthen our overall operational
and business integration capability. The strategy of combining both
organic and inorganic approaches of corporate development to maintain
our relative first-mover advantage will be continued to reinforce our

leadership position in the metal recycling industry in China.

Looking forward into 2011, the Group will continue to leverage off our
core competitive advantages to achieve the full year sales volume growth
target of 40%. With contributions from our multiple regional operations,
we are confident to complete the targets and deliver more than

spectacular returns to our shareholders.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 was
HK$22,508.2 million (2009: HK$9,063.2 million), representing an increase

of 148.3% as compared to last year

Increase in the Group's revenue was mainly attributable to the significant
increase in the sales of both ferrous and non-ferrous metals during the
year. Our business from new regions, namely the Eastern China region
and the Northern China region, have been contributing significantly to

the increase during the year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 was
HK$1,235.4 million (2009: HK$ 790.0 million), representing an increase of
56.4% as compared to last year. Gross profit margin of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2010 was 5.5% (2009: 8.7%), representing a
decrease of 3.2%. The decrease was mainly due to the increase in

contributions from new regions which have lower gross profit margins.

Other Income

Other income for the year ended 31 December 2010, including mainly
interest income, rental income and exchange gain, has increased by
723.5% from HK$8.0 million for the last year to HK$65.7 million. The
increase was mainly due to the increases in exchange gain and interest
income from bank deposits by HK$38.7 million and HK$14.9 million
respectively. Renminbi had been appreciating against US dollars during

the year

Distribution and Selling Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2010, distribution and selling expenses
amounted to HK$8.6 million, representing an increase of 31.1%
compared with last year. The increase was mainly attributable to the

increase in volume of our products sold.
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Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses including staff salaries, depreciation expenses
and other general administration expenses for the year ended 3|
December 2010 amounted to HK$182.8 million, representing an increase
of 118.8% over that of HK$83.5 million for last year. The increase was
mainly attributable to the increase in the number of directors and
executive staff for the new regions in China; and various expenses
incurred by the Group for the purpose of expanding its operations. The
Group recognized total expenses of HK$34.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2010 (2009: HK$15.1 million) in relation to share options
granted by the Company under the Pre-IPO and the Post-IPO share
option schemes adopted by the Company.

Other Expenses

Other expenses for last year amounted to HK$13.4 million, representing
professional fees and listing related expenses for the Company's listing in
June 2009,

Net Loss on Derivative Financial Instruments

It represents the net loss arising from the changes in fair value of the
metal commodity future contracts used to hedge against the Group's
purchases and inventory. Metal commodity prices have been increasing
during the year and resulted in losses on those commodity future
contracts used to hedge against the corresponding spot purchase or

inventory.

Finance Costs

Finance costs decreased by 20.8% from HK$120.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2009 to HK$95.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2010, mainly due to full redemption of the senior notes upon
the listing of the Company in 2009. Total interest accrued in relation to
the senior notes last year amounted to HK$ 11 1.0 million, whereas no

such interest expense was accrued for the year.

The finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2010 mainly arose
from trade financing from banks for working capital.
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Gain on Disposal of a Subsidiary

Upon the completion of the acquisition of the plant and ports in Jiangyin,
the Jiangsu Province in July 2010, it became the Group's hub centre in the
Eastern China region. This substantially improves the Company's
operational efficiency and competitiveness in the region and lower the
transportation costs. In September 2010, the Group then disposed of its
entire 70% equity interest in Zhangjiagang Rongli Zaisheng Ziyuen Co.,
Ltd. to minimise the duplication in network coverage and enhance

operational efficiency.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company and Dividend

The profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 3|
December 2010 grew by 85.3% to HK$886.6 million as compared with
HK$478.4 million for last year.

No interim dividend for the first half of the current year was declared to
the shareholders. For the year ended 31 December 2010, the directors
have proposed a final dividend of HKI6 cents per share, which will
aggregate to approximately HK$182 million, subject to the approval of
the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

Key Financial Ratios

The following table sets forth certain of our financial ratios as at the date

for the years indicated.
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Working Capital

The inventory turnover of the Group was 21 days for the year ended 3|

December 2010 as compared to 22 days for last year

The Group's debtors’ turnover (including both trade debtors and bills
receivable) was 78 days for the year ended 31 December 2010 as
compared to 73 days for last year. The Group generally allows average
credit periods of 30 to 60 days and 30 to 90 days to its ferrous and non-

ferrous customers respectively.

The Group's creditors’ turnover (including both trade payables and bills
payable) was 49 days for the year ended 31 December 2010 as
compared to 20 days for last year. Credit periods granted by the Group's
suppliers rung up to 60 days. The increase was primarily induced by the
increase in the turnover days of the trade debtors and bills receivable. As
a result, the Group sought longer credit periods and support from its

suppliers.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 3| December 2010, the Group has net current assets of
HK$4,114.2 million (2009: HK$2,707.1 million) of which cash and bank
deposits were HK$2,971.0 million (2009: HK$827.1 million).

Total borrowings as at 31 December 2010, including discounted bills,
were HK$3,634.5 million (2009: HK$591.4 million). They were mainly
used to finance the purchases of the Group. The borrowings are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars and Renminbi,
of which HK$2,377.0 million were at fixed rates and HK$3,281.6 million
were repayable within one year

The Group's gearing ratio as at 31 December 2010 (total borrowings
divided by total assets) was 26.5% (2009: 12.5%).
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The Group's transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars.
The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or effects on its
operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in currency exchange

rates during the year.

The Group adopts centralised financing and treasury policies in order to
ensure the Group’s funding is utilised efficiently. Conservative approach is
adopted in monitoring foreign exchange exposure and interest rate risk.
Forward contracts were used to hedge the foreign currency exposure in

trading activities when it was considered appropriate.

The Group's liquidity position remains strong and the Group possesses
sufficient cash and available banking facilities to meet its commitments
and working capital requirements. This strong cash position enables the
Group to explore investment and business development opportunities

when expanding its market share in China.

Capital Expenditure and Capital Commitments

In order to enhance production capacity, the Group invested
approximately HK$513.8 million during the year ended 3| December
2010 (2009: HK$93.7 million) in the acquisition of new fixed assets. These
mainly represented the acquisition and deposits paid for land use rights, a

port in Jiangyin, plants and machineries for various plants in China.

As at 3| December 2010, the Group made capital expenditure
commitments of approximately HK$318.2 million during the year (2009:
HK$306.5 million) which were contracted but not provided for in the
financial statements. These commitments were mainly related to the
investment in an associate in Tianjin, and acquisition of plant and
machinery for the expansion of the Group's production capacity in

various regions.

Charges on Group Assets

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s banking facilities were mainly
collateralised by certain bank deposits amounted to HK$1,630.5 million
(2009: HK$210.4 million), bills receivable amounted to HK$449.4 million
(2009: HK$185.3 million), inventories amounted to HK$398.8 million
(2009: Nil), trade receivables amounted to HK$53.5 million (2009: Nil)
and certain land and buildings of the Group of approximately HK$4.4
million (2009: HK$4.5 million).
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Foreign Exchange Risk Management

Most of the sales of the Group are settled in Renminbi, which is not
freely convertible into foreign currencies. The fluctuation of Renminbi
during the year did not have any adverse effect on the Group's results.
Besides, the Group will conduct periodic review of its exposure to
foreign exchange risk and may use financial instrument for hedging

purpose when considered appropriate.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2010 and 3| December 2009, the Group had no

material contingent liabilities.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had a workforce of about 500
people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive level and are
reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant labour market and
economic situation. The Group has adopted share option schemes
whereby employees of the Group are granted options to acquire shares

in the Company.

Good relationship has been maintained between the Group and its
employees. The Group also provides internal training to staff and pays out

bonuses based upon staff performance and profits of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company
believes that sound and good corporate governance practices are
essential for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and

maximizing shareholders' interests.

The Company has followed the principles and complied with all
applicable code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the "CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules") throughout the
year ended 3| December 2010, save for the deviation from code

provision A.2.| of the CG Code which is explained below.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business and to
review its corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure
they comply with the statutory requirements and the CG Code and align

with the latest developments.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions of the directors, senior management and relevant employees
(who, because of their office in the Group, are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the Company or
its securities) of the Group (the "Own Code") on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")

as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.

Having made specific equiry of all directors, all the members of the Board
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standard as
set out in the Model Code and the Own Code throughout the year
ended 31 December 2010. No incident of non-compliance of the Own
Code during the year by the senior management and relevant employees

was noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition and Role

The Board currently comprises seven directors, with three executive
directors, one non-executive director and three independent non-
executive directors, whose name and their biographical details are set
out in the section “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report. On 8 June 2010, Mr. Fung Ka Lun was appointed as an
executive director and Mr.Yan Qi Ping was appointed as an independent
non-executive director. On | October 2010, Mr Chan lu Seng resigned as

an independent non-executive director.

The Board has in its composition a balance of expertise, skills and
experience necessary for independent decision-making. The Board at all
times during the year met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise. Save that Ms. Lai Wun Yin is the
spouse of Mr. Chun Chi Wai, there are no other financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships among other members of the
Board.

The Board, with the assistance of the senior management, forms the core
management team of the Company. The Company has formalised and
adopted the written terms on the division of functions reserved to the
Board and those delegated to the management. The Board has the overall
responsibility for formulating the business strategies and development
plan and making key decisions of the Group whereas the senior
management are responsible for the supervision and implementation of
the plans of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group's business

operations.
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Independent non-executive directors

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. The Company has received written annual
confirmation from each independent non-executive director of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board
considers that all independent non-executive directors are independent
in character and judgment in accordance with the independence

guideline as set out in the Listing Rules.

Board meetings

Notice of regular board meetings is served to all directors at least |4
days before the meetings. For other board meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given. Agenda setting out the matters to be discussed and the
relevant documents are sent out in full to all directors within reasonable

time before the meeting.

Draft minutes of each board meeting is circulated to the directors for
comment within a reasonable time prior to confirmation. Minutes of
Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are kept by the duly
appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and are available for
inspection by all directors at reasonable time. All directors have full
access to the board papers and related materials, and are provided with

adequate information on a timely manner.

The Board members regularly meet to discuss the overall strategy as well
as the operational and financial performance of the Company. Other
Board meetings will be held when necessary. Such Board meetings involve
the active participation, either in person or through other electronic
means of communication, of a majority of directors. During the year
ended 31 December 2010, six full Board meetings were held and the

individual attendance records of each director is set out below:
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Name of directors

EX48

Executive Directors

HITEE

Mr. Chun Chi Wai
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Fung Ka Lun
(Group Finance Director and Group Vice President)
(appointed on 8 June 2010)

Mr. Jiang Yan Zhang (Chief Operating Officer)

Non-executive Director
FHITEE
Ms. Lai Wun Yin

Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFHTEE

Mr. Chan lu Seng (resigned on | October 2010)
Mr. Chan Kam Hung

Mr. Leung Chong Shun

Mr.Yan Qi Ping (appointed on 8 June 2010)

Attendance/

No. of meetings held

during the tenure

of directorship

HERY EEEHR
EONERREY
RS 6/6
(EERITHARE)
BT E 4/4
(BEUFEERFEFBE)
R-ZF-ZFX ANBEEZE)
ZEBRE (HERE 6/6
RgEL L 6/6
RREEXE N _Z-TF+A-B&E) 3/3
R8BI ST 4 6/6
RelExE 6/6

BRFEE(R-_Z-—FFANBEERE)
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not

be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Chun Chi Wai currently holds both the offices of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. The Board considers that the current
structure of vesting the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in
the same person will not impair the balance of power and authority
within the Board as all major decisions are made in consultation with
members of the Board as well as the senior management of the

Company.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer in the same person provides the Company with strong
and consistent leadership and allows for effective and efficient planning

and implementation of business decisions and strategies.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The term of the service contracts of all the non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive directors) are three years
commencing from 27 May 2010, the date of last annual general meeting
of the Company. All directors (including the executive directors) are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years at the
annual general meeting of the Company and are eligible for re-election

pursuant to the Company's articles of association.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. As at the date of
this report, the remuneration committee comprises four members,
namely Mr. Leung Chong Shun, Mr. Chun Chi Wai, Mr. Chan Kam Hung
and Mr.Yan Qi Ping, the majority of them are independent non-executive
directors. The chairman of the remuneration committee has been
changed from Mr. Chan lu Seng to Mr Leung Chong Shun with effect
from 7 June 2010.

The remuneration committee makes recommendations to the Board on
the Group's overall policy and structure for the remuneration packages
of the directors and the senior management. The remuneration
committee is also responsible for establishing formal and transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure to
ensure that no director or any of his/her associates will participate in

deciding his/her own remuneration.

The remuneration committee held two meetings during the year ended
31 December 2010 to review and approve the remuneration and bonus
package of the directors and the senior management, the employment
contracts of new senior staff and other related matters. In determining
the emolument payable to directors, the remuneration committee takes
into consideration factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the directors and the desirability

of performance based remuneration.

The attendance records of the remuneration committee meetings are set

out below:

Name of committee members

ZEEHERS

Mr. Leung Chong Shun (Chairman) REREE (£/)
Mr. Chun Chi Wai REEAE

Mr. Chan lu Seng (resigned on | October 2010) BRRELE (R
Mr. Chan Kam Hung BR 85 1 5t &

Mr. Yan Qi Ping (appointed on 8 June 2010) BRELEE (R
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has not established a nomination committee. The Board as
a whole is responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition
of the Board by reference to the business model of the Company and
the market conditions, with a view to appoint to the Board suitable
candidates with relevant experience and capabilities to maintain and

improve the competitiveness of the Company.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out the
selection process by making reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of the
proposed candidates, including the independence status in the case of
independent non-executive director, the Company's needs and other

relevant statutory requirements and regulations.

The appointment, re-election and removal of directors are governed by
the Company’s articles of association. Pursuant to the Company’s articles
of association, any director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting, whereas any
director appointed as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then
be eligible for re-election. In addition, at each annual general meeting of
the Company, one-third of the directors shall retire from office by
rotation and be eligible for re-election thereat, such that all directors
should be subject to retirement by rotation at annual general meetings at

least once every three years.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION AND REPORTING
RESPONSIBILITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the remuneration paid or to
be paid to Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the Company’s external
auditors in respect of audit services rendered were approximately
HK$3,129,000 and in respect of non-audit services for interim review

and other services rendered were approximately HK$893,610.

The statement of the Company’s external auditors regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2010 is set out in the section “Independent

Auditor's Report” in this annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has been established with written terms of
reference based upon the code provisions and recommended practices
of the CG Code. As at the date of this report, the audit committee
comprises three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan
Kam Hung (Chairman), Mr. Leung Chong Shun and Mr.Yan Qi Ping. The
Board considers that each of the audit committee members has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in legal,
business and accounting in the audit committee. The composition of the
audit committee complies with the requirements under Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules. None of the members of the audit committee is a former

partner of the Company's existing external auditors.
The main duties of the audit committee include the following:

* To review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the external auditors before

submission to the Board.

* To review the relationship with the external auditors by reference to
the work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of
engagement and make recommendations to the Board on the

appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors.

* To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system, risk management system

and the associated procedures.

The audit committee provides supervision on the internal control system
of the Group and reports to the Board on any material issues and makes

recommendations to the Board.

During the year, the audit committee has reviewed the Group’s annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group's interim
results for the six months ended 30 June 2010, the respective financial
reporting, risk management and compliance procedures, the report on
the Company's internal controls and processes and the independence,
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors. The
audit committee has also reviewed and was satisfied with the
effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Group including the
adequacy of the resources, qualifications and experience of the
employees of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and

their training programmes and budget.
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The audit committee held three meetings during the vear ended 3|

December 2010 and the attendance records are set out below:
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Attendance/

No. of meetings held
during the tenure

of directorship

Name of committee members HERY ESEHR
ZEEREHA BIHNEBRE
Mr. Chan Kam Hung (Chairman) PRERIE L& (£/E) 33
Mr. Chan lu Seng (resigned on | October 2010) RBELAE (RZZE—FF+H—-HET) 3/3
Mr. Leung Chong Shun 2 a8 % E 3/3
Mr.Yan Qi Ping (appointed on 8 June 2010) BRELE(RZE—ZFEANBEZT) /1
INTERNAL CONTROLS P B B i

The Board has the overall responsibility for the system of internal control
of the Group. The Board is committed to implementing an effective and
sound internal control system to safeguard the interest of the
shareholders and the Group’s assets. The Board has delegated to the
executive management the implementation of the system of internal
control and the review of all relevant financial, operational, compliance

and risk management functions within an established framework.

The Company has set up an internal audit department, which reports
directly to the audit committee. The audit committee, on an annual basis,
will assess the effectiveness of the system of internal control as well as
the internal audit department by examining the scope of the internal
audit work, its independence of areas reviewed and the internal auditor’s
report. The audit committee is satisfied that the internal audit
department has adequate resources and appropriate standing within the

Company to undertake its activities independently and objectively.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the financial statements
for each financial year are prepared to reflect a true and fair view of the
state of affairs, profitability and cash flows of the Group in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Listing Rules, Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance and the applicable accounting standards.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010. In
preparing the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 3|
December 2010, the directors have adopted appropriate and consistent
accounting policies and made prudent and reasonable judgments and
estimations. The directors are responsible for maintaining proper
accounting records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the state of
affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity movements of the Group
at all time.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Company endeavours to maintain good investor relationship with
the shareholders and potential investors by way of meeting them at
annual general meetings, publishing interim and annual reports on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and releasing timely

press releases on the Company's website.

The Company’s website has set up as a means to provide information of
the Company to the shareholders and potential investors and to
communicate with them directly and effectively. Further, the Company’s
investor relations department is responsible for handling general public
relations and investor relations matters. Shareholders are also
encouraged to attend the Company’s annual general meetings and
general meetings for which notices are served for an adequate period in
accordance with the provisions of the Listing Rules. The directors and the
Chief Financial Officer are available to answer questions on the Group’s

business at the meetings.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEERE

DIRECTORS

Our board of directors currently consists of seven members, including
three executive directors, one non-executive director and three

independent non-executive directors.

Executive directors
Chun Chi Wai (& &), aged 45

Mr. Chun was appointed as a director of the Company on 18 July 2007
and re-designated as an executive director on 28 May 2008. He is the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group. Mr. Chun is also
the director of Wellrun Limited, the substantial and controlling
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Chun serves as a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company and is a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chun co-founded the Group with his
spouse Ms. Lai Wun Yin, non-executive director of the Company, and is
responsible for the overall strategic planning and business management.
Mr. Chun has over |7 years of experience in the business of scrap metal
recycling and trading, port operations and shipping, having served as
general manager and executive director of Whampoa Materials (Hong
Kong) Company Limited from 1995 to 2000 and Guangzhou Zhujiang
Steel Port Co. Ltd. from 2003 to 2006. He served as a director of the
33rd and the 35th term of the board of directors of Yan Chai Hospital.
From 2004 to 2006, he was a committee member of the People’s Political
Consultative Committee of the Guangzhou Huang Pu District. Mr. Chun
is currently a standing committee member of the China Association of
Metal Scrap Utilization and a director of Guangzhou Zhujiang Steel Port
Co., Ltd.
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Fung Ka Lun (f5 % @), aged 36

Mr. Fung joined the Group in November 2009 and was the Corporate
Finance President and the Group Vice President of the Group. He is also
a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Fung is responsible
for the overall strategic planning and business management and
corporate finance of the Group. Upon his appointment as an executive
director of the Company on 8 June 2010, his title was changed to the
Group Finance Director and the Group Vice President of the Group. Mr.
Fung graduated from the Imperial College of Science, Technology and
Medicine, the University of London, with a Master of Science Degree in
Finance. Mr. Fung has extensive experience in corporate finance and
financial management. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Fung was a
director in the investment banking division of UBS AG. Before joining the
banking sector, Mr. Fung worked in the audit division of KPMG.

Jiang Yan Zhang (ZIE &), aged 56

Mr. Jiang is an executive director of the Company since 28 May 2008. He
is also the Chief Operating Officer of the Group. Mr. Jiang also serves as a
director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Jiang joined the
Group in December 2003 and is responsible for various aspects of the
Group's overall operations such as production, procurement, quality
control, sales and marketing. Mr. Jiang has over 39 years of experience in
the business of metal production. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jiang
held various management positions in Guangdong Shaogang Company
Group from 1970 to 2003, including the manager of scrap steel
department and the safety and environmental department. Mr. Jiang is
currently a director of Guangzhou Zhujiang Steel Port Co., Ltd. Mr. Jiang
received his Bachelor Degree in Philosophy from Zhongshan University in
1989 and a Master Degree in Business Administration from Macau

University of Science and Technology in 2003.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢ﬁEEE’£ﬂ§ (Z=8%) ARAF

B 365

BEBEER-ZZSNEF+-ANELRE
CEAASECERELEEREERS
B RUFRAEALDRZHNBARMNES -
BrREBEASERBREMEBERERD
¥REZTIR -HBR-_T-—ZTEAN\AE
ZAERARARNTES  BEERALEE
EEVMBESREERBE - BAERER
f 2L K 2 Imperial College of Science,
Technology and Medicine * 4 @RI 218 +
B BAETECERERMBER FEE
BYELSH - MAKXDAA - BEELEE
TRAEERERTDES - MARTE
Al BAESRESHEHMEBMEZD
8 -

ZIEE - 5675

ZRER_SEENFRA-TN\BEZTA
AQRBTES  BRAAEELELER
ARRZEMBARINES - ZXEAER-T
Z=F+_ANBAEE  BEASEER
¥BZHEMNIE NEE  RE GE8

Bl HERMSEE ZLLESBEER
BHIHEEERIFLR -EMBAER L
Al ZERAEBRE-NEETFE_TT=FH
ARERAHANEEEERARNELZEE
BERN - BEEMANIIRTERRR
PIE - ZXEAEBAABEMKRBEERA
AEF ZRER-NNANFEPLUKRESE
2886 IRN_TT=FEREMBEX
BTHEESRLEMN -



Non-executive Director
Lai Wun Yin (BRI2 &), aged 40

Ms. Lai is a non-executive director of the Company since 28 May 2008,
Ms. Lai co-founded the Group with her spouse Mr. Chun Chi Wai,
executive director, chairman, chief executive officer and substantial and
controlling shareholder of the Company. Ms. Lai completed secondary
education and has over 10 years of experience in financial and

administrative management.

Independent Non-executive Directors
Chan Kam Hung (R #8 4 ), aged 52

Mr. Chan joined the Company as an independent non-executive director
on 22 May 2009. Mr. Chan also serves as the chairman of the audit
committee and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company. Mr. Chan has over 27 years of auditing, accounting and
corporate management experience and he held senior corporate
management positions in various multi-national companies and listed
companies in Hong Kong. He is currently an executive director and chief
operating officer of Road King Infrastructure Limited (Stock code: 1098).
Mr. Chan received a Bachelor of Economics Degree from the University
of Sydney in 1980. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountant of Australia and a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.

EHITEE
RIBE - 405

RUITR_EENFRA-_+N\BEZRTAE
ARARMERTES - BLUTHEARBRE
BARRINMITES  FF - THREHRE
ERERRR)LREINAEE - B+ S5
RABYEURMBERIBERFARER
105 8B o

BUAFBTES
FREBIE - B27%

REEAR-_ZTNFREA-_+T-_AMEERR
AEETBUFATES - RELETETAR
AIEGZEGIRERFMEZBENE - RE
TRBBFNET SR REEEEL
B UERZEAERARREE LD AAE
EEREXEEERY -RAMNAKIER
ARAR (RMDHEE : 1098) RTEERE
BRE -REER-NANTFERMNZHK
BRESETEM - WARMNBFFEHEAD
288

S8 TREEEGHMAGSERER

Eiﬁl Annual Report 2010

35



36

Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEERE

Leung Chong Shun (2 8/ /E), aged 45

Mr. Leung joined the Company as an independent non-executive director
on 22 May 2009. Mr. Leung also serves as the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee of the
Company. Mr. Leung joined Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo, a law firm in Hong
Kong since 1989 and became a partner of Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo since
September 1997. Mr. Leung has served as an independent non-executive
director of Lijun International Pharmaceutical (Holding) Co., Ltd. (Stock
code: 2005) since October 2005 and China National Materials Company
Limited (Stock code: 1893) since July 2007. He was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of China Communications
Construction Company Limited (stock code: 1800) on 24 January 201 1.
Mr. Leung received a Bachelor of Laws Degree in 1988 and the
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws in 1989 from the University of Hong
Kong. He was qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong and England & Wales

in 1991 and 1994 respectively.

Yan Qi Ping (B8R F), aged 65

Mr.Yan joined the Company as an independent non-executive director on
8 June 2010. Mr.Yan is also a member of the audit committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Yan is a senior steel
engineer and was the former secretary-general of the China Association
of Metal Scrap Utilization (Bl #l & & A 53 &), an industry
organisation that is responsible for the recycle industry in China. Mr.Yan
graduated from the Beijing Iron and Steel Institute (3t 7R & & ZFt) (now
known as Beijing University of Science and Technology (3t R BHE K &)
in the discipline of steel refining in 1970. He worked from 1970 to 2002
in Wuhan Iron and Steel Group Corporation (&2 #ff & & [ 2 7]) and
served as manager of metal resources company and head of the
corporate scrap metal department. He was the secretary-general of the
China Association of Metal Scrap Utilization from 2002 until May 2010.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Below is the biography of each of our key management members:

Lam Po Kei Kenneth Greg (WK E £ ), aged 44

Mr. Lam, joined our Group in 2007, is the Chief Financial Officer of the
Group and the Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Lam also serves
as a director of a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Lam is responsible for
supervising financing and accounting matters of the Group. Mr. Lam has
over 2| years of experience in accounting and financial management. Mr.
Lam holds Master of Business Administration jointly awarded by the
University of Wales and University of Manchester. Mr. Lam is a qualified
Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and an associate member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Liu Hui (2I1), aged 41

Mr. Liu, joined our Group in 2009, is the general manager of the non-
ferrous metal department of the Group and a director of a subsidiary of
the Company. Mr. Liu is responsible for overseeing the overall operations
of non-ferrous business of the Group. Mr. Liu has over twenty years of
experience in trading, financing and investment of non-ferrous metals
business. Mr. Liu graduated from Zhejiang University in China with a
Bachelor Degree in Economic Management. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Liu was the director of metals & mining division of BNP Paribas Asia.
Prior to BNP Paribus Asia, Mr. Liu was the marketing manager of base
metals for BHP Billion in China.

Ma Xian Ming (55 B B7), aged 40

Mr. Ma, joined our Group in 2009, is the general manager of the ferrous
metal department of Ferrous Scrap Division in Shanghai Region. Mr. Ma is
responsible for overseeing the overall operations of the ferrous business
of the Group. Mr. Ma has over |5 years of experience in the industry. Mr.
Wu holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from Macau
University of Science and Technology and the designation of senior
economist in the PRC. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ma was the senior
manager of sales and marketing department of Baosteel Resources

Company Ltd.
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Cao Tie Cheng (B &%), aged 65

Mr. Cao, joined our Group in 2010, is the general manager of a major
subsidiary of the Company in Tianjin. Mr. Cao is responsible for strategic
planning of operational development in Tianjin and overseeing the
management and operations of the subsidiary. Mr. Cao graduated from
the Correspondence Institute of the Party School of Central Committee
of the Communist Party of China in the discipline of business, financial
and enterprise management. Mr. Cao has over 44 years of experience in
the business of metal production. Mr. Cao served as the general manager
assistant and economist of Tianjin Metallurgy Group (Holdings) Limited (
REMAEEE () R 2 F]) from 1997 to 2004. Before joining
the Group, Mr. Cao held various management positions in Tianjin
Guoneng Investment Co., Ltd (K2 Bl g8 & B R 2 A), including

director, general manager and senior consultant.

Wang Yu Zhang (£ £ ), aged 45

Mr. Wang, joined our Group in 2003, is the general manager of a major
subsidiary of the Company in Guangzhou. Mr. Wang is responsible for
overseeing the management and operations of the subsidiary. Mr. Wang
graduated from Guangxi University with a Bachelor Degree in Machinery
Manufacturing and Design and holds the designation of intermediate
economist in the PRC. Mr. Wang has over |7 years of experience in the

administrative management and project investment.

Liang Jian Xiong (R ), aged 49

Mr. Liang, joined our Group in 2006, is the general manager of a
subsidiary of the Company in Tianjin. Mr. Liang is responsible for
overseeing its management and operations of the subsidiary. Mr. Liang has
over || years of experience in operations and financial management.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Liang was the vice general manager and
financial controller of Shenzhen Guangnan Investment and Development

Company Limited.
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Wu Han Ming (R £ ), aged 49

Mr.Wu, joined our Group in 2009, is the general manager of corporate
financing department in China region. Mr. Wu is responsible for the
strategic planning and business management and corporate finance in the
PRC region. Mr.Wu has more than 30 years of experience in the field of
banking and financing industry. Mr. Wu graduated from Guangdong
Provincial Party School, majoring in financial management. Before joining
the Group, Mr.Wu held senior positions with various financial institutions
in the PRC. Mr-Wu was formerly the general manager of sales division of

The Rural Credit Cooperatives of Guangzhou.

Zhang Guang Chao (3R &), aged 47

Mr. Zhang, joined our Group in 2010, is the general manager of cash
management center of corporate financing department in China region.
Mr. Zhang is responsible for the cash management and corporate finance
in the PRC region. Mr. Zhang has more than 29 years of experience in
the field of banking and financing industry. Mr. Wu graduated from
Guangdong Polytechnic Normal University, majoring in accounting and
holds the designation of economist in the PRC. Before joining the Group,
Mr.Wu held senior positions with various financial institutions in the PRC.
Mr.Wu was formerly the general manager of cash management division
of The Rural Credit Cooperatives of Guangzhou and vice president of

Balyun branch of Guangzhou Rural Commercial Bank.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries and an associate are set out in note 41| to the

consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In 2010, our largest customer accounted for 25% (2009: 25%) of the total
revenue. The five largest customers comprised 62% (2009: 71%) of our

total revenue.

In 2010, our largest supplier accounted for 13% (2009: 20%) of the total
purchases. The five largest suppliers comprised 43% (2009: 66%) of our

total purchases.

At no time during the year did a director, an associate of a director or a
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the Company's share capital) have an interest in

any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income on page 54.

No interim dividend was declared for the year. The directors now
recommend the payment of a final dividend of HKI6 cents per share,
amounting to approximately HK$ 182,000,000, and the retention of the
remaining profit, to the shareholders whose names appeared on the
register of members on |6 May 201, subject to the approval of the

shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, |2
May 2011 to Monday, 16 May 2011, both days inclusive. During such
period, no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the
entitlement to the proposed final dividend and for attending the
forthcoming annual general meeting, all completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’'s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, | | May
201 1.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group had additions of HK$354,971,000 to
property, plant and equipment to expand and upgrade the Group's

production facilities.

Details of these and other movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note |5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company's reserves available for distribution to shareholders, including
the share premium account, capital reserve and accumulated losses,

amounted to approximately HK$2,632 million as at 31 December 2010.

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium of the Company is available for paying distributions or
dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of its memorandum
and articles of association and provided that immediately following the
distribution or dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. In accordance with the
Company’s articles of association, dividends shall be distributed out of
the retained profits or other reserves, including the share premium

account and capital reserve, of the Company.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the

Company are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Chun Chi Wai (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Fung Ka Lun (Group Finance Director and Group Vice President)
(appointed on 8 June 2010)

Mr. Jiang Yan Zhang (Chief Operating Officer)

Non-executive director:

Ms. Lai Wun Yin

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Chan Kam Hung

Mr. Leung Chong Shun

Mr. Yan Qi Ping (appointed on 8 June 2010)
Mr. Chan lu Seng (resigned on | October 2010)

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Company's articles of association,
Mr. Jiang Yan Zhang and Mr. Leung Chong Shun shall retire from office by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,

offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Company's articles of association,
Mr. Fung Ka Lun and Mr Yan Qi Ping shall retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation other than statutory

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2010, the interests of the directors of the Company
and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations, as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") contained in the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing

Rules"), were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the shares of the Company:
ARBBMAEFR

EERBEEY

MERREERRBFAELERELCLE
FRAAKEAEATATRAKER —FR
wiEmAAELEEOCEERERIN 2 RS
R

EERKkG  HERSRES
K=

N-E-FTF+-F=+—-H ARAEE
RESZHEALRARAREAHEZEN
B - HEARNRESTPEE AR ABREE
HRBEGED([FHRBEEG]) E352167F
EMNECMLE  IRBEEEBRERIHME
RAR (B EHFLEMBR (LT
AN LETARESENESF T FINITE
SFAI(TEESFR]) MAE AR R KB ATH
BEWOT

Percentage of
Number of the issued
issued ordinary share capital of

shares held the Company

Name of director Capacity FFEET WGAATSHBT
EERE S LERBE BREE S
Mr. Chun Chi Wai Interest of controlled corporation (note) 643,149,181 56.55%
REBKE RewzE ks (W)
Beneficial owner 1,089,000 0.10%
BB A
Ms. Lai Wun Yin Interest of spouse (note) 644,238,181 56.65%
RERERL A #E s (P E)
Note: Mr. Chun Chi Wai is deemed to be interested in 643,149,181 M5 AREREREENFERRAAF (4

ordinary shares held by Wellrun Limited (“Wellrun") as the sole
beneficial owner of Wellrun. Ms. Lai Wun Yin is the spouse of Mn
Chun ChiWai and is deemed to be interested in the shares held by
Mr. Chun Chi Wai.
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(i) Long positions in the underlying shares of the Company:
ARBHEBERDOEE

Number of

options/
underlying
shares held

Percentage
of the issued

share capital

of the Company

Name of director Capacity PSR iE,/ Exercisable period ER AT EET
EEpz S HERHHE TH RAESH
Mr. Chun Chi Wai Beneficial owner 1,930,502 22 June 2010 - 18 June 2017 0.17%
REREE ERBEBA —Z-TFRAZTZHE
—T—tFX ATNR
Beneficial owner 1,930,502 23 June 2011 - 18 June 2017 0.17%
EREAA “E-—%RAZT=HEZE
—E—tEXATNA
Beneficial owner 1,930,502 23 June 2012 - 18 June 2017 0.17%
EREAA —T-_#XAZt=HZE
—T—tFX ATNR
Interest of spouse (note) 643,500 22 June 2010 - 18 June 2017 0.06%
BB () —T-EFRNAZ+ZRE
—E—tEXATNA
Interest of spouse (note) 643,501 23 June 2011 - 18 June 2017 0.06%
BB 2 (B st) “ET-——%RAZT=HZE
—T—+tFRATN\R
Interest of spouse (note) 643,501 23 June 2012 - 18 June 2017 0.06%
B EiEs () “T-"fR"A-+=REZE
—E—tEXATNA
7,722,008 0.69%
Mr. Fung Ka Lun Beneficial owner [,144,164 | November 2010 - 23 December 2017 0.10%
BERLE EREAA “Z-THE+-A-HE
—EtF+-AZT=H
Beneficial owner [,144,165 | November 201 | - 23 December 2017 0.10%
EREAA “EZ——%t+t—-A—-HE
“ET—+F+=A=+=H
Beneficial owner [,144,165 | November 2012 - 23 December 2017 0.10%
EREAA “T-"f+-A—HE
—EtF+-AZT=H
3,432,494 0.30%
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Number of

Percentage

options/ of the issued
underlying share capital
shares held of the Company
Name of director Capacity FiisERE Exercisable period EXATCET
EEnE 5 HERHHE TR REES
Mr. Jiang Yan Zhang Beneficial owner 514,800 22 June 2010 - 18 June 2017 0.05%
ZEERE ERBEAA —E-EFXAZTZHE
—E—+FRATNH
Beneficial owner 514,801 23 June 2011 - 18 June 2017 0.05%
ExBEBA —E-——FRAZT=HE
—Z—+tFXATN\A
Beneficial owner 514,801 23 June 2012 - 18 June 2017 0.05%
ERBEAA —E-"FXAZt=HEZE
“ET-tFRATIA
1,544,402 0.15%
Ms. Lai Wun Yin Beneficial owner 643,500 22 June 2010 - 18 June 2017 0.06%
RBELL E5BEAA —E-EFRAZTZHE
—E—+FXRATNA
Beneficial owner 643,501 23 June 2011 - 18 June 2017 0.06%
ERBEAA “E——¥RAZT=HE
—Z—+tFRATNR
Beneficial owner 643,501 23 June 2012 - 18 June 2017 0.06%
E5BEAA —T-"fRAZt=HEZE
—E—+FXRATNA
Interest of spouse (note) 1,930,502 22 June 2010 - 18 June 2017 0.17%
B e (M aE) “Z-TFRAZTCZHE
—Z—+tFRATN\R
Interest of spouse (note) 1,930,502 23 June 2011 - 18 June 2017 0.17%
BB () —E——%R"AZ+=HEZE
—E—tFXATN\A
Interest of spouse (note) 1,930,502 23 June 2012 - 18 June 2017 0.17%
BB 2 (B et) “E-—FRAZT=HE
—T—+tFX ATNR
7,722,008 0.69%
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Number of Percentage
options/ of the issued
underlying share capital
shares held of the Company
Name of director Capacity FisRRE Exercisable period ERABERT
EEpz 5 HERBHE T RAESH
Mr. Chan Kam Hung Beneficial owner 128,700 22 June 2010 - 18 June 2017 0.01%
BR800 o A EREBA “T-EFRNA-Z+ZRE
—E—tEXATNA
Beneficial owner 128,700 23 June 2011 - 18 June 2017 0.01%
ESBEAA —T——%"A-+=RZE
—E—+tEXATNR
Beneficial owner 128,700 23 June 2012 - 18 June 2017 0.01%
ESBEAA —T-_fR AZ+=HEZE
“E-tEAATNE
386,100 0.03%
Mr. Leung Chong Shun  Beneficial owner 128,700 22 June 2010 - 18 June 2017 0.01%
RElBEAE EaAA “T-FFANA-+ZRE
—T—tERATN\H
Beneficial owner 128,700 23 June 2011 - 18 June 2017 0.01%
EaAA —E——%R"AZ+=RE
—T—tFRATN\R
Beneficial owner 128,700 23 June 2012 - 18 June 2017 0.01%
ExBAA “E-"fRNAZT=HE
—E-tEXATNR
386,100 0.03%
Mr.Yan Qi Ping Beneficial owner 128,700 8 June 2011 - 7 June 2018 0.01%
BRTEE ERBEAA —E-——FXANEE
—E-NFRAtH
Beneficial owner 128,700 8 June 2012 - 7 June 2018 0.01%
ExBEAA —E-ZFXANBE
—E-NFRAtH
Beneficial owner 128,700 8 June 2013 - 7 June 2018 0.01%
ExBEAA “E-ZFRXANEE
—E-NFRAtH
386,100 0.03%

Note:  Mr. Chun Chi Wai and Ms. Lai Wun Yin are husband and wife and

therefore are deemed to be interested in the options held by each

st ZERELERRBELZTAREH
- BUREAREY TS ERE
other. HIRERS o
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(i) Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of associated

corporation of the Company:

ARERBOEE RN RAEBRONER

Percentage
of the issued

Number of share capital

Name of issued ordinary of the associated
associated shares held corporation
Name of director Capacity corporation FifseET R EE S #T
EEnE 565 HEHEE & LiERHE (i EN=F ]
Mr. Chun Chi Wai Beneficial owner (note) Wellrun | 100%
REBKLE ExnEE A (M) it &
Note:  As Wellrun owns more than 50% interest of the Company, Wellrun st - BRNIFEREBEARREBB0%M

is an associated corporation of the Company under the SFO.
Wellrun is also a controlled corporation of Mr. Chun Chi Wai under
the SFO. The entire issued share capital of Wellrun is owned by Mr.
Chun Chi Wai, who is a director of the Company and the sole

director of Wellrun.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors of the Company
nor their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated

corporations as at 31 December 2010.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Other than the interests disclosed above in respect of certain directors
who are also substantial shareholders of the Company, the register of
substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to section
336 of the SFO discloses no person as having a notifiable interest or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as at
31 December 2010.

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in note

38 to the consolidated financial statements.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the option holdings disclosed above, at no time during the
year was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures

of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in
this report and note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, no
contracts of significance, to which the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 10 June 2009
issued in connection with its initial public offerings on the Stock
Exchange, none of the directors hold any interests in any competing
business against the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2010.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has received an annual confirmation from the controlling
shareholders, Mr. Chun Chi Wai and Wellrun, in respect of their
compliance with the non-competition undertaking during the year ended
31 December 2010. The independent non-executive directors have
reviewed the said undertaking and are of the view that Mr. Chun Chi Wai
and Wellrun have complied with the non-competition undertaking during

the year
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected transactions during the year are set out in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements. Certain of those connected
transactions also constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Group within the meaning of Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules. Pursuant
to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors engaged the
auditor of the Company to perform agreed upon procedures in respect
of the certain continuing connected transactions of the Group. The
auditor has reported the factual findings on these procedures to the

board of directors.

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the continuing
connected transactions and the report of the auditor and have confirmed

that the transactions have been entered into by the Group:
(i) in the ordinary and usual course of its business;

(i) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable

than terms available to or from independent third parties; and

(i) in accordance with the terms of agreement governing such
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

shareholders of the Company as a whole.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year save for the placing of 90 million new shares in
December 2010, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

During the vear, in the opinion of the directors, the Company has
followed the principles and complied with all applicable code provisions
under the Code on Corporate Governanace Practices (the “CG Code")
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, save for the deviation from
code provision A.2.1. The Company's corporate governance report for

the year under review is set out in pages 23 to 32 of the annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE OF
THE LISTING RULES

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions of the directors, senior management and relevant employees
(who, because of their office in the Group, are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the Company or
its securities) of the Group (the “Own Code”) on terms no less exacting

than the required standard of dealings set out in the Model Code.

Having made specific enquiry of all directors, all the members of the
board of the directors of the Company have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code and
the Own Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2010. No
incident of non-compliance of the Own Code during the year by the

senior management and relevant employees was noted by the Company.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the three independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive directors are independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
senior management of the Group on the basis of their merit,

qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating

results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted two share option schemes as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees, details of these schemes are set out in

note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
HK$1,000,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares of the Company on a pro rata basis to

existing shareholders of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained a

sufficient public float as at the date of this report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of a significant event occurred after the reporting period are set
out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chun Chi Wai

Chairman

28 March 201 |
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Independent Auditor’s Report

55_1.1‘?%[%#&*

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA METAL
RECYCLING (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Metal
Recycling (Holdings) Limited (the “
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 54 to 189,

Company”) and its subsidiaries

which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 3|
December 2010, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated

Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free

from material misstatement.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |=Pﬁl§ﬁ$’§ﬂ§ (#=h%) ARAF
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2010 and of
the Group'’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2011
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

GEXEWER

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—FF+-A=+—AIFE

54

2010 2009
—E-FF —ZTNEF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt 3E FET TR
Revenue Iy 28 7 22,508,182 9,063,175
Cost of sales i & B AR (21,272,828) (8273.221)
Gross profit EH 1,235,354 789,954
Other income H A 8 65,655 7973
Distribution and selling expenses DI RIHER X (8,597) (6,559)
Administrative expenses THRX (182,832) (83,548)
Other expenses H A F 2 - (13,365)
Net loss on derivative TEer I AERE
financial instruments R (77,534) (72,336)
Finance costs MEKR 9 (95,289) (120,425)
Share of result of an associate i i)k FNIE S 18 (1,534) 1,941
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & BB A Rl s 34 9,278 —
Profit before taxation BR Bt A1 % R 994,501 503,635
Income tax expense P37 10 (52,598) (24,950)
Profit for the year FEREF || 891,903 478,685
Other comprehensive income Hit 2wk
Exchange differences arising on MBGINETPTE £/
translation of foreign operations bE 3 = 2R
- subsidiaries — B RF 48,801 —
- an associate — B E QA 18 1,046 —
Reclassification of other comprehensive U B Fff B 22 7] &) 88 SN 2=
income upon disposal of a subsidiary R HEH B R AEEH
(exchange differences included SEHEMEEEA
in exchange reserve) (BEHZBTAELEE) (307) —
Other comprehensive FRHEHMEEEA
income for the year 49,540 —
Total comprehensive FRE2EBUAAE
income for the year 941,443 478,685

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢l@ﬁl§§$i§ﬂ§ (#=h%) ARAF



2010 2009
ZE-ZF —TTNF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
it & FET FET
Profit for the year attributable to: A N & EHELFRER :
Owners of the Company ZN/NETE 2SN 886,562 478,422
Non-controlling interests R 5,341 263
891,903 478,685
Total comprehensive income UT&EEREFR
for the year attributable to: PHBRALE:
Owners of the Company N/NSIE SN 933,115 478,422
Non-controlling interests FEPE IR HE 2 8,328 263
941,443 478,685
HK cents HK cents
Al B
Earnings per share BREF 14
- basic - &KX 84.61 54.28
- diluted - #F 84.15 54.10
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

GEaMBRAR

At 31 December 2010
R-ZFE-—FF+-A=+—H

2010 2009
—E-FF —ZTNEF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B =E FET TET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE I5 426,817 88,989
Investment properties REME 16 1,638 1,731
Prepaid lease payments - BRNEER-
non-current portion JERNERE 17 194,631 94,529
Interest in an associate P — FRI B & 1N B O R 2 18 96,625 97,113
Deposits paid for acquisition of WENE BEKR
property, plant and equipment BENENES 18,281 55,130
Deposits paid for land use rights tTHEREE MRS 129,072 45,653
867,064 383,145
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 19 1,747,136 727,538
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HAM Y KIE
and deposits & 20 7,347,811 2,524,325
Bills receivable & W Z 15 21 717,160 248,067
Prepaid lease payments - BENHEER—
current portion EVERER > 17 9,733 3,460
Deposit paid to a related party Nr@EATmEe 22 120 115
Derivative financial instruments MTEEBIT A 23 66,745 36,940
Taxation recoverable o] U B 718 3,888 —
Pledged bank deposits BEERRITER 24 1,630,541 210,376
Restricted deposits R & F R 25 251,972 62,284
Bank balances and cash RITEBR RS 25 1,088,536 554,417
12,863,642 4,367,522

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢l@ﬁl§§$i§ﬂ§ (#=h%) ARAF



2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B FET FAET
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables B2 RHEAMERN IR 26 4,171,503 981,796
Bills payable e Z iR 26 1,109,965 —
Amount due to a non-controlling FERT I8 22 A
shareholder of a subsidiary FEFE AR AR R IA 27 1,960 —
Discounted bills IRER 28 320,588 139,810
Derivative financial instruments TEE®MI A 23 134,837 62,144
Bank borrowings AT 29 2,960,962 451,576
Taxation payable JE 1~ 258 18 49,578 25,072
8,749,393 660,398
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 4,114,249 2,707,124
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEAER
CURRENT LIABILITIES nREBEE 4,981,313 3,090,269
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES E(RBEE
Bank borrowings RITERK 29 352,941 —
Other long-term payable H fth £ B & 14 5RIB 31 235 454
353,176 454
NET ASSETS EEFE 4,628,137 3,089,815
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXK#E
Share capital &N 32 114 105
Reserves & 4,556,720 3,009,876
Equity attributable to owners ARAEB A
of the Company G = 4,556,834 3,009,981
Non-controlling interests R R 71,303 79,834
TOTAL EQUITY HRER 4,628,137 3,089,815

The consolidated financial statements on pages 54 to |89 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 201 | and
are signed on its behalf by:

EFZECR-_ZT——HF=A-t/\BH#EY
RETIBENFEAEZF189ENEEUBR
x UTHTIESKRARARE:

DIRECTOR
S

DIRECTOR
S
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GEERZHR

For the year ended 3| December 2010

#

P CE-TFEf -FA=+—HIFFEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARREEAES
Share Non-
Share  Share Capital ~ Other Exchange options Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  profits Total interests Total
BRE 2R
Bz RfEE &5RF 2Rk EXRE RH REER A% 8 A
HK$000 HK$000 HK§000 HK$O000 HKFO00 HK$000 HK$O000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
TET TAT A TAr TAT TAn Thr TErn TEr TER
At | January 2009 “ZENE-A-H — 234000 161370 — 36317 — 399867 831554 64798 896352
Profit and total comprehensive  EE &5 R 2 E
income for the year g ke = = = = = —  47842) 478402 263 478,685
Capitalisation issue BRLES 70 (70) = = - - = = = =
lssue of new shares TR 351787065 — — - - — 1,787,100 — 1,787,100
Cost of issue of new shares  EATHTIRAK A& —  (102215) = = = = — (102215) — (102215)
Recognition of equity-settled ﬁ@w NEREE
share-based payments AR Sﬂm - . . . — 1510 — 1500 — 150
Capital contribution from non-  —FMB A
controlling shareholders JERER
of subsidiaries RRHLE = - - — — — - — 4B 4B
At 31 December 2009 RZEZNE 105 1918780 161,370 — 36317 15120 878289 3009981 79,834 3089815
t+-A=1+-H
Profit for the year FEREF - - - - - — 886562 886562 5341 891903
Exchange differences arising on  BE BN FIEE
translation of foreign operations K[ }. % %,E
- subsidiaries —HEAH - - - — 45814 - — 814 297 48801
- an associate —BEN T - — — — 104 - — 104 — 104
Redlassification of other RHERBARE
comprehensive income upon ~~ E 4T ‘%EEMMJ\
disposal of a subsidiary = = = = (307) = - (307) - (307)
Other comprehensive income ~ EM2EMA — — — — 46553 — — 46553 2987 49,540
Total comprehensive income ~ EE2ENABE
for the year — — — — 46553 — 886562 933115 8328 941443
Issue of new shares Bk 9 706491 = = = = — 706500 — 706,500
Cost of issue of new shares  EATHTIRAK A —  (I5.126) = = = = —  (15126) —  (15126)
Recognition of equity-settled BRI ERELE
share-based payments W% 5 - . . . — 76l — W76l — 3476l
Exercise of share options TRERE — 16000 = — —  (4218) — 7 — 178
Acquisition of a subsidiary hE—-ANEAT
(note 33) (Ri5E33) — — — - - - . . 807 807
Acquisition of additional WENRER RN
interest in a subsidiary EMER - - - (379) 1,600 - — Il (1218)  (109sl)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEMBAR
(note 34) (Ri5E34) — — — - - - = —  (554)  (5M)
Capital contribution froma ~~ —FEHEAT
non-controlling shareholder ~ FEEfR
of a subsidiary REBLE = - - - - - — = 40 40
Dividend recognised BERADRLIRE
as distribution (note 13) (HzE13) — — — — — — (125400) (125400) —  (125400)
At3l December 2010  R=Z-%f
tZA=1-H 114 2,626,145 161,370 (379) 84470 45,663 1,639,451 4,556,834 71,303 4,628,137

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |=Pﬁl§ﬁ$i§ﬂ§ (#=h%) ARAF



The capital reserve of the Group represents the aggregate of:

(i) the reserve of HK$120,811,000 arising on the acquisition of the
remaining 48% equity interest in a subsidiary of the Company, Asia
Steel (Holdings) Limited, from a non-controlling shareholder by Mr.
Chun Chi Wai (“Mr. Chun"), the founder shareholder of the
Company in June 2007 and representing the unaudited consolidated
net assets value of Asia Steel (Holdings) Limited attributable to the
non-controlling shareholder as at 30 June 2007 reclassified from non-

controlling interests as deemed contribution by Mr. Chun; and

(i) the difference between the nominal value of the aggregate share
capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company upon the group
reorganisation in 2006 and the nominal value of the Company's
shares issued in exchange of HK$40,559,000.

In December 2010, the Group acquired additional interest of 9.615% in a
subsidiary, namely Tianjin Yatong Steel Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin Yatong”) at a
consideration of HK$10,961,000. After this transaction, Tianjin Yatong
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The difference between
the consideration and the carrying amount of non-controlling interests,
amounting to HK$ 1,221,000, was recognised as an equity transaction in

other reserve and exchange reserve.

AEENEREETIETIIMEAZEM :

(i)

(ii)

RZZBZELEXRA  KRAEIBBRER
BEEE (TREE]) MIEERBR R YE
DM SR B R A E 88 T48%MR #

EEMEEX120,811,0008 7T @ HHER

EERBRER-_ZTLtEA=THE

B FERERENGEARIEREE

HEHEMBEERER AR REEZ

RAEBEFE X

RARRZEE A NFETEEEMERBAH
EAMBARRANBENEERRA A
BEREDZERAMEBETHKRMEE
40,559,000/ TR = 58 ©

A\

RIZB-ZF+ - AEEKBHEAQA
RETMMHABR AR ([REEH])9.615%
HoMER - E/R10,961,0008 T ° R H

&

REGHRBAEEZEMBRR - K
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GeBeRE

For the year ended 3| December 2010

BE-F-FF1-A=+—AIEE

2010 2009
—E2-2F —TTNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Profit before taxation BR %% Al 4 Al 944,501 503,635
Adjustments for: KELEE
Release of prepaid BT RE R
lease payments 6,518 3,460
Depreciation of property, ME - BE R
plant and equipment RETE 25,153 13,641
Depreciation of REMEFRE
investment properties 38 39
Finance costs BERAK 95,289 120,425
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & I8 2 B s (9,278) —
Gain on disposal of investment HEREWE
property and RFENEEK
prepaid lease payment (198) —
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HENE  BE
plant and equipment Kkt (e B8 (508) 63
Interest income ) B A (18,163) (3.276)
Net loss on derivative eI AER
financial instruments Pk 77,534 72,336
Share-based payment expenses PARR 9 15V SR 2 34,761 15,120
Share of result of an associate il il k- FNIE S 1,534 (1,941)
Operating cash flows before LEESEBAN
movements in working capital ReBERE 1,157,181 723,502
Increase in inventories FEEM (1,024,807) (470,002)
Increase in trade and other B 5 RHE fth R IE
receivables and deposits RiR&Em (4,838,092) (1,688,752)
(Increase) decrease in bills receivable  JE U Z# (3% 1) &l > (469,093) 56,534
Net movement in derivative fTEERIA
financial instruments SHFER (34,646) (45,813)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K& H i & < R IE 1L hN 3,193,189 929,238
Increase in bills payable JEE - 2 45 32 A 1,109,965 —
Cash used in operations REEBHANRE (906,303) (495,293)

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢l@ﬁl§§$i§ﬂ§ (#=h%) ARAF



2010 2009

—2-2F —TThF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$:000
L FET FHET
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid ENPECEMEN (31,980) (8,247)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax refunded  REF B EMEH - 1,564
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded REBBNGH —_ 618
NET CASH USED IN ReEXBBAN
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BeFE (938,283) (501,358)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZRD
Increase in pledged bank deposits BEERRITETIEM (1,420,165) (137,921)
Cash outflow on acquisition s 5 BT 8 A =)
of a subsidiary Remt 33 (251,261) —
Increase in restricted deposits X BR i 17 5K 38 (189,688) (58,653)
Deposits paid for land use rights tERED MRS (120,357) (33,153)
Purchase of property, WEME  BEKR
plant and equipment B (95,750) (19,655)
Acquisition of land use rights o B + 3 (50 PR 4 (30,390) —
Deposits paid for acquisition of B BE KR
property, plant and equipment MENES (16,088) (40,883)
Interest received B F B 18,163 3,276
Net cash inflow on disposal HEME QT
of a subsidiary ReEmAER 34 12,885 —
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEWE  HER
plant and equipment REATE I 1,023 556
Proceeds on disposal of investment HEREMEMGEHIE
property and prepaid lease payment REMNHER 650 —
Capital injection to an associate mEEE AREE - (28,126)
Repayment from a —BERRRER
controlling shareholder — 771
Repayment from an associate — M & R AR R - 54
NET CASH USED IN REZHHAN
INVESTING ACTIVITIES ReFE (2,090,978) (313,734)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

For the year ended 3| December 2010

BE-F-FFI-A=+—AILEE

2010 2009
—E-FF —ZTNEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
New bank borrowings raised HMESHNRITER 4,668,693 722,234
Proceeds from issue of new shares BITE R A P15 BB 706,500 1,787,100
Advance from a director EERN 234,000 —
Increase (decrease) in discounted bills B 3R 32 #5 3% 1 (R 4>) 180,778 (164,791)
Proceeds from exercise of share options 1T i i AX #& FT 1% 5K 18 11,782 —
Advance from (repayment to) i 8 & R SE R AR
non-controlling shareholders P 5 2 3K () HL 22 3K
of subsidiaries 1,960 (1,286)
Capital contribution from non-controlling 2K B K & 2 7]
shareholders of subsidiaries FEBRBREEE 40 14,773
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITER (1,790,502) (410,231)
Repayment to a director MEFER (234,000) (2219)
Dividend paid ENRE (125,400) —
Interest paid A E (95,289) (35934)
Share issue costs paid ENRHOEBITHAE (15,126) (102,215)
Redemption of secured BOEMEER
guaranteed senior notes BEER - (781,215)
NET CASH FROM MEETHELN
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ReFHE 3,543,436 1,026,216
NET INCREASE IN CASH RERBEEEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BnFEE 514,175 201,124
CASH AND CASH FORER
EQUIVALENTS AT REEEY
BEGINNING OF THEYEAR 554,417 343,293
EFFECT OF FOREIGN SEERSBNTE
EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 19,944 —
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS X RERREEEY -
AT END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash ~ BIiR1T &t R & 1,088,536 554,417

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢l§]ﬁl§§$i§iﬁ (#=h%) ARAF



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEaMBHRRME

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—FTF+-_A=+—HULFE

. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is public limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 22 June 2009. The immediate
and ultimate holding company is Wellrun Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and wholly-owned by Mr.
Chun Chi Wai ("Mr. Chun"), the founder shareholder of the
Company. The addresses of the registered office and the principal
place of business of the Company are Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY -1 111, Cayman Islands and
Suite 4803, Office Tower Convention Plaza, | Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal

activities of its subsidiaries and an associate are set out in note 41.

The functional currency of the Company is United States dollar. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar
for the convenience of the shareholders as the Company is listed in

Hong Kong.

—mEH

ARAEFREHSTMAIRERA
Al e RRRIRMHR_EENLFAA=-+
“HRREABME T ZABRA A ([H
RFFl) £ e RRBIHEE REEER
NARPE B G BB o Bk L Hy 4F 38
BRAR - ZRARBARE ) BIPHRE
REBREE([REE])ZERE - AR
BANEMBEERFELEMHEDAA
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands & & B BB EE 157 E
BESMAANZ4803E -
ARAR—HREZERRT  ENER
Ak —EHERARNEZEBE AN
41

ARANNEERERET - BRALD A
REBLT  RTHERRHE K5
MBHREABTES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. ERHEMREETES
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING MBREERN([FEME

WA )

REAFEE  ARECEATIHELES
AEMAg([EEEFMAE]) B

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”’)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised standards and interpretations issued by the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™).

AIRBERTEA R EE

HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Group Cash-settled Share-based ERAMBHREE KEURESE
Payment Transactions A% 25% B AR D
CHEN, RR 5
HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) Business Combinations BERMB®RE EYA
EREIR (=T
ZNEFELER])
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) Consolidated and Separate BB ER Ra kB
Financial Statements 275 (2% 5wk
TNEFLEE])
HKAS 39 (Amendments) Eligible Hedged Items B G ER AERYH
£39% (BFTA) A
HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued BERMBRE —TThE
in 2009 R/ (BRI AK) Bz B
BismE
% Rl By B
HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRS 5 as part BERMBRE BERMBHE

of Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2008

) (15 T )

R F 65K
BETA B

—ETNF
Bz EE
B %
Al B ) —
i
HK(IFRIC) - Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets B (BB 5% MR AN
to Owners BEEARE FREEE
£88) -
REE TR
HK - Int 5 Presentation of Financial BEEREFELNR /KL
Statements - Classification by —fERAYH
the Borrower of a Term Loan BE AR
that Contains a Repayment EREE G
on Demand Clause T EHE
i 0paR

Except as described below, the adoption of the new and revised
standards and interpretations in the current year has had no material
effect on the amounts reported in these consolidated financial
statements and/or disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢§EEE’£;‘L§ (12h%) ARAF
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. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) “Consolidated and Separate

Financial Statements”

The application of HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) has resulted in
changes in the Group's accounting policies for changes in ownership
interests in subsidiaries of the Group.

Specifically, the revised standard has affected the Group's accounting
policies regarding changes in the Group’s ownership interests in its
subsidiaries that do not result in loss of control. In prior years, in the
absence of specific requirements in HKFRSs, goodwill or bargain
purchase gain, as appropriate, arising from increases in interests in
existing subsidiaries was calculated as the difference between the
cost of additional interest acquired and the increase in the Group's
share of the carrying amount of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities; for decreases in interests in existing subsidiaries
that did not involve a loss of control, the difference between the
consideration received and the adjustment to the non-controlling
interests was recognised in profit or loss. Under HKAS 27 (as revised
in 2008), all such increases or deceases are dealt with in equity, with

no impact on goodwill or profit or loss.

When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction, event
or other circumstance, the revised standard requires the Group to
derecognise all assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at their
carrying amounts and to recognise the fair value of the consideration
received. Any retained interest in the former subsidiary is recognised
at its fair value at the date control is lost. The resulting difference is

recognised as a gain or loss in profit or loss.

These changes have been applied prospectively from | January 2010

in accordance with the relevant transitional provisions.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) “Consolidated and Separate

Financial Statements” (Continued)

The application of the revised standard has affected the accounting
for the Group'’s acquisition of additional interest in Tianjin Yatong
Steel Co, Ltd. ("Tianjin Tatong”) in the current year. The change in
policy has resulted in the difference of HK$1,221,000 between the
consideration payable of HK$10,961,000 and the non-controlling
interests derecognised of HK$12,182,000 being derecognised
directly in equity, instead of in profit or loss. Therefore, the change in
accounting policy has resulted in a decrease in the profit for the year
of HK$1,221,000. At the end of the reporting period, the cash
consideration payable has been included in other payables as set out
in note 26.

Amendments to HKAS 17 “Leases”

As part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009, HKAS 17
“Leases” has been amended in relation to the classification of
leasehold land. Before the amendments to HKAS 17, the Group was
required to classify leasehold land as operating leases and to present
leasehold land as prepaid lease payments in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The amendments to HKAS 17 have
removed such a requirement. The amendments require that the
classification of leasehold land should be based on the general
principles set out in HKAS 17, that is, whether or not substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of a leased asset have

been transferred to the lessee.

In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in the
amendments to HKAS 17, the Group reassessed the classification of
unexpired leasehold land as at | January 2010 based on information
that existed at the inception of the leases and concluded that the
adoption of amendments to HKAS 17 has had no material effect on
the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements

and/or disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

The effects of the above changes in accounting policies on the

Group's basic and diluted earnings per share for the current year are

as follows:

Impact on basic and diluted earnings per share
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Figures before adjustment HEAET 84.73 84.27
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interest in a subsidiary M 2 A HY B (0.12) (0.12)
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised standards and interpretations issued but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards and interpretations that have been issued but are not yet

effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

HKFRS 9
HKAS 12 (Amendments)

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009)

HKAS 32 (Amendments)
HK(IFRIC) - Int 14
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) - Int 19

January 2011, as appropriate.

Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2010'

Disclosures - Transfers of
Financial Assets?

Financial Instruments®

Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets*

Related Party Disclosures®

Classification of Rights Issues®
Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement®

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities
with Equity Instruments’

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | July 2010 or |

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | July 201 1.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2013.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2012.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 201 I.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | February 2010.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | July 2010.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
these new and revised standards and interpretations will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the

Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so

as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of

disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those

used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are

eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately

from the Group's equity therein.

3. EXERTBK

BAMBRRERETEEHAMLER
MzEERBRELNRE - o &
ARUMBBRBEBIMES EWHAR
BEERAGIRENERRESR -

BEMBRRCRELKAEERE -
KETERIAERAIAEFTERRIN (I
TXEFEREML) - ERLAA—RER
REemmAR T ZRERAFE-

ETRERBRAIMT -

GEREEE

BEPBRREBARARARA A
HEREMBRAR) ORBERR - WA
DRIBEEHERANMHREEBERMA
WEXBHERN  ARSHZERESR
PRI

REAFERBLHENHBARES -
BRELMABERBERELENAH
E@RBERME) FAFE2ERER -

RUBEEARHED
EEGHBRARAEE
RRAE—H-

AR E®E
HAt K 8 R R

FESBARRIRRS  #H kKXY
RiRA KB HH

Ik

BRI ER R EAE
s

)

HiE

Eiﬁl Annual Report 2010

69



70

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GaMBRRME

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-controlling

interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. Prior to | January 2010, losses applicable to the non-
controlling interests in excess of the non-controlling interests in the
subsidiary's equity were allocated against the interests of the Group
except to the extent that the non-controlling interests had a binding
obligation and were able to make an additional investment to cover
the losses.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing

subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing subsidiaries on or
after | January 2010

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests. Where certain assets of the subsidiary are
measured at revalued amounts or fair values and the related
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly
to retained earnings). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an

associate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing

subsidiaries (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries prior
to | January 2010

Goodwill or bargain purchase gain, as appropriate, arising from
increases in interests in existing subsidiaries was calculated as the
difference between the cost of additional interest acquired and the
increase in the Group's share of the carrying amount of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. For decreases in
interests in subsidiaries, regardless of whether the disposals would
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries, the
difference between the consideration received and the adjustment
to the non-controlling interests was recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations

Business combinations that took place prior to | January 2010

Acquisition of businesses was accounted for using the purchase method.
The cost of the acquisition was measured at the aggregate of the fair
values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities that met the relevant conditions for recognition
were generally recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised as an asset and initially
measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the acquisition over
the Group's interest in the recognised amounts of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after assessment, the
Group's interest in the recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeded the cost of the
acquisition, the excess was recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The minority interest in the acquiree was initially measured at the
minority interest's proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold in
the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related

taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following
conditions are satisfied:

* the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and

rewards of ownership of the goods;

+ the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective

control over the goods sold;
* the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

* it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the

transaction will flow to the Group; and

* the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the

transaction can be measured reliably.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Specifically, revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the goods

are delivered and title has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income from a
financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's

net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to

the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably).

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised

as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals arising
under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of

rental expense on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each
element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that
both elements are operating leases, in which case the entire lease is
classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease
payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and

building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is released for as an operating
lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is released over the lease term on
a straight-line basis. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property,

plant and equipment.
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. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not

control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of the associate are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investment
in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. When the Group's share of losses of an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations

or made payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of an associate
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which

is included within the carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after

reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group's investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable

amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in
the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent of

interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Additional investment in an associate

On additional investment in an associate, goodwill was calculated as
the difference between the cost of additional interest acquired and
the increase in the Group’s share of net assets. If the increase in the
Group’s share of net assets exceeds the cost of the additional

interest, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress) are stated at cost less subsequent

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
less their estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes (i.e. construction in progress) are carried at
cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property

assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the

carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GaMBRRME

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Buildings under development for future owner-occupied

purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for production or
for administrative purposes, the amount of prepaid lease payments
released during the construction period is included as part of costs
of buildings under construction. Buildings under construction are
carried at cost, less any identified impairment losses. Depreciation of
buildings commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they
are in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable

of operating in the manner intended by management).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for

capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account of their estimated residual value, using the straight-line
method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in

which the item is derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment losses on assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. If the
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income

immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GaMBRRME

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit

or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollar) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated at
the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive

income and accumulated in equity (the exchange reserve).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition,
in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit

or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is

deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GaMBRRME

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that

affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are

expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or

part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2010
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or

financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified as loans and receivables

and derivative financial instruments.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest
income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt

instruments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, bills receivable, deposit paid to a related
party, pledged bank deposits, restricted deposits and bank balances
and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy

on impairment of financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of the reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the

estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.
Objective evidence of impairment could include:

+ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

* breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest

and principal payments; or

* it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy

or financial re-organisation; or

+ the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.
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For the year ended 3| December 2010
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated

future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the

impairment loss directly for all financial assets.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment losses were recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the
extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost

would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability

and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual

interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including
all fees paid or received that form an integral part of effective
interest rate, transaction cost and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition. Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest

basis.

Financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities other than derivative financial
instruments (including trade and other payables, bills payable, amount
due to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary, discounted bills,
bank borrowings and other long-term payable) are subsequently

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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For the year ended 3| December 2010
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Transaction costs of equity transactions

The transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a
deduction from equity (net of any related income tax benefit) to the
extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity
transaction that otherwise would have been avoided. The costs of an

equity transaction that is abandoned are recognised as an expense.

Transaction costs related jointly to concurrent offering of some
shares and listing of shares are allocated using a basis of allocation
that is rational and consistent with other similar transactions.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting

gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards

of ownership of the financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions in respect of

share options granted to directors and employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding

increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the estimates during the vesting period, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment

to share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to

retained profits.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes/the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged as an expense when

employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the

next financial year.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group
takes into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December
2010, the carrying amount of trade receivables of the Group was
HK$6,303,704,000 (2009: HK$2,301,572,000).

Allowance for inventories

Inventories of the Group represent ferrous and non-ferrous metals
and are stated at the lower of cost and their net realisable values.
The Group regularly reviews its inventory level to prevent excessive
inventories from being accumulated. When the Group identifies
items of inventories which have a market price that is lower than its
carrying amount, the Group estimates the amount of write-down of
inventories as allowance for inventories. Though the Group is
currently using future contracts to minimise the risk arising from
changes in market price of non-ferrous metals, the effectiveness of
the hedges cannot be guaranteed at all times and the hedges cannot
be extended to ferrous metals. If the market price of metals
fluctuates and becomes lower than the corresponding carrying
amount subsequently, an additional allowance may be required. As at
31 December, the carrying amount of inventories of the Group
carried at cost was HK$1,747,136,000 (2009: HK$727,538,000).
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Income taxes

The Group is currently enjoying a low effective tax rate mainly as a
result of the tax exemption on the profits generated in its Macau
subsidiary which is an entity established under the Macau
Commercial Offshore Company regulation. Under the current Macau
tax legislation, such entity would be exempt from Macau
Complementary Tax. Qualification of an entity under the Macau
Commercial Offshore Company regulation would be subject to
compliance with certain requirements. The directors of the Company
are of the view that the Macau subsidiary would continue to comply
with the requirements and qualify as a Macau Commercial Offshore

Company.

As some selling activities of the Macau subsidiary have been carried
out in jurisdictions outside Macau, the extent of the selling activities
would be a factor to be considered as to whether the Macau
subsidiary is carrying on metal trading business in the relevant
jurisdiction through a permanent establishment in that jurisdiction, in

which case additional tax provision may be required.

The directors of the Company are of the view that the extent of
selling activities outside Macau would not establish a permanent

establishment in any other jurisdictions outside Macau.
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5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from

prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the payables and borrowings disclosed in notes 26, 28, 29
and 31, net of cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 25, and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued

share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure regularly.
As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associate with each class of the capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new shares issues

as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

. BXERER

AEEERHEN  URBRRASEES
AREREYRREBRLCES R ER
ERRBERTARADR - AEBEHE
ERBENEFE B -

AEENEARBERERFE (BN
7126 - 28 - 29K MW E R E T RERE
7)o MHEHRBENRERASEENF
B URAATHEARGESZ (BREE
BIOBRA  HHERREEF) o

ARREESTHEMNEARE - BH
B EFZREANANRESHER
FRANER ERNEZSNHEER &
SEREBXNRE  BITHRARE
THESIBERRAEE FEEERE
KR -

. &RTH

(a) &R IESE

2010 2009
—E2-EF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$:000
FE T FHET
Financial assets CRMEE
Loans and receivables ER K EKFKIE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (AREReRREEED) 10,015,381 3,378,607
Derivative financial instruments THEEBMITA 66,745 36,940
Financial liabilities cHaE
Amortised cost B $H K AR 8,655,458 1,483,438
Derivative financial instruments fTEeRIT A 134,837 62,144
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, bills receivable, deposit paid to a related party,
derivative financial instruments, pledged bank deposits, restricted
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, bills
payable, amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary, discounted bills, bank borrowings and other long-
term payable. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with certain of these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2010, the Group's maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debt and bill at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly

reduced.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

6. €T H #

(b) EMEREZEERERE (&)

(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 35.6% (2009:
39.0%) of the total trade and bills receivables as at 3|
December 2010 was due from the Group's largest debtor and
97.3% (2009: 89.2%) of the total trade and bills receivables as at
31 December 2010 was due from the five largest debtors. The
directors of the Company believe that the risk will be gradually
reduced as the Group’s customer base has been diversified and

revenue has become less concentrated during the year.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the People’'s Republic of China (“PRC"),
which accounted for over 90% (2009: 90%) of the total trade

and bills receivables at the end of the reporting period.

Other than as disclosed above, the Group has no other
significant concentration of credit risk with exposure spread

over a number of counterparties.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the

counterparties are banks or brokers with good reputation.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group's operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management
monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and other sources

of funding and considers the risk is minimal at this stage.

The Group relies on funds raised from the initial public offerings
in June 2009, new shares placement in December 2010, bills
payable and bank borrowings as significant sources of liquidity.
Details of these are set out in notes 32(ii and iii), 32 (iv), 26 and
29 respectively.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed

repayment dates.

6. €T H #»
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

6. €T H #

(b) EMEREZEERERE (&)

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.To the
extent that interest flows are variable rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting

period.

In addition, the following tables detail the Group's liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual net cash
outflows on derivative instruments that settle on a net basis.
When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed
has been determined by reference to the projected interest
rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of the
reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s derivative
financial instruments are prepared based on the contractual
maturities as the management considers that the contractual
maturities are essential for an understanding of the timing of the

cash flows of derivatives.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. BT H »

(b) £REIRETEEERKE (£)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBELRER (&)
Liquidity tables REE T &
Carrying
amount
Weighted  Less than at
average 3 months Total  31.12.2010
effective or on undiscounted R
interest rate demand 3.6 6 months Over cashflows =Z-%F
nEY¥H  HRIEA months  to | year lyear AEHES +-A=1-H
BRAZ AEER 3Z6fF  6AAZIE BB REAR MEREE
% HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
% TEx TEx T TEx FEx FEx
2010 “E-%%
Non-derivative FTEeRER
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables & 5 R £ BT 358 — 3,908,807 - - — 3,908,807 3,908,807
Bills payable EREE - 460,500 649,465 - - 1,109,965 1,109,965
Amount due to BN -REHE
a non-controlling NG
shareholder REHE
of a subsidiary - 1,960 - - - 1,960 1,960
Discounted bills HRZE - 265,294 55,294 - - 320,588 320,588
Bank borrowings HBIER
- fixed-rate &8 3.70 680,243 900,369 507,460 — 1,088,072 2,056,445
- variable-rate 1) 4.28 483,464 199,159 253,651 385,758 1,322,032 1,257,458
Other long-term payable  E i & SR 38 - - - - 235 235 235
5,800,268 1,804,287 161,111 385,993 8,751,659 8,655,458
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

6. €T H #

(b) EMEREZEERERE (&)

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBELER (&)
Liquidity tables (Continued) RBEE K (&)
Carrying
amount
Weighted  Less than at
average 3 months Total  31.12.2010
effective or on undiscounted i
interest rate demand 3-6 6 months Over cashflows Z=—Z-Z&
mETS SRR months  to | year lyear KEEEE +-A=1-8
ERA=Z HEER 3Z6fif  6EAZIE BB1E RELE WEREE
% HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
% TR FiEx FiEx TET TER TET
Derivatives - net REELENNTE
settlement I8
Future contracts on BEeBHE
non-ferrous metals &4 - 100,464 14,354 5,689 - 120,507 120,507
Foreign currency NERHAH
forward contracts - 5,682 1,736 912 - 14,330 14,330
106,146 22,090 6,601 - 134,837 134,837
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. BT H »

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) £REIREEBERBRK (&)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBELRER (&)
Liquidity tables (Continued) HBEE K (&)
Carrying
amount
Weighted Less than at
average 3 months Total 31122009
effective oron undiscounted S
interest rate demand 3-6 6 months Over ashfows —EENE
nETH SR3fEA months to | year lyear KHRERE TZA=1-H

B A= JEEX IB6A  GEAZIF g ehks REBR HEAE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$:000 HK$:000
% TET TEL TEL TEL TET TET

2009 ZEENE
Non-derivative FTESRER

financial liabilities

Trade and BHRAMERTE
other payables — 891,598 — — — 891,598 891,598
Discounted bills BRE — 40,871 31,225 67,714 — 139810 139810
Bank borrowings HBIER
- fixed-rate &8 405 173243 8,695 21319 — 403,257 392,734
- variable-rate %8 314 34038 2,398 23487 — 59923 58,842
Other long-term Bt R
payable BHEE - - - - 454 54 454
1,139,750 42318 312,520 454 1,495,042 1,483,438
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. BT H »
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) £REIREEBERBRK (&)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBELER (&)
Liquidity tables (Continued) LR (&)
Carrying
amount
Weighted Less than at
average 3 months Total 31122009
effective oron undiscounted R
interest rate demand 3-6 6 months Over ashfows —EENE
nETH SRR3R months to | year lyer AEHERE TZA=1-H

BRA= JEEX 3Z6fA  GEAZIF BRI REBE HEAE
% HK$000 HK$/000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$:000
% TETL TEL TEL TET TETL TET

Derivatives - net REELEEN
settlement fIETE
Future contracts on AESBHEERN

non-ferrous metals — 58,055 3,193 — — 61,248 61,248
Foreign currency NERSRH
forward contracts — — — 843 — 843 843
Interest rate swap &z 4 - - - 53 - 53 53
58,055 3,193 896 — 62,144 62,144
The amounts included above for variable interest rate fin) )% B) | = & F) iy EL 3R 5 HA R AT S
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to EOMEMFERR - EXFH5IZE
change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those MESMBEZFPN XTI AR
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the FEEE) o

reporting period.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. BT H »

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) £REIREEBERBRK (&)

(Continued)
Market risk ™% AR
(i) Currency risk () E®RERK

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency RB|EBMR - REBIAINEE

denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at ENEBEEREREENER

the reporting date are as follows: EENT :

Liabilities Assets
& BE
2010 2009 2010 2009

—E-2Ff _—TTNF ZB-TF _—TTNF
HK$’000 HK$:000 HK$°000 HK$:000

FET FE T FET FE T

United States dollar ETT

("USD") (IExl) 1,133,718 164,746 146,622 22,457
Hong Kong dollar BT

("HKD") ([%&7]) 17,200 21917 37,208 49,783
Renminbi AR

("RMB") (TAR%]) - — 6,311 88,651
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency AEBEB AW EINE E K
hedging policy. However, management closely monitors Ro-NM EEEERYNEE
foreign exchange exposure and will use foreign currency HNEE [ B 3 ER A AN R R
forward contracts to hedge any significant foreign currency B RE A B RIMNE R B o
exposure.
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BHE

SE-FFI-ASt—ALFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

()

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currencies of
USD, RMB and HKD when such currencies are different
from the functional currencies of the relevant group

entities.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
appreciation and depreciation in the above foreign
currencies against the functional currency of the
corresponding group entity, except for HKD against USD
since HKD is pegged to USD. 5% is the sensitivity rate used
which represents management’'s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and derivative financial
instruments and adjusts their translation at the year end for
a 5% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes mainly trade receivables, bills receivable,
derivative financial instruments, bank balances, trade
payables, discounted bills and bank borrowings. A positive/
negative number below indicates a decrease/an increase in
post-tax profit where the USD, RMB and HKD strengthen
5% against the functional currency of the corresponding
group entity. For a 5% weakening of the above foreign
currency against the functional currency of the
corresponding group entity, there would be an equal and

opposite impact.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. BT H »

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)

miSEkR (&)

iy BE®ER (&)

(b) £REIRETEEERKE (£)

Monetary assets and liabilities ERBEERERE
2010 2009
—2-2F —TTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Decrease (increase) in B Bt 18 )55 ARl
post-tax profit: (&)
USD against RMB ETRARE 31,453 5,175
RMB against USD AREHZET (316) (4,433)
HKD against RMB ATEARE 645 822
31,782 1,564
Derivative financial instruments TEERIA
2010 2009
—2-2F —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$:000
FET FHET
Foreign currency forward contracts ~ SMNE & Hi & 47
to sell RMB and buy USD EHARBREAZT 40,551 9,139
Foreign currency forward contracts ~ SMNE & Hi & 47
to buy RMB and sell USD BEAARBRELET (23,288) —
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank borrowings (see note 29 for
details) and bank deposits. The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
borrowings (see note 29 for details of these borrowings),
bank deposits and amounts payable to brokers. It is the
Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of

interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group's cash flow interest rate risk
is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of the People’s
Bank of China (“PBOC") Base Lending Rate and London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR") arising from the Group's

RMB and USD variable-rate borrowings, respectively.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢§EEE’£;‘L§ (12h%) ARAF
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. BT H »

(b) £REIRETEEERKE (£)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) s (&)

(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued) (i) FE@EbR (&)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank
borrowings only at the end of the reporting period as the
directors consider the exposure on bank deposits and
amounts payable to brokers is not significant and is short
term in nature. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point
increase or decrease is used which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change

in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group's post-tax
profit for the year ended 3| December 2010 would
decrease/increase by HK$5,042,000 (2009: HK$262,000).

No sensitivity analysis has been prepared for variable-rate
bank deposits as the directors of the Company consider the

exposure is limited.

BRI

TX®GREE DT HERER
SHRFERTERON XA
BMETE  ARESRA/RT
73R B A AR A2 IR RO L e K
BYTEXR BMEREH -
AN DBRRNBERRKEE
MAETEREBEFEANLE
EEMMEL - BT A EIS0E B K
BEIRRAEEBENEA
BA L # BT o

i | = _EF /#5052 m AT
BEMAUERZ#HIZIE - Al
REEHZE-_Z—ZF+A
=S+ HLEFENRBRE G
#® 4 /% h1 5,042,000 7T
(ZZFNFE : 262,000 ) °

ARARAEZERAEAAR
AR WA EFTBRITER
ETHREDN
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For the year ended 3| December 2010

BHE

SE-FFI-ASt—ALFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk through its future
contracts on non-ferrous metals at the end of the reporting
period. Management manages this exposure by a team of
specialists, who closely monitors the future markets and the
position of the Group and will take necessary action to
minimise the risk to the Group.The Group’s other price risk
is mainly concentrated on future prices quoted in the

relevant exchanges.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to other price risk of future contracts on non-
ferrous metals at the end of the reporting period. A 5%
increase or decrease is used which represents management'’s

assessment of the reasonably possible change.

If the quoted prices of the future contracts had been 5%
higher/lower as a result of the changes in the relevant
market commodity prices, post-tax profit for the year
ended 3| December 2010 would decrease/increase by
HK$67,100,000 (2009: HK$15,806,000). The sensitivities are
based on the assumption that the quoted price of the
future contract in the denominated currency increases/

decreases by 5% with all other variables held constant.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent price risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year
Furthermore, the relationship between currencies and
commodity prices is interdependent, changes in exchange rates
can influence commodity prices and vice versa. For the purpose

of the above sensitivity analysis, exchange fluctuation is ignored.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. BT H »

(c) Fair value (c) aftfE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are TRHEEREREBBNARENER

determined as follows: ATARERE -

*+ the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities o ABEBREFRRRGH YRR
(including future contracts on non-ferrous metals) with REBRSRBUETSEEN
standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid TREERCHARE (BRAR
markets are determined with reference to quoted market TBHEENNAAENHZ
bid prices and ask prices respectively; EMBmEEREREREE

F
+ the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities e HihEmAELRSRAR(TE

(excluding derivative financial instruments) is determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based

on discounted cash flow analysis; and

the fair value of derivative financial instruments (other than
future contracts on non-ferrous metals) is calculated using
quoted prices. Where such prices are not available, use is
made of discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable
yield for the duration of the instruments for non-optional

derivatives, and option pricing models for optional

ETESmMITA) E’J’/}ATEJHE
BERBERER
REEEAEE &

TTEemMIA(BEEBHEA
KBRS B A R E R A WIE &
B HMEBEZESZEER 3
FMBETETAMS - BIRE
REERENNEAIARE
MM ER kst 8 - e

derivatives. TETARKAHETERR
A
The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial BEERR GeUBBRRANIZHH

RAFIENEREERSREEN
EEERAAAERE

assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the

consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. BT H »

(c) Fair value (Continued) (c)

Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments
that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,
grouped into Levels | to 2 based on the degree to which the

fair value is observable.

o Level | fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical

assets or liabilities.

* Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level | that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as

prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

2010
—E-2F
Level I Level 2 Total
F-&% F=#® Mgt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTExT FERT THER

Derivative financial #7144 &t

instruments TEA
- assets —&E 58,616 8,129 66,745
_ liabilities —afE (120,507) (14,330) (134,837)

Af{E (&)

RGEEMBRRERER 2D AER

TRENIEREEARENEZ
ST AL  BEBRMEZA
AERENBAE EEFE_E -

F—E AAEFMERAAR
HEEXRENERMSRE

W
| |
8]
>
=
)
il
3t
T+
B
e

B HEEXBEMSER
%%—@WE%@M%E%@
B (MEERE) TEEHAHK
i .

2009
—TENF
Level | Level 2 Total
— FZR BEt

HK$'000 HK$'0000  HK$'000

TET THET TET

36,508 432 36940
(61,248) (896)  (62,144)

There were no transfers between Level | and 2 in the current

and prior years.
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is engaged in the principal business of metal recycling,
involving the recycling of scrap metal into recycled ferrous and non-
ferrous metals, which are the raw materials for a wide range of
metallic end-products. The Group collects scrap steel, scrap copper
and other scrap metals and processes them using advanced
equipment to produce quality recycled scrap metals. From time to
time, the Group also sells scrap metals collected directly to
customers when the quality of such scrap metals meets certain
required standards. The metals can be broadly classified into two

categories:
(i) ferrous metals, namely iron and steel; and
(i) non-ferrous metals, including copper;, aluminium, etc.

The board of directors of the Company, the chief operating decision
maker, regularly reviews revenue analysis by two principal metals
processed/sold by the Group and the Group’s consolidated profit for
the year for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment. As no other discrete financial information is available for
the assessment of different business activities, no segment

information is presented other than entity-wide disclosures.

Entity-wide disclosures

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue by principal

metals for the year:

7.

e &5 B 53 BB &

ASETZSBORES  FREQDRK
MESBNIXNERBERERAES
B(RZBERSBERNEMH) - &
SEDYEN BANEGESE X
MALERBENTLEERERRBER
TB o ARETTENZEELBEE
MEETHERERBRAEFPERLE
MEHESE  SBAD SWME

() REeeE 8kl Rk
(i) ELE  AFEARRSE -

ARRAETELERRAEZEEHNEN
AEEMT /HENMETIEZSBOK
BOMUARARBEFRANESEN - A
ETERDERRRFNME - AR AL AR
15 H A8 L M) 81 75 B BUA T i AR 75
EE) o WK AE B8 AR B LA SN T B
BEO#ER -

BERGNEE

FR - AEERETELES FEHHMK
mHFMT

2010 2009

—E-EF —TTNF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FETL FEL

Ferrous metals 2ETE 5,088,216 1,420,545
Non-ferrous metals BB 17,419,966 7,642,630
22,508,182 9,063,175

Eiﬁl Annual Report 2010



110

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GaMBRRME

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Entity-wide disclosures (Continued)

The Group's non-current assets are located in the places of domicile
of the relevant group entities, namely the PRC, Macau and Hong
Kong. As at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009, substantially

all of the Group'’s non-current assets are located in the PRC.

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue by places of

domicile and other places for the year:

B RSEBER @)

BRGNS (8)
AEBEFRDEEAUNEASEER
FreEs - BB RFIREE - R-F
—EE+_A=T-HRZZETAFT
“RA=1+—8 XEENKBAER
BEAURTHE -

FAARERMEREEMHEE S
ST

2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Place of domicile of relevant group entities BB S B BB
—The PRC — 11,644,719 2,586,242
— Hong Kong —-&Bk 1,962 —

Other places H fth 3 |2

—The PRC — 10,263,963 5,854,144
— Hong Kong —-&% 196,251 572,653
— Asia, other than the PRC and Hong Kong — M (P B R B BRI 71,216 33,899
— Europe —BUM 252,536 16,237
— America == 77,535 —
22,508,182 9,063,175

Each of the three (2009: three) largest customers of the Group
contributes more than 10% of the Group's revenue for the current
year. Revenue of approximately HK$5,666 million, HK$3, 163 million
and HK$3,225 million are attributed to these three customers,
respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009:
approximately HK$2,254 million, HK$ 1,589 million and HK$1,572
million, respectively) and are mainly attributable to non-ferrous metal

sales.
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FR AEEE=%2(ZTTNF: =
B)EAEPHASENKZERSE
10% ERBE-_T—ZTF+-A=F
—BIEFEMREER 2 RI45,6668 &
BT~ 31638 B AT K3, 2268 B A T
(ZZZNEF : DRIH2254F5 8 AT -
1,589BEEBTTRI1LT2EEST) ' £ 2
REEECLBHEE -



8. OTHER INCOME

. R

2010 2009
—2-EF —TENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TFET
Net exchange gain PE 3, e an 58 40,267 1,532
Interest income ) B A 18,163 3276
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  BE R
plant and equipment R W 508 —
Rental income MellA 204 567
Gain on disposal of investment property and HE®REWE KEH
prepaid lease payment ME R w e 198 —
Others HAth 6,315 2,598
65,655 7,973
9. FINANCE COSTS . HERA
2010 2009
—E2-EF —TENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TFET
Interest on bank loans wholly AREFABEEEDN
repayable within five years RITERF B 92,775 9,414
Interest on advance from a director (note iy —REBANF 8 (1) 2,514 =
Effective interest expense on BHRBEERELZEN
secured guaranteed senior notes (note ii) ERA S FHx (P& — H10T
95,289 120,425

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 3| December 2010, the Group obtained an
advance of HK$234,000,000 from a director and paid interest thereon

at LIBOR plus 1.75%.The advance was settled in the same year

(i) The secured guaranteed senior notes were fully redeemed in prior year.

) BE2-_ZT-ZF

tTZA=t—HLF

B AEBEESESZE50234,000,00075
T VERBIRTREREMN1.75%
TRHEFE - BRERREE o

(i) EFRBFEFRESL
g o

ERCNAEFTHE
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10.INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10.FT i BB X

The charge comprises: ERBHE:
2010 2009
—E-FF —ZTNEF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FHET

PRC Enterprise Income Tax B (b E TS B

Current year KEE 52,832 24,950
Overprovision in prior year TFHEERE (234) —
52,598 24,950

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the

Group's subsidiaries in Hong Kong either had no assessable profit or

incurred tax losses for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")

and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the

PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, two PRC
subsidiaries of the Group, Yangzhong Yagang Metal Co., Ltd.
("Yangzhong Yagang”) and Tianjin Yatong are exempted from PRC
Enterprise Income Tax for two years starting from their first profit-
making vyear, followed by a 50% tax reduction for the next three

years (“Tax Holiday"). 2012 is the final year in which the two

subsidiaries are subject to a 50% tax deduction.

Under Decree-Law no. 58/99/M, Central Steel (Macao Commercial
Offshore) Limited (“Central Steel"), a Macau subsidiary incorporated
under that Law (called “58/99/M Company"), is exempted from
Macau Complementary tax (Macau income tax) as the 58/99/M

Company does not sell its products to any Macau resident company

during both years.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢%EEE’£;’L§ (#=h%) ARAF
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10.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

10.FTBHRHEAX @

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before FANBEXLEGS 2EKERNG
taxation per the consolidated statement of comprehensive income BAnG M ERAT
as follows:
2010 2009
—E2-2F —TThF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHE T
Profit before taxation B 1% A& A 944,501 503,635
Tax at the PRC Enterprise Income B TR B E25%
Tax rate of 25% 236,125 125,909
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TAMRAX BB E
for tax purpose 15,060 42,936
Tax effect of income not taxable ERBBANB B E
for tax purpose (2,794) (164)
Tax effect of share result of ElE—HBERT 384 (485)
an associate XEORBE 555
Tax effect of Tax Holiday granted BYHENER
to PRC subsidiaries E’JWNE%WM%? g (879) —
Tax effect of tax exemption granted BT IRFIE QRS
to a Macau subsidiary MIEBRENHG 2 (208,648) (151,672)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ABROBEEENB BT E 11,688 8,426
Utilisation of tax losses previously BRBEARER
not recognised B E1E (283) —
Tax effect of other deductible temporary HA R RO HRE
differences not recognised ERENBBRE 2,179 -
Overprovision in prior year BEFEBERE (234) —
Tax charge for the year FRBE S 52,598 24,950

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 30.

BT R AR S H AT EE30
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For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

I 1.PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1.5 P it
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging: FRENMEME THIREREGE
2010 2009
—E-FF —ZTNEF
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FHET
Directors’ emoluments (note 12) EEHM (M 12) 25,255 14,017
Other staff costs: Hth 8 THA
Salaries and wages FHRIE 42,345 23,693
Share-based payment, excluding PARR 17 52 < 508
those of directors (TBEZZEESE) 21,458 8,371
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, BRI EE R
excluding those of directors (TERZEES) 3,392 2,180
Total staff costs BEIRABE 92,450 48,261
Auditor's remuneration 1% 25 A 5 B 3,000 3,200
Release of prepaid lease payments BREERIEEE 6,518 3,460
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% « lE k&K ETE 25,153 13,641
Depreciation of investment properties REMEFRE 38 39
Listing expenses (included in other expenses) _E T F X (FF AE AR ) — 13,365
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BER
plant and equipment REEE — 63
Operating lease rentals paid in REEMEXNH
respect of rented premises REMERS 26,063 18,891
Note: Cost of inventories recognised as an expense approximates cost of fie: REZMEE ERBRAXINFEERK
sales as shown in the consolidated statement of comprehensive REFRE 2 EW SRR HEK
income for both years. AEE -
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12.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12.EBRES &HM
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments EETM
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as BEKERESHMAROT
follows:
Retirement
benefit
Salaries scheme
and contri- Share-
allowances butions based
Fees HER Bonuses BAREA payment Total
ne  HMRE A GEHR HARHAR Azt

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TER TER

(note iii)
(R &Eiii)
For the year ended BE-%-%F%
31 December 2010: TZA=t-HLEE:
Executive directors: HIES:
Mr. Chun Chi Wai RERALE - 5,393 1,250 12 5,136 11,791
Mr. Fung Ka Lun BRRLE
(appointed on (R_F-%%F
8 June 2010) ~NANBEZR) - 1,660 2,125 1 3,695 7,487
Mr.Jiang Yan Zhang EEELE - 498 141 yki 1,370 2,032
Non-executive directors: FBITES:
Ms. Lai Wun Yin RHBLL 180 - - - 1712 1,892
Mr. Chan Kam Hung (note i) B sh i 4 (M) 210 - - - 42 552
Mr. Leung Chong Shun (note i)~ 281 IB 5% A (Fi &) 210 - - - 342 552
Mr.Yan Qi Ping (appointed BRTLE
on 8 June 2010) (note i) (R=Z-%%
~RN\H
B (&) 113 - - - n 535
Mr. Chan lu Seng (resigned BREE%E
on | October 2010) (R-ZE-EF1A
(note i) —BER) (Fa) 130 - - - 284 414
843 1,551 3,516 42 13,303 25,255
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12.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 1N2.EERESFHFM 2

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued) ESHM (&)
Retirement
benefit
Salaries scheme
and contri- Share-
allowances butions based Total

Fees R Bonuses RABT payment Total
ik E bR fta AR ARG @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET

For the year ended HE-ZTNF
31 December 2009: TZA=T-BLFE:
Executive directors: BIES:
Mr. Chun Chi Wai AR — 3220 — 5 3,749 6974
Mr. Jiang Yan Zhang ZLELE — 204 — | 1,000 1,205
Mr.Wong Hok Leung IER%E
(resigned on (RZZZNEF
Il November t-A+-H
2009) (note i) R (Fraii — 3472 — || — 3,483
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Ms. Lai Wun Yin RAETT 79 — — — 1,250 1329
Mr. Chan Kam Hung (note i) B d o5 4 (B k) 9 — — — 250 34
Mr. Leung Chong Shun (note i) e85 & (Biah) 92 - - - 250 342
Mr. Chan lu Seng (note i) RIBE &4 (W) 9 — — — 250 340
355 6,896 — 17 6,749 14,017
Notes: B EE
() Independent non-executive directors. () BIFRTES -
(i) No share-based payment in relation to Mr.Wong Hok Leung was recognised (i) BRERERELNKRNMNKELBEEM

I ERER - RARNBRERRREE BN
BIREHECIEER -

as a result of his resignation and accordingly the number of options that are

expected to ultimately vest at the end of the reporting period was revised.

(iif) Bonuses are determined on a discretionary basis by the board of (i) EADVARAEFTELL2EREEARNAK
FHEENLERE BAAXRRRUE
Bz mS R REMREEE -

directors of the Company with reference to the Group's operating
results for the current financial year, individual performance and

compatible market statistics.
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12.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, the

NEEREEHMN =

BEEME

AEBRfURSMEA LT EFRE

number of directors and employees are as follows: BMAHBNMT :
2010 2009
—E2-ZF —TTNEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Directors 55 2%
Employees EE 3
5 5
# It includes a director who was appointed on 8 June 2010 and received # BE-AR-_ZT-ZERANBEEZRE

emoluments of HK$4,031,000 for the period from | January 2010 to 7

June 2010 as an employee.

HEF BT
- E AR R A AR

—TERNALA

TFE—f—HE=-Z

¥4 44,031,000 7T

The emoluments of the directors are set out above while the BExednN L MESKATHHE
emoluments of the remaining individuals are as follows: (I N

2010 2009

—E-ZF —ETNF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries and other allowances e hHMmER 3,465 2,100

Discretionary bonuses B1E AL 837 —

Retirement benefit scheme contributions BARTE R EEIME R 57 24

Share-based payment PARR 19 - 5% 4,494 2,250

8,853 4,374

Eiﬁl Annual Report 2010



118

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GaMBRRME

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

12.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000

NREEREEFMN o
EEME (&)
RENMENTFUTEE :

2010 2009

No. of No. of
employees employees
—g-8%  -TIAF
EEHA EEHA

1,500,001 7T & 2,000,000/ 7T - |
2,000,001/ 7T £ 2,500,000/ 7T | |
2,500,001 7T & 3,000,000/ 7T | —
3,500,001 JT £ 4,000,000/ 7T

In the two years ended 3| December 2010, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon

joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office. None of

the directors has waived any emoluments during the two years.

13.DIVIDEND

During the year, the final dividend of HKI2 cents (2009: Nil) per
share, amounted to HK$125,400,000 (2009: Nil), in respect of the

year ended 31 December 2009 was recognised as distribution to the

shareholders.

No interim dividend was declared for the current year. The final
dividend of HKI6 cents in respect of the year ended 3| December
2010 amounted to approximately HK$182,000,000 in total (2009:
final dividend of HKI2 cents in respect of the year ended 3|
December 2009 amounted to HK$125,400,000 in total) per share
has been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by the

shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢%EEE’£;’L§ (#=h%) ARAF

BHE-_T—ZTF+_A=+—HIMWF
B AEEHEREEINEAMSE
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IFFEENREREFR12BWL(ZZTEZ N
F ) - A3£A5125,400,0008 T (ZF
ENF:E) BERRBAEBREIEK -

AEEWRERTHRE - EXCERE
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182,000,000 T (ZEENE : HE =
ZENF+_A=T—HLEFERBR
S8 k1281l - & # 125,400,000%
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14.EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted

earnings per share

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following

14.82KREF

BINNBBEFAERRAHEEAREER
EAXAREERT

data:
2010 2009
—E-EfF —ZTNE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHE T
Earnings: an
Profit for the year attributable to owners FEEBRERR
of the Company for the purposes of BERNEARR T
basic and diluted earnings per share WA ARG F AT 886,562 478,422
Number of shares: RO EE :
Weighted average number of ordinary FTEEBRER
shares for the purpose of basic E 8 41
earnings per share Ti@ke e 1,047,801,067 881,438,356
Effect of diluted potential ordinary shares as  RIBE&H X AR
a result of the share options granted under HE R IE AR T 2
the Pre-IPO Scheme (defined in note 38(a)) (7 & R M5 38(a)
PR Y AHE
TEBEERBROTE 5,708,380 2,854,600
Weighted average number of ordinary AEEREERNN
shares for the purpose of diluted g FE B A
earnings per share 1,053,509,447 884,292,956

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume the

exercise of the Company's outstanding share options granted under

the Scheme (defined in note 38(b)) because the adjusted exercise

prices of those options calculated in accordance with HKAS 33

“Earnings Per Share” were higher than the average market price of
the shares for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009.

BREEESEREBREREN]H
A8 - ARAEE (E& LM EE38(0) A
B R R AT AN 2 A BB R A R B
THEERREE-_T—ZTFR=-TTH
FT_A=t—HLEFERNNFHH
B #HAESREZRNEIRIZSE
B EEITE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

I15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15.99% - BB &R 1E

Machinery,

furniture,

Leasehold fixtures and

Construction improve-  equipment

Harbour in Motor ments #5  &A
Buildings works  progress  vehicles  HENE ‘KB Total
BF BEIE £RIR HE £8 e st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000  HK$’000 HK$°000
FEx FEx TR FEx FEx FEx FER

(note)

()
cosT A%
At 1 January 2009 RZEENE-A-H 14719 — 9,047 16464 3076 77,306 120812
Additions RE 849 — 11,045 900 18 7900 20712
Disposals HE — = = (494) = (386) (880)
At3| December 2009 RZETAFT-A=t—H 1558 — 20092 16870 394 84820 140644
Exchange adjustments ERAE 317 456 984 419 105 5,75 14938
Acquired on acquistion ~~ WE—FEKELF

of a subsidiary (3£33)

(note 33) 34809 12961 — 27 — 41976 206284
Additions RE 53578 — 21,448 5,149 969 67543 148,687
Transfers LE ] 3,308 — (9.784) — — 6476 —
Disposals if-3 - - - (3061 - (585) (3,646)
Written-off it — - - — (1) ) (113)
Disposal of a subsidiary M~ E AR

(note 34) (Rt34) - — — (1573) — (4676) (6249)
A3l December 2010 RZE-FETZA=+-F 110380 133824 3740 18041 4257 201,303 500545
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I5.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15.9% - BMEREE »

(Continued)
Machinery,
furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
Construction improve-  equipment
Harbour in Motor ments Mz HA
Buildings works  progress  vehicles ~ HENF kB Total
BF BEIE HBIE AE k8 JEL ] @it
HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
FER TER FExn FEx FER FER FER
(note)
(W)
DEPRECIATION e
At | January 2009 RZEENE-A-H 3474 — — 953 394 24875 38,275
Provided for the year EnEk | 468 — — 1726 605 9842 13,641
Fiminated on disposals ~ fi & A 38 - — — (221) — (40) (261)
At3l December 2009 RIFZAETZA=T-H 494 — — 11,037 99 34677 51,655
Exchange adjustments EHA% 20 49 — m 30 1,268 1,950
Provided for the year EnEk 4493 2070 — 1,806 602 16,182 25,153
Fiminated on disposals ~ {H &5 4 - - - (2754) — (377) (3131)
Fiminated on disposal of  {tE — M & 2 A B 1 58
a subsidiary (note 34) (Rt3kas) - - — (810) — (976) (1786)
Fiminated on written-off & S8 = - — — (I ) (113)
At3l December 010  RZZ-TEFZA=+-H 9715 2119 — 9,602 1,520 50,772 7378

CARRYINGVALUES  EEf@
At3] December 2010 R=F-ZE+=F=+-F 100,665 131,705 32,740 8,439 23T 150531 426817

At 31 December 2009 RIZEAFTZA=1T-8 10626 - 20092 5,833 2,295 50,143 88989
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

G & IR R R BT

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_Z—ZEF+-A=1+—HIUFE

I5.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15.9% - BERRHE =
(Continued)
After considering the estimated residual values, the above items of RERMFEE  LdWE  BERR
property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress BB (ERIREBRIN) DUERERIA
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the following years or at THEESHRTINFENE (HEE)WE :

the following rates per annum, as appropriate:

Buildings 20 - 50 years or over the lease term of the relevant land, whichever is shorter
BF 20E505 AR L E R ABREE RE)
Harbour works 30 years
oy AR 30%F
Motor vehicles 20%
A 20%
Leasehold improvements 4% or over the term of the relevant lease, whichever is shorter
HEMRKE 4% L EEEEHRE ABREE RE)
Machinery, furniture, fixtures
and equipment 10% - 20%

Hees  RXFh HEREZE 10%ZE20%

Note: Harbour works mainly represented wharfs for transportation of goods. fie: BEIRFTZARERRERNT
o o
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16.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

16. 1585 ME

HK$'000
FAET
COST ﬁJiZIS
At | January 2009 and 3| December 2009 RZ-ZEZTAF—HA—BRK
“ETNFE+-A=+—H 1,940
Disposal & G
At 31 December 2010 RZZE—ZEF+-_A=+—H 1,879
DEPRECIATION e
At | January 2009 RZZEZNF—-—HA—H 170
Provided for the year FRNEE 39
At 31 December 2009 RZEZNF+_A=+—H 209
Provided for the year FREE 38
Eliminated on disposal 6 B S (6)
At 31 December 2010 R-_E—ZF+-_A=+—H 241
CARRYING VALUES ERMEE
At 31 December 2010 R-ZZE-ZF+=-H=+—H 1,638
At 31 December 2009 R_ZEENF+_A=+—H 1,731

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties (including the
corresponding leasehold land interests with a carrying amount of
HK$2,720,000) at 31 December 2010 was HK$17,306,000 (2009:
HK$9,180,000) and whose addresses are Unit | on |6th Floor and
car parking space no. 358 on the 3rd Floor of “I 18 Connaught Road
West", No. | 8 Connaught Road West, Sai Ying Pun, Hong Kong.

The fair value as at 3|1 December 2010 has been determined by the
directors of the Company. No valuation has been performed by
independent qualified professional valuers. The valuation performed
by the directors of the Company was arrived at by reference to

subsequent selling price as set out in note 43.

R-ZE—ZTFE+-_A=+—H K&H
HEWHE (BEKRHEEA2,720,0007% T
MEERELHERS) DARER
17,306,000 & (= £ T L F
9,180,000/ 7t) ° EZ%%E%@M%%%
FEBTmERSH[THAER118%]
16181% R 3B E3685% E L

ZE-ZSEFZRA=+—HNARED
BANFRESRET - BUABRIER
BRI EAEATE o M FF43FTE - R
NRAIBESHEANZHEDNKCL2EZHKBERE
BT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

16.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair value as at 31 December 2009 was arrived at based on a
valuation carried out by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited,
independent valuers not connected with the Group. The valuation
was determined by reference to recent market prices for similar

properties in the same location and condition.

The above investment properties are erected on land held under
long leases in Hong Kong and are depreciated on a straight-line basis

over approximately 46 years.

17.PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

16. 5 EYE »

—EENF+_A=T—HWARED
ERERAKEYERENBYEEMF
BROAEBMARARNMGESL - AE
B2EWHRARERZ EUDENT

LTREENEOERRERMEEES
BRAENLIH L WIREREENLL6
FRFE -

17.F8fHHHERIE

2010 2009
—E-2F% ZTThF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
The prepaid lease payments BANHEREEEEE T
comprise leasehold land
— in Hong Kong held under long leases -REBRRBHEERE 2,720 3,185
— in the PRC held under -RABEETFHEERSE
medium-term leases 201,644 94,804
204,364 97,989
Analysed for reporting purposes as: RBEENINAE
Current asset MBEE 9,733 3,460
Non-current asset ERBDEE 194,631 94,529
204,364 97,989
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I8.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

18.REEATNER

2010 2009
ZE-FF —ETNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost of unlisted investment in i RN Ol B = DN
an associate (note) (PR &) 87,130 87,130
Share of post-acquisition profits and other PG BRI R H At
comprehensive income, FEHKE  MERE KRS
net of dividends received 9,495 9,983
96,625 97,113

Note: Included in the cost of unlisted investment in an associate at the end
of the reporting period is goodwill arising on acquisition of
HK$9,237,000 (2009: HK$9,237,000) in prior years.

Details of the Group's associate are set out in note 41.

MisE : RBEMER REBEARIMELMR
ERADEAFUBELANEE
9,237,000 T (Z T T N F :
9,237,000/ L) °

AEBHEATNFBEHENM T4 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GaMBRRME

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

I8.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

associates is set out below:

18. Bt E AT IR »)
AEEBLAANTEERERMT ;

2010 2009
—2-%F —ZETNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total assets EEHE 198,555 199,120
Total liabilities BEAHE (4,359) (3,838)
Net assets BEFE 194,196 195,282
The Group's share of net assets AEBEGHERT
of an associate HEEFE 87,388 87,876
Revenue U &5 26,938 33,315
(Loss) profit for the year FR(EE) &+ (3,409) 4313
Other comprehensive income H 2 mE &= 2,324 —
The Group's share of (loss) profit and other A& B E{G B & A A1 &Y
comprehensive income of an FAR(EE) &H &
associate for the year Hih 2 mE s (488) 1,941
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19.INVENTORIES 19.%6

2010 2009

—E2-2F —TTNEF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Raw materials R 1,207,110 455,304

Finished goods B 2 540,026 272,234

1,747,136 727,538

Included in the above figures are finished goods of HK$319,575,000 Fit 87 B 2K m 319,575,000 T

(2009: Nil) and HK$79,201,000 (2009: Nil) which have been pledged (ZEBAE : &) }79,201,0008 7 (=

as security for bank borrowings and amounts payable to brokers ZTNGF  |) EDRIBERERRTE
respectively. RRENEEFBZER D -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

DEPOSITS

The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30 to 90
days to its trade customers. The aged analysis of the Group's trade
receivables, presented based on the invoice date at the end of the

20.ESREMBKRERZSE

AEE-RAEZFEPRHENFI0HE
WEMFHEEY - RBEHRRLEE
FBUWEZFTBNRRS T (RERAHZ

reporting period, is as follows: )W
2010 2009
—E-FF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables: FEW E 5 RIE
0 - 30 days 0230H 1,152,304 803,486
31 - 60 days 31Z260H 1,096,188 678,539
61 - 90 days 61£290H 944,505 513,299
91 - 120 days 91&2120H 923,509 199,040
[21 - 180 days 1212180H 1,662,913 80,826
Over 180 days 881801 524,285 26,382
6,303,704 2,301,572
Other receivables and deposits: HinERREREZS :
Deposits and prepayments e REMR 55,454 31,297
Deposits paid for purchase of raw materials ~ FEEERM B E KRS 686,151 94,037
Other taxes recoverable H 4 7] e [B] F I8 279,154 95,643
Others it 23,348 1,776
1,044,107 222,753
7,347,811 2,524,325
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20.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

DEPOSITS (Continued)

The above trade and other receivables of the Group that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currencies of

the relevant group entities are set out below:

20.2 5 R H fth FE W SR IR R 4%

-,

FRAFBEEERNEEEUINIEE
FENAEEE S REMEKFKIEN
T

HKD equivalent of RMB

BLTHNEEARY

HK$'000

FET

As at 31 December 2010 E’\‘—g—gfﬁ+‘ﬁ=+—a 6,311
As at 3| December 2009 R-ZFEAF+-A=+—H 88,651
Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the EM%%EH%)?@JEZ@L C AEEEE

potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by

customer. Limits attributable to customers are reviewed regularly.

No impairment loss is provided for the trade receivables that are
neither past due nor impaired because these receivables are within
credit period granted to the respective customer and the
management considers the default rate is low for such receivables

based on historical information and past experience.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group
considers any change in credit quality of the trade receivable from
the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting
period. In view of the good settlement history and substantial
subsequent settlement from those debtors of the Group which are
past due but not impaired, the directors consider that no allowance

is required.

BEEFMNEEERRATSEFPNE
Eﬁﬁ%ﬁ TEEHRAZTEPHORE -

MERERBHTERELNERE SN
RELREBERE  DARZFREY
FERREREFERNEESNZA &
EEEENEBAEHRBELRAR
ZERYFEANBEREER -

REERREZFALE A REE - K
SEZREMABEHEERPEERS
HRERE IRKESRAENEEE
ZENEY IR AKEEBAHEEY
BRBENERESFIRERFERE
B BERCEEAMIEE  BES
RBRBAEFEHRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

21

DEPOSITS (Continued)

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not

20.8 5 R H B RIE R %

R,

E B M B R i Er B E 5 IE AR

impaired
2010 2009
—g-8F  -TINE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
91 - 120 days 912120H 923,509 199,040
121 - 180 days 1212180H 1,662,913 80,826
Over 180 days 881801 524,285 26,382
3,110,707 306,248

At 31 December 2010, trade receivables of HK$53,535,000 have
been pledged as security for bank borrowings. The carrying amount
of the associated liability is HK53,535,000 (included in bank

borrowings in note 29).

.BILLS RECEIVABLE

The amount represents bills on hand and bills discounted to banks
with recourse with a maturity period of less than 180 days (2009:
180 days). At the end of the reporting period, these receivables are
not yet due and guaranteed by the banks. The management
considers the default rate is low based on past experience as the
Group seldom encounters default on bills. The Group retains all the
risks and rewards of discounted bills receivable and accordingly, the
Group continues to recognise the full carrying amount of such bills
receivable (see note 35 for assets pledged) and has recognised the
cash received on such discount as secured discounted bills liabilities
in note 28.

22.DEPOSIT PAID TO A RELATED PARTY

The amount represents a rental deposit paid to secure the lease
agreement entered into between the Group and a company wholly-
owned by Mr Chun, a director of the Company, as the landlord.

Details of the lease agreement are set out in note 40.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢§EEE’£;‘L§ (12h%) ARAF

R-ZE—ZF+_F=+—H EBE5FE
I 3% 78 53,535,000/ JT C & 1 {E 3R 17 {5
RHERR BHEBENEEER
53,535,000/% 7T (5T A BT #E 2989 R 1T 16

) e

21.BEEHE

ZRBEBEERERVIBOB (ZZTAEF
180H) NE| M FEEHEREBTHER
RENBURAEE - 2T R BFER R
SHREARB B HRTER - BRA
SERAELVEXREBBRGREBER -
WEBERBAREER - XAEBRE
MEZSEURBRREENZ2BRARR
E# - Bt AEBEERRZETER
EENEREEHEAE (EHEREERN
#35) - Wil ZEMRMEHREER AN
H2FT E R RERAE -

2.3t F—BREATHES

ZHREADNERERAKEERRRES
RELE2EHANRA (ERET) ZH
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23.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivatives settled in net (not under hedge accounting):

23.{THEEMIR

YIRS e ARENRFRELRN
PTETIA

2010 2009
—E-EF “ETAF
Assets  Liabilities Assets Liabilities
EE a8 BE &
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET T T
Future contracts on FEeeBHE
non-ferrous metals (note a) & # (fitera) 58,616 120,507 36,508 61248
Foreign currency SN RS A
forward contracts (note b) (Pt 5Eb) 8,129 14,330 432 843
Interest rate swap (note c) F =42 5 (B aEc) = = — 53
66,745 134,837 36,940 62,144
Notes: B aE
(a) Major terms of future contracts on non-ferrous metals are set out a) FEGBHESGNETERRNOT
below:
At 31 December 2010 R=Z2-2F+=-A=+—-H
Contracted future price Standard trading unit Total unit Maturity
BRBEER BEXZEMN BEN A
Copper future contracts: HHREEH
Sell at prices ranged from 5 tonnes 112 Ranged from [5 February 201 |
RMB61,400 to RMB71,510 per tonne IR to |5 April 201 |
BN TE8WARE61,400TE BE-E-——%_A+1H
AR¥71,510704 E-F-——FMA+HEA
Buy at prices ranged from 5 tonnes 81 Ranged from |5 February 201 |
RMB59,800 to RMB70,080 per tonne BIE to |5 April 2011

BT B A RE59800TE
AR #70,080CE A

A-T-——F-At+EA
E-T-——FMA+EA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

G & IR R R BT

For the year ended 3| December 2010

BE-F-FFI-A=+—AILEE

23.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

23.51E€MI R

(a) Major terms of future contracts on non-ferrous metals are set out

below: (Continued)

Contracted future price

EHNHREER

Sell at prices ranged from
USD8, 160 to USD9,514

BN F8,160% 7T
£9,514% Lk

Buy at prices ranged from
USD8,096 to USD9,625

BN 8,096 7T
£9,625%TLEA

Aluminium future contracts:

Sell at prices ranged from
RMBI5,655 to RMBI6,835

BAF ARM15,6557C
E= AR#¥16,8357004

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |*QEEE’£5§ (12h%) ARAF

Standard trading unit
BERZEN

25 tonnes
2501

25 tonnes
250

HHEEH

5 tonnes
HE

Total unit

BmEN

788

214

1,088

Pitst : (&)

BEESBHEANIEGRRNOT @ (8)

Maturity
38 A

Ranged from 7 January 201 |
to 31 March 201 |
B-T——%—HAtH
EF_Z——4%=HA=t—H

Ranged from 7 January 201 |
to 31 March 201 |
B-%——%—-AtHR
E-T-——F=ZA=1—H

Ranged from 15 January 201 |
to |5 March 201 |

G-F-—F-A+EA
EZT——%=A+HA



23.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

23.57EEMI AR

(a) Major terms of future contracts on non-ferrous metals are set out

below: (Continued)

Contracted future price

EHHEER
Zinc future contracts:

Sell at prices ranged from
RMBI17,630 to RMB21,270

BN T AR®17,630T
EARK21,2707T4 H

Buy at prices ranged from
RMB 17,895 to RMB19,025

BT AR®17,8957T
EARM19,025TEA

Sell at prices ranged from
USD2,167 to USD2,316

BN F2,167% T
£2,316X U4

Buy at prices ranged from
UsSD2,175 to USD2,630

BN F2175% T
£2,630XTEA

Standard trading unit
BERZEN

HHEEHY

5 tonnes
HIE

5 tonnes
U

25 tonnes
250

25 tonnes
2501

Total unit

BmEN

3,852

245

324

744

BitsE : (&)

FEeBHEANTIRZGRAT @ (&)

Maturity
PN

Ranged from |5 February 201 |
to 16 May 201 |

BE-Z——%_-A+HhA
E-2——FRAT+KH

Ranged from 15 January 201 |
to 15 April 201

g-%——%-AtzA
E=2——4WA+ERA

Ranged from 21 January 201 |
to 31 March 201 |
G-F-——4—A=+-H
EZT——4=A=+—H

Ranged from 21 January 201 |
to 31 March 201 |
g-F——%-A=+-H
Z-F-—F=A=1-8
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Notes: (Continued)

23.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

23.1EE€MI AR

Major terms of future contracts on non-ferrous metals are set out

below: (Continued)

Contracted future price

BRHEER
Copper future contracts:

Sell at prices ranged from

RMB53,980 to RMB58,870 per tonne
BN FEWEARKE3,980TE

AR #58,8707Th

Buy at prices ranged from
RMB53,400 to RMB59,600 per tonne
BN T 8WAR53,400LE
AR¥59,600TE A

Sell at prices ranged from
USD6,209 to USD7,331 per tonne
BN F 5 1E6,209% T
273X

Buy at prices ranged from
USD5,880 to USD7,377 per tonne
BT EWE5,8805% T
E7377XTEA

Sell at prices ranged from
USD3.299 to USD3.313 per pound
BN T 8#3.299% T
Z3.313% Tk

Standard trading unit
BERZEN

HHEEH :

5 tonnes
5E

5 tonnes
U

25 tonnes
2508

25 tonnes
2501

25,000 pounds
25,000%%

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢§EEE’£;‘L§ (12h%) ARAF

Total unit

BmEN

108

375

443

275

102

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

Pitst : (&)

EESBHEANTIER

Maturity
38 A

R (&)

Ranged from 15 January 2010

to |5 April 2010

B-Z-ZF—A+HhH
E-T-TFWATHEA

Ranged from 15 January 2010

to |15 March 2010

BE-Z2—-4—A+AH
E-ZT-—TF=/F+AH

Ranged from 5 January 2010

to 30 March 2010

BE-E—2F—HAH
E-T-TF=A=1H

Ranged from 5 January 2010

to 31 March 2010

BE-Z2—2F—AAH
E-_ZFT-TF=-A=+—H

|0 March 2010

—2-ZFEF=A+H



23.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 23.TEERMTI R %

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) BeE @ (&)

(a) Major terms of future contracts on non-ferrous metals are set out a) FELBHEGNTEGRNOT @ (&)

below: (Continued)

Contracted future price Standard trading unit Total unit Maturity

BRBEER BEXZEMN BEN PN

Aluminium future contracts: HHEEH

Sell at prices ranged from 5 tonnes 288 Ranged from |5 February 2010
RMB15,845 to RMB17,035 per tonne 54f to |5 April 2010

BN FEWARY15,8457C B-Z-FF_A+hH
E AR#¥17,0357054 E-Z-TFMA+AA

Buy at prices ranged from 5 tonnes 285 Ranged from |5 January 2010
RMBI5,630 to RMB16,830 per tonne B to 15 March 2010

B FEBARK15,6307T B-Z-TF—-ATAR
= AE#¥16,8307LE A E_T-TF=F+hH

Sell at USD2,130 per tonne 25 tonnes [4 2 March 2010

REME2,1305 7Tk 250 —E-ZTF=-ACH

Zinc future contracts: HHEAW :

Sell at prices ranged from 5 tonnes 776 Ranged from |5 January 2010
RMB16,710 to RMB20,770 per tonne BIE to 15 April 2010

BN TEWARE16,7107T

BE-_E—ZTF—A+HH

EARM20,77070% E-F-TFNA+TRA
The future contracts are measured at fair values based on the quoted REBEHR  BEGABRBIERE
prices in active markets at the end of the reporting period, with gain or BT HREANARENE  HAB
loss recognised directly in the consolidated statement of HENGE2ARARAER -

comprehensive income.
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GEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

23.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 23.THEERMIR »
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) BeE : (&)
(b) Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts are as follows: (b) HBEHEOEBHETIOT !
At 31 December 2010 R-E-ZF+-A=+-H
Notional amount Forward contracted rates Maturity
EREH BERENAE FHA
2 contracts to sell USD I: RMB6.6377 to 6.7450 From 24 January 201 | to 26 January 201 |
USD80,000,000 in total

2P BB HED 1ETHARKE6377TLE BE-E——F—-A-1tHmAZE
80,000,000% 7T AR¥6.74507T —E-—f%—-A=-+KH

36 contracts to buy USDI: RMB6.4850 to 6.7930 From 6 February 201 | to 27 September 201 |
USD119,899,703 in total

BMHENEHEA 12T H AR¥6.4850L & B_T——%_AKBZE
119,899,703% 7T AR %6.79307T —E——fAA=Z++tH

At 31 December 2009 R-BEAF+=A=+-8H

Notional amount Forward contracted rates Maturity

EREH BRENAE A

[4 contracts to buy USDI: RMB6.6410 to 6.8442 From 27 September 2010 to 28 December 2010
USD28,080,952 in total

14 a8a % 1XTHARM6.6410T BE-F-FFNA-TLH
& A28,080,952% 7T = ANR#6.84427T E_Z-ZF+-_A-+\H
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23.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(c) Major terms of the interest rate swap are as follows:
At 31 December 2009

Notional amount Interest rate swap

ZudHE F RIS
USD 1,000,000 From LIBOR to 1.4%
1,000,000 7T BRPERITREREE14%

The above foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swap of
the Group that are denominated in the currencies other than functional

currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

As at 31 December 2010
As at 31 December 2009

23.57EEMI AR

BitsE : (&)
(c) AT RERMAT ¢
R-ZZZEAF+ZA=1+—-H

Maturity
38 A

27 September 2010
—2-TEAA=TLA

THRAREEEERIEEEUNEE
AENASEINEERRORF X RS
LA
Assets Liabilities
HKD HKD
equivalent equivalent
of USD of USD
EE &
BINEEXT BRNEEXT
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
—H 8,129 (10,131)
—H 413 (784)

All of the Group'’s future contracts on non-ferrous metals are
denominated in the functional currencies of the relevant group

entities for both years.

RREFER  A&ERERESEY
EANON RSB ERNINE R

=]
o

i}
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GaMBRRME

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

24.PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The amounts represent deposits pledged to banks to secure the
general banking facilities granted to the Group. All deposits are
pledged to secure short-term facilities and therefore, classified as

current assets.

The above pledged bank deposits of the Group that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of

the relevant group entities are set out below.

As at 31 December 2010 R-ZBE-ZF+-H=
As at 31 December 2009 RZEERNF+ A=

24.EERRITHER

BERROTEFERASEER — KR
TREMARTERNER - MEER
BEEAARREHRE Bt - 9K
BARBEE -

b A AR A R 0 8 2 DA S B
SHENAEEDERRTERMT -

HKD
equivalent of

usD HKD

BTHNEEETR BT

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

+—A 5,843 5,466

+—H — 10,690

The pledged bank deposits of the Group carry interest at the

following fixed interest rates:

Range of interest rates per annum

FRREE

AEBEERRTHEIIRATEEMN &
T8

b=[I13

2010 2009
—ge-8F  -TTnE

0.01% to 2.75%  0.01% to 2.25%
0.01%%2.75% 0.01%%2.25%

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢%EEE’£;’L§ (#=h%) ARAF



25.BANK BALANCES AND CASH/
RESTRICTED DEPOSITS

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short-

term bank deposits with maturity of three months or less.

Restricted deposits represent deposits placed with financial
institutions to secure the margin accounts of the Group for trading

future contracts in the relevant financial institutions.

The above bank balances and cash and restricted deposits of the
Group that are denominated in currencies other than the functional

currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

As at 31 December 2010 RZZ—
As at 31 December 2009 RN-EE

25 RITHBRIE TR
B

BOTEBIACARAEERANEA S
FR=MEARZ=18FARDI B 5EHR
TR -

XBHEFREFARNERBEENTR
NRASERHBeREEEENES
KORES P OREER -

LRNEBREBERNEESHIINES
AENAEERTERIBRESURER
HERMAT

HKD
equivalent of
uUsD
BTNEE HKD
e B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
—H 132,650 31,742
—H 22,044 39,093

The bank balances and deposits of the Group carry prevailing

market saving rate interest at the following rates:

Range of interest rates per annum

FHREE

AEBORTLBREREN TR D
BHEFEHS -

2010 2009
—g-8F  -TTAE

0.01% to 0.38%
0.01%%0.38%

0.01% to 2.25%
0.01%%2.25%
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For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES/BILLS

26.B5 REMEMRIE TE

PAYABLE tR#&
The aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables, presented based on RBEPR  FEERMNE HREANKR
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period, is as follows: o (REZERMEN)WOT :
2010 2009
—2-%F —TTNEF
HK$°000 HK$:000
FET FET
Trade payables: N8 5HAE
0 - 30 days 0£30H 938,813 585,871
31 - 60 days 31£60H 891,316 191,996
61 - 90 days 61290H 822,360 [11,288
91 - 120 days 912 120H 715,714 32
[21 - 150 days 1212 150H 370,087 44
Over 150 days 81508 23,484 708
3,761,774 889,939
Other payables: H fth e FRE
Accruals fEET & A 45,589 12916
Consideration payable for acquisition of BEERKEARM
additional interest in a subsidiary BAIMER MEMHRE 10,961 —
Payables for acquisition of property, BEDX BEKR
plant and equipment AR R B JE 1 3B 2,377 1,659
Deposits received from customers BEREPES 146,144 60,426
Other taxes payable Hth FE 5 75 18 30,257 4,409
Amounts payable to brokers (note) e 8 42 5138 (BT ) 133,695 —
Others Hitb 40,706 12,447
409,729 91,857
4,171,503 981,796

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢%EEE’£;’L§ (#=h%) ARAF



26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES/BILLS 260 B REMEMRIE FE

PAYABLE (Continued) FTER »
Note: The balance represents amounts payable to brokers in respect of MaE : BAERAEETETANRESSA
the Group's margin accounts for its derivative instruments. Out of MEMELHRE - REESD
the amount, HK$55,654,000 (2009: Nil) is unsecured and interest 55,654,0008 7T (ZEZNF : &) A
bearing at LIBOR plus a spread, ranging from 0.5% to 1% and BERRBRBHARITREFEMN F
HK$78,041,000 (2009: Nil) is interest-free and secured by 0.5%E1%H) 8 =58 + 78,041,000
inventories with a carrying amount of HK$42,067,000 (see note 19). BT (CZTNF - B) RS RAKRA
18 £42,067,0005 TH 7 S 1R (R
BiiEE19)
The average credit period on purchase of goods is up to 60 days. EMERBNTHEEHTHERE60H -
All bills payable of the Group are aged within 180 days and not yet AEBEZMARNRER 2Kk TH#18180
due at the end of the reporting period. Bills payable are secured by B REREHRITRENE - BNZEH
pledged bank deposits of HK$370,056,000. B & # iR 7 77 3 370,056,000/ 7T 1F &
e
The above trade and other payables that are denominated in a FPRARHEEERINGETEAINEY
currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant group AENESREMENRENT

entities are set out below:

HKD
equivalent of
uUsD
BRINEERT
HK$°000

FER

1,404

As at 31 December 2010 RZBE-—F =
= —H 404

25
As at 31 December 2009 RZEZTHF
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For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_Z—ZEF+-A=1+—HIUFE

27.AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

28.DISCOUNTED BILLS

The amounts represent the Group’s bank borrowings secured by
bills discounted to banks with recourse (see note 21). The ranges of
effective interest rates per annum in respect of the Group's

discounted bills with recourse are as follows:

Effective interest rates per annum

BERFNE

27.FE M B AT EERRR
M IH

ZEFRAREER RERNEXREE
j\% o

28 BLIRE

BREBRDEAEEURRTHENE
REZRFEAMORTEN (RHE
21) - AEENEBRENBREENE
FREMZBEMT

2010 2009
-85  -TInF

0.36% to 3.06% 1.74% to 5.83%
0.36%%3.06% |.74%% 5.83%

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |=F£EEE’£5L§ (12h%) ARAF



29.BANK BORROWINGS

29 3R 1T K

2010 2009
—g-8F  -TINE
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Fixed-rate borrowings: EEMEN
Bank loans RITER 2,056,445 392,734
Variable-rate borrowings: FRER
Bank loans RITER 1,079,538 22,727
Trust receipt loans SEWEBER 177,920 36,115
3,313,903 451,576
Secured AEM 1,952,131 270,736
Unsecured 4K 4R 1,361,772 180,840
3,313,903 451,576
The maturity of the above loans it E e F
is as follows: BRAT
Within one year K—FRX 2,960,962 451,576
In more than one year but —FRETEBAME
not more than two years 352,941 —
3,313,903 451,576
Less: Amount repayable within one year B R —FREERL
shown under current liabilities FIANREBBENEHE (2,960,962) (451,576)
Amount due after one year —FRIIBNERE 352,941 —
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29.BANK BORROWINGS - (Continued)

The Group's variable-rate borrowings are mainly subject to interest
at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate or LIBOR plus a spread,
ranging from 0.7% to 3% (2009: 0.9% to 3%), Prime Rate of the
relevant bank in Hong Kong or such rate plus a spread of 1% or
105% or 110% of PBOC Base Lending Rate. The ranges of effective
interest rates per annum on the Group’s bank borrowings are as

follows:

Effective interest rates:
BIEFIZ :

Fixed-rate borrowings
E BB
Variable-rate borrowings

ST g [
FBER

29.SRITHER @)

AEENZEERETERFBLMAR
AREREMNT07%E3% (ZZEZH
F109%FE3%)MEE - BAEMEBET
MEZFEREHEARBITELERKF
RH)1%8105%3110% 5t 8 ° REER
AERHNERFNXGENT :

2010 2009
-85  —TIAG

1.20% to 5.10% [.36% to 5.84%

1.20%Z£5.10% |.36%%5.84%
1.55% to 5.62%  0.38% to 5.58%
1.55%%5.62% 0.38%%5.58%

The above Group's bank borrowings that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group

entities are set out below:

As at 31 December 2010
As at 31 December 2009

|

IS ES PY EUES LPUN T
HEHARBRTERAT ¢

HKD
equivalent of
usD HKD
BITHNEEER BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT
+—A 1,122,183 17,200
+—H 162,558 21917

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢QEEE’§;’E (#=h%) ARAF



30.DEFERRED TAXATION

The deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and

movements thereon during the year are as follows:

30.EEHIE

ARERERNERIZNECHERBARE
EREZEHMT

Accelerated

tax
depreciation Tax losses Total
BRI E REEE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000
FHET FHET
At | January 2009 RZZEZAF—H—H 910 (910) —
(Credited) charged for the year Z]K¢E (&%) 512 (224) 224 —
At 31 December 2009 —ETNF
‘l’_ﬁ:‘l'—E 686 (686) —
(Credited) charged for the year REE (H®) G (413) 413 —
At 31 December 2010 R-Z—-ZF
+ZA=+—H 273 (273) -

At 31 December 2010, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$ 117,486,000 (2009: HK$74,367,000) available for offset against
future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
HK$ 1,653,000 (2009: HK$4,157,000) of such losses. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses
amounting to HK$ 115,833,000 (2009: HK$70,210,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses of HK$79,518,000 (2009: HK$57,203,000) that will
expire in various dates up to 2015. Other losses may be carried

forward indefinitely.

At 31 December 2010, the Group had deductible temporary
differences of HK$8,717,000 (2009: Nil). No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference
as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which

the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

R-E—FTE+-A=+—H K&£EH
A AR A0 R s M 80 1 R B A B I S
1 /117,486,0008 L (ZE T N5 -
74,367,000 L) * B EZEFBEF L
1,653,000 7L (ZZZT L5 : 4,157,000
BT BRELEHEEE - AR AREETRA
RESEFITR - RIEERE BB
£ 115,833,0008 L (Z T h & :
70,210,000/ 7T) BRBELEHIBEE - X
BRABIEEEEE79,518,0008 T (=
T NHF ¢ 57,203,000 L) WEE - #
REBEE-ZT—RFLAI%EBHE S -
Ht BB ERALHE -

RZE—ZTE+=ZA=+—8 A5H
Z AR E R E £ A8,717,0007 7T
(ZZ2EZNF - &) - UEBZEANR
TRHEZERAECEHBEE - TRX
REEERB &M AREHETNZ
FERMEEZAREETK -
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BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

30.DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

31

Under the EIT Law, 10% withholding income tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned from | January 2008
to non-PRC resident investors of the companies established in the
PRC. For investors incorporated in Hong Kong, a preferential rate of
5% will be applied. Deferred tax has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the temporary
differences attributable to such undistributed profits from PRC
subsidiaries amounting to HK$192,710,000 (2009: HK$109,482,000)

as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the

30EMEMHIE &)

BEBECERGERE  RPBEKZHDAE
BREZZTNF-A—BRBRIAOEF
MEFBREREEESRRE K AN
10%TBHATEH - REBF MK LK
BEEANTZEEEHELD - HRAEE
AR =R AR O B E
KA R RA R aE FERE - far E 5
ZERE KB A R MR D RS S
R = %8192,710,0008 L (ZZZ A

instalments in ten years commencing from the year 2003,

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢QEEE’£;‘L§ (12h%) ARAF

temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary % : 109,482,000 7T) 4R A M B WM&
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. PERIE T TR o
.OTHER LONG-TERM PAYABLE A RAESRIE
2010 2009
—2-%F —TTNEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total other long-term payable Hofth & B e BRIE 42 470 682
Less: current portion included 7}3@ s AE A R
in other payables i) B0 R & 9 (235) (228)
235 454
The amount represents payable for acquisition of property, plant and ~ ZHABHEKRBEDE BE R EHEMS K
equipment which is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable by ~ IE - HEEH - £8 BEAB-_TT=F

ATFRALHEE -



32.SHARE CAPITAL

32..8 K

Number
of shares Amount
BRGEE -]
HKS
T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 each R E {50.00017% T B0 & AR
Authorised: ETE
At | January 2009 RZZEENF—A—H 3,800,000,000 380,000
Increase on 22 May 2009 (note i) R-ZZEZAFAA=+ZH
1 o0 (KY i) 6,200,000,000 620,000
At 31 December 2009 and 2010 N_EENEFR-_F-FF
+=-A=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
lssued and fully paid: BEETRAR
At | January 2009 RZZEZAF-A—H 100,001 [0
Capitalisation issue on 22 June 2009 (note i) RZZEZNFRAZTZH
()& A 847 (B i) 699,899,999 69,990
Issue of shares on 22 June 2009 (note ii) RZZEZENFRAZTZH
BT (BT 3END 300,000,000 30,000
Issue of shares on 26 June 2009 (note iii) RZEZAFNAZTA
BATRAD (B =EiiD) 45,000,000 4500
At 31 December 2009 R_EENF+-_A=1+—H 1,045,000,000 104,500
Exercise of share options TEBRE 2,274,675 227
Issue of shares on 22 December 2010 RZE—ZFFE+-_H=-1+=H
(note iv) IR, (W aEiv) 90,000,000 9,000
At 31 December 2010 R-ZBE-ZE+-A=+-0 1,137,274,675 113,727
HK$'000
FETL
Shown in the consolidated financial statements WA M IBHREAT KA
As at 31 December 2010 R-_E—ZF+-_A=+—H 114
As at 31 December 2009 R_EENF+_A=+—H 105
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BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

32.SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

()

(i)

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the sole shareholder of the
Company on 22 May 2009, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased to HK$1,000,000. The directors of the
Company were also authorised to capitalise the sum of HK$69,990
standing to the credit of the share premium account of the Company
by applying such sum in paying up in full at par 699,899,999 shares for
allotment and issue to Wellrun Limited, the then sole shareholder of
the Company and a company wholly-owned by Mr. Chun. On 22 June
2009, the directors allotted and issued such shares as aforesaid and

gave effect to the capitalisation issue.

On 22 June 2009, the Company issued 300,000,000 shares pursuant to
the Company's initial public offerings at a price of HK$5.18 per share
upon listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange.

On 26 June 2009, the Company issued 45,000,000 shares pursuant to
the over-allotment option as referred to in the prospectus of the
Company dated 10 June 2009 issued in connection with its initial public

offerings at a price of HK$5.18 per share.

On 9 December 2010, arrangements were made for a private
placement to independent private investors of 90,000,000 shares of
HK$0.0001 each in the Company held by Wellrun Limited, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, at a price of HK$7.85 per
share representing a discount of approximately |1.10% to the closing

market price of the Company’s shares on 9 December 2010.

Pursuant to a subscription agreement of the same date, Wellrun
Limited subscribed for 90,000,000 new shares of HK$0.0001 each in
the Company at a price of HK$7.85 per share. The proceeds were used
for existing and future acquisitions, capital expenditure on plant and
machinery and as general working capital of the Group. These new
shares were issued under the general mandate granted to the directors

at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 27 May 2010.

The new shares allotted and issued rank pari passu in all respects

with other shares in issue.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢QEEE’§;’E (#=h%) ARAF

2. K &)

b 2

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

BEARAKE-—RER=_ZZNEF
AAZ+-ZHAABNEEARAZER
KA RDEFE R A N E 1,000,000
T ANBESMERES BN
N AR 0 s B AR Y #E BR 2 %8 69,990
BTRIEER  FRAZESERE
BERARAIERNE-—RRRERE
EEEBRANARITEARA AR
% [z #17699,899,999% A B 51 {E 41
RHOBRMD - RZZEEAFAA=-T
“H O ESERERETLMRKRG
FEERCBEITER -

RZZEZAFERNA-+ZR &R
ABRBEERAAREENAAARM
REERZFT E TR R R0 5.18%
753 17300,000,0008% B 17

RZBZEAFASA=Z+B AR
AREBEARAR ZZETAF A T+H
HENEAAAZERRERMM
HBREERERESRRME.188 T E
745,000,0008% f% 15 °

R-ZZF—ZF+=-AAB BRA
BUFAREEFARERER A
EPRBERFEFERRAKFEZ
90,000,0000% & %0.0001% JT 2 &
NERMDIEEZH -  FHRERAE
BR7.85 T BRALAIRNHR =T
—ZF+-_ANABZUmEITEL
11.10% °

BRERBZRBHE  HFEERA
AREBRIBBETZERRE
90,000,0004% & % 0.00017% T 2 &
DRFBD - ERAE ARRE
BRKKE  BER#SIZERRE
XRAEEZ-—REEES - % F
D IREARAR _-_F—FF
AA-TERBOZERBFAE
MEERLZ - RRERT -

MEBRRBTORONERE T EERM
E#TO AERMA



33.ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES THROUGH ACQUISITION OF
A SUBSIDIARY

In July 2010, the Group acquired a 99.68% equity interest in Jiangsu
Jiangyin Port Container Company Limited (“Jiangyin Container”) and
related operating assets from independent third parties for an
aggregate consideration of RMB221,110,000 (equivalent to
HK$251,261,000). Jiangyin Container was previously engaged in the
business of the provision of port services including warehousing,
stevedoring and transportation of goods. The acquisition provides
the Group with an exclusive port along the Yangzi River to serve as a
regional logistics and distribution hub supporting the Group's
recycling base in the Jiangsu region. The Group accounted for the

transaction as acquisition of assets and liabilities.

The assets acquired and liabilities recognised in the transaction are

33 EBWIE—EM B AT

BEERAR

RZZ—ZF+H AKERBUE=
FWEIKIREEEAERAR (NI
BRERR])99.68%Ea RERHLEE
= BREAARE221,110,0005T (8
E10251,261,0008 L) « TRREEHEZ
AREREBORBZELE  BEE
- BHEEHRENER ZREAK
SEREMARIZEREAD  EAX
FASEA &R 2 B EM 2 E
MRRDEFL NEBEHZRHER
ARBEERARE -

RERHZUBLEERERZARD

as follows: D
HK$'000
TET
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERE 206,284
Prepaid lease payments ENEENIE 45,962
Other payables H fth & 1+ 3K IE (178)
252,068

The non-controlling interest of 0.32% in Jiangyin Container
recognised at the acquisition date was measured by reference to the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of fair value of the net
assets of Jiangyin Container and amounted to HK$807,000.

R R TR EXM0.32%3F
Tl 2 EFEHREHTIRREE
MBEEEZAFEZLIAE B
807,000/ 7T °

HK$'000
TET

Cash outflow arising on acquisition WBEEZRER
Consideration paid in cash MREexM2ZRE 251,261
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34.DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY MHE—EHKHEBAT
In September 2010, the Group entered into an agreement to R-ZF-FFNA  AEBEFLHE -
dispose of its entire 70% equity interest in Zhangjiagang Rongli HEERKRRERFNBEERBRAA
Zaisheng Ziyuan Co,, Ltd. (“Zhangjiagang Rongli"), which is engaged (TRREBRMI) 22 EB70%MH#E - KK
in collection, processing and sale of recycled scrap metal. The net /ﬁgﬂﬁﬁi@uﬁl CMIREELKES
assets of Zhangiagang Rongli at the date of disposal were as follows: RREBRNNLERBZFEEN
T :
HK$'000
FET
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE REE 4,463
Inventories Tf 5209
Trade and other receivables and deposits BoOREMERRERES 14,606
Bank balances and cash RITEAREA S 373
Trade and other payables B5 RHEMENRIE (14,840)
Net assets disposal of BHEFEE 9811
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BEKEB AR MERE
Consideration received EKKE 13,258
Net assets disposed of EHEFEE (9.811)
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR o 5,524
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of the Bk [l /B 2 &4 il # i
net assets of the subsidiary reclassified from W ERRFEEHR
equity to profit or loss on loss of control BaEfoEZEER
of the subsidiary ZEGERER 307
Gain on disposal HEES 2 s 9,278
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEELEZRERAEHE
Cash consideration ReRE 13,258
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B BEHERTERRERRS (373)
12,885
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35.PLEDGE OF ASSETS 35. 5 EHIH

The Group had the following assets pledged to banks to secure the RBEHMKR - FEES KA TEEERR
general banking facilities granted to the Group at the end of the FRT  UERAEEERMN—RRT
reporting period: A

2010 2009

—g-85  -TINF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TET

Investment properties REME 1,638 1,668
Prepaid lease payments ENEERE 2,720 2,790
Inventories T_ 398,776 —
Trade receivables 2 5 5IE 53,535 —
Bills receivable Jf'siuﬂzﬂfi 449,358 185,265
Bank deposits RITHER 1,630,541 210,376
2,536,568 400,099
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36.OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases during the year

are as follows:

Office and factory premises

MRERBE

36.EEHE

AEEEREEA

FARBKEHEENHERBEEREN
T

2010 2009
—e-%%  -TThE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
26,063 18,891

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for

future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases which

fall due as follows:

RBEHR > REERERATARE
MR HERENARZEEAESK
RMAENT

2010 2009

“E-2F —TTNEF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET THET

Within one year —FR 20,153 14,435
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_ZELF (BREEMF) 35,167 30,732
Over five years EFENE 81,800 68,750
137,120 113917

Operating lease payments mainly represent rentals payable by the

Group for leasehold land and office and factory premises in the PRC.

Leases are negotiated for terms of fifteen to twenty years and

rentals are fixed during the lease period.
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36.0PERATING LEASES (Continued) 36.5=HE =

The Group as lessor FEEERAEEA
Property rental income earned during the year is as follows: REAMBRNDERSBADT :
2010 2009
—2-ZF —TENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Rental income e A 165 567
As at 3| December 2009, the Group's investment properties had a RZZBZNFE+__A=1—H X&H
committed tenant for the next three months (2010: Nil) and the HNREMENRER=EA (ZZ—ZF:
Group had contracted with the tenant for future minimum lease EB)EEAGHEP  AREEHEMEFA
payments of HK$ 118,000 (2010: Nil). féﬁﬂf_ﬁﬁﬁﬁwﬂ 18,0008 L (Z 2 —%
FE)FL -
37.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37.EAREKiIE
2010 2009
—2-ZF —TENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Capital expenditure contracted for but not SR FORERI 23N
provided in the consolidated financial e MBHRERA
statements in respect of: BENERHAX
— acquisition of property, plant and -WEYNE BB
equipment &S 67,065 50,670
— addition of construction in progress —MEERIRE 11,206 5,799
— addition of land use rights — R T A 4,598 —
— capital injection in an associate - R—REBERFIE 235,294 —
— acquisition of a subsidiary (note) — W — P B A =] (B &) - 250,000
318,163 306,469
Note: The acquisition was completed during the current year and details Miek : WEBRARFETK - XIFBHRK
of the transaction are set out in note 33. 33
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option schemes

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution of the sole shareholder of the
Company on 22 May 2009, the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
(the "Pre-IPO Scheme") was adopted by the Company. Pursuant
to the Pre-IPO Scheme, the Company may grant options to any
full-time or part-time employees or potential employees,
executives, officers or directors of the Company, its subsidiaries
and associated companies (“Eligible Participants”) to subscribe
for shares of the Company. The purpose of the Pre-IPO Scheme
is to recognise the contribution that Eligible Participants made
or may have made to the growth of the Group. It aims to give
Eligible Participants an opportunity to acquire a personal stake
in the Company and help motivate Eligible Participants to
optimise their performance and efficiency, and also to help
attract or retain Eligible Participants whose contributions are
important to the long-term growth and profitability of the
Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted is 100,000,000 shares, representing 10% of
shares of the issued share capital of the Company immediately
upon listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange on 22 June 2009 (“Listing"), but excluding any shares
which may fall to be issued upon the exercise of the options
granted or to be granted under the Pre-IPO Scheme, the other
schemes and shares that may fall to be issued upon the exercise

of the over-allotment option in connection with the Listing.
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(a) BRDBBENBRETS

BREARAE—RER=TZNEF
AAZ+TZHABNEERER -
ADRRME R AR ERERE
HFE(TEARARABEEME] - 18
BERARRAEERNTE - AQFT
AR HINBAR REE QA
BRI RBESXERE - 17
BAE R BERES ([AEK
SLEAT)BENBERENRERD
AlH BRAHEERFERE
ERAER2BALTAAEENE
EELHXATEELHER A&
BERR2EATRERERRAAGEA
BaAle  THRHEBHAERS
BATRABEORBRME - I
ROl BEAEEAREZREIEA
FIBEEXERMHEERBEAL -

ERERETRENRMDEE LR
£5100,000,000/ k7 - HER AR
ARBBARBRMNR_ZZNEF
NAZ+tZHBRERAED (£
M) BEZEITRA10% @ ETEE
AAEERTEREE X AREESA
BIREMFERLAS TFREER
BMmETHRG - ARATERTHE
BRLMRHBEEREMZETHR
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Options granted have to be taken up within a period of 60 days
from the date of offer upon payment of HK$I.

Share options granted under the Pre-IPO Scheme are
exercisable at the initial offer price to the public (i.e. HK$5.18
per share). Each of the holders of the share options under the
Pre-IPO Scheme shall be entitled to exercise his/her options in

the following manner:

Service period that
share options can be
exercised after the date of Listing

RETMAMETTERRENREEE

Attaining | year HEI1F
Attaining 2 years BFAE2F
Attaining 3 years RHA3F

B.LUERZRIRS @)

DESEEBRESS ()

(a) BROMBEABRETS ()

ARARHNBRERRRRZA
BMERANTERRSR  BRKESMN
BT o

BEERAREERFERLNE
BREMZEGTARALTHERES
B (AEREMHE18ET)ITF - &
RARZEERENBRESE A
BAEREATARTEEBRE

Maximum accumulated
percentage of

share options exercisable
ATEEREN
KRB LR

33.33%
66.67%
100%
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

During the year ended 3| December 2009, 28,716,216 options
were granted to Eligible Participants under the Pre-IPO Scheme.
The estimated fair value of the options at the date of grant is
HK$59,442,000. The total number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding as at 3|
December 2010 was 20,553,510 (2009: 22,924,710) shares,
representing approximately 1.81% (2009: 2.19%) of the issued
share capital of the Company at that date. Details of the share
options granted under the Pre-IPO Scheme and their
subsequent movements are as follows:

B.URBRZRIRXS @

NESEEBRESS (8)

(a)

BRORBENBRESS (&)

BE-_ZTNF+=-A=+—HL#F
€ + 28,716,216 BB EREEH XA
HBEEMFERTAER2EAL -
BREARLBEUNEAAAES
59,442,000 c R—E—TF+—
A=+—HB HERBRHEATER
R e 8 2 B 17 48 $1/520,553,510/%
(ZZZTNE : 22,924,7108%) » 4
AR RRZAZEETRA.81%
(ZETHE:2.19%) - BEELIA
RBEERERONBERERLRE
BFBEET

Outstanding Outstanding
Options asat asat
Category of granted 31.12.2009 31.12.2010
Eligible Exercise during the  Forfeited R=SFAE  Forfeited Transferred  Exercised W=F—-ZF%
Participants price  Exercisable year during = during during during T2A
S£EKSH  Dateofgrant pershare period Vesting date REWEE  theyear =1—H theyear  theyear  theyear =1—H
AtEE  RAAH ERTEE AEH FEAA NERE REARN HAGE RERRW RERER RERGE  HAGRE
Directors 19 June 2009 HK$S.18 22June2010-  22June 2010 5405404  (1930502) 3474902 — (128700 — 3346201
EZ Z3ThE BT Buel7  -E-%%
~ATHA -2 RAZTCH
RAZtTZH
EITtF
~ATAR
Bune 201~ Bune 2011 5405406  (1,930502) 3474904 —  (128700) — 3346204
Bune20l7  —E-——%
“F-%  RAZT=H
~A=1ZR
EITtF
~ATAR
Blune2012-  Bune 2012 5405406  (1,930502) 3474904 —  (128700) — 3346204
Bune20l7  —E-Z%
-F-- ~AZ1=R
~A=1ZR
it Sl
~ATAR
[6216216  (5791,506) 10424710 — (386,100 — 10038610
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

DERER

B.LUERZRIRS @)

BRETE (8

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued) (a) BRLFAREAMBRETS (B)
Outstanding Outstanding
Options asat asat
Category of granted 31.12.2009 31.12.2010
Eligible Exercise during the ~ Forfeited RZSFAE  Forfeited Transferred  Exercised H=5-F%
Participants price  Exercisable year during tZA during during during tZA
AE®RSHE  Dateofgrant pershare period Vesting date  REMZHY  theyear =t-H  theyear  theyear  theyear =t—H
ALEH  RHEH ERTGE AR FEAA MERE REARN HATE RERRE REREE REAGE  HAGRE
Employees 19 )une 2009 HK$S.18  22June2010-  22)une 2010 4166666 — 4166666 (32,175) 128700 (2274675) 1988516
uder  ZEENE BT IBuwedl7  -E-Bf
continuous ~AT LA “3-%% T\HZJFZB
employment A Zﬂ‘i A
contract EZTtF
BEER ~ATAR
aHNES Blune0ll - BJune 2011 4166667 — 466667 (3LI75) 128700 — 4283192
IBjune20l7  —E——%
5% ~AZT=H
~A-tzH
EIE-tF
~ATIE
Bune2012-  Bune 2012 4166667 — 4166667 (32175) 128700 — 4263192
18 June 2017 _2-C
“2--%  AAZtZA
~AZT=H
EIE-tF
~ATIE
12,500,000 — 12,500,000 (96525) 386,100  (2274675) 10514900
8716216 (5791506) 22924710 (96,525) —  (2274675) 20553510
Exercisable at the end of the year
EXAfE - 5334718

In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the

weighted average share price at the dates of exercise is

HK$8.33 (2009: N/A) per share.

#MA) °
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The fair value of the options was calculated using the Binomial

model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Market price m{E

Exercise price 1TEE

Expected volatility FEE KB
Contractual life BHFEH
Risk-free rate gl P
Expected dividend yield TEHIRR Bl

B.URBRZRIRXS @

NESEEBRESS (&)

(a)

BRORBENBRESS (&)

BRELMABER -_BARAGFE
ZEAFBABEMAT

Share options
granted on

19 June 2009
R-ZZEZNhE
AAtHA
Rz BRE

HK$5. 187 7T
HK$5. 187 7T
48.25%

8 years
1.986%

Nil &

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the stock return of certain comparable listed

companies.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value
of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain

subjective assumptions.

The Group recognised an expense of HK$20,181,000 (2009:
HK$14,842,000) for the year in relation to share options
granted by the Company under the Pre-IPO Scheme.
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS B.LUEBRZEFRD &)

(Continued)
DESEEBRESS ()

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme (b) BRESS

Also, pursuant to a written resolution of the sole shareholder of
the Company on 22 May 2009, the Share Option Scheme (the

“Scheme") was also adopted.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Company may grant options to any
full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers including
directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any
suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and advisors (“Eligible
Scheme Participants”) who, in the sole opinion of the board of
directors, will contribute or have contributed to the Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries. The Scheme is a share incentive
scheme and is established to recognise and acknowledge the
contributions Eligible Scheme Participants had or may have
made to the Group. The Scheme will provide Eligible Scheme
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company with the view to motivating Eligible Scheme
Participants to optimise their performance efficiency for the
benefit of the Group and to attract and retain or otherwise
maintain on-going business relationships with Eligible Scheme
Participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group. The Scheme is valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from 22 June 2009, the date of
Listing.

BN BEADBR-—BRRER =T
EAFERA-+t-ERANEER
BRCAQANEABERES
([&&T&l) -

REZtE - ARBEHAAEFNR
BRBER THABRRRABE
B (BEARFAREMANBLRN
Ex ULEZe2ER/KEX
—EARARAR/REEMNER
AEHERAEMHfER TP
HABER KERER) ([8ERKE
B2BAL]) REBIRE - &t 8
R-ERMDERTE  ARARE
HEBRFEL2BALHAREE
HEAREERL BRI AR L o 35t
BARAEERFE2BALRA
EARAAREEBARDNES -
DRI 18 5 R AN S B B0 ) 5 T B
RAAKRBERME YRS RBE
RERHEZEALTHRITERE
B2 BATRBHFENELE
B - MzEEERL2EALINE
B DHABHEAEENRERR
A - ZAB B _TENAFE A
T-ALEmHBEFI0FABR -
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme shall not
in aggregate exceed 0% of shares of the Company as of the
date of the approval by the shareholders in general meeting,
without approval from the Company’s shareholders. The shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company at any time shall
not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. The
maximum number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company (including
both exercised and outstanding options) to each Eligible Scheme
Participant in any twelve-month period up to the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as of the date of

grant.

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or
any of their respective associates is required to be approved by
the independent non-executive directors (excluding any
independent non-executive director who is the grantee of the
options). Where granting of options to a substantial shareholder
or any independent non-executive director or their respective
associates which will result in the number of shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of options granted and to be
granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding)
to such person in the twelve-month period up to and including
the date of such grant exceed of 0.1% of the total number of
shares in issue and have an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5,000,000, based on the official closing price of the shares at
the date of each grant, such proposed grant of options will be
subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and the

approval of the shareholders in general meeting.
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NESEEBRESS (&)

(b) BRMESE (B)

Al BE R AT AR R & At Bl A K O PR
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ATEBERRRBRRASHEH
B AR RRD10% (BARDRK
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AR AE ] E At B PR R R 8 AT IR
BRRTENMARBREMRTH
B D PME B R 58 B T 2 &
TR #930% ° MR+ =18 A &
MEERL AR ERTEREZ
AT &) R A2 RUE (A E A B B L 2
MEBEAERTEHZEALREN
BRE (BRESTERARTENE
BHE) 317 RS BRITHRN BHD
FEARRELAHMEHTRMOK
1% °

MAARES TETHABRE
ZRR(E2R EMAL) KBEEFE
EEINERELS - PNl 1 I
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RfE o BRI EZRRE N MB LI
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS B.LUEBRZEFRD &)

(Continued)
DESEEBRESS ()

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (b) BRAEE (&)

Options granted have to be taken up within a period of 30 days
from the date of offer upon payment of HK$I.

The exercise price is determined by the board of directors and

but in any event shall not be less than the highest of:

(i) the official closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the
Stock Exchange on the offer date, which must be a day on
which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of

dealing in securities;

(i) the average of the official closing price of the shares on the
Stock Exchange as stated in the daily quotation sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately

preceding the offer date; and
(iii) the nominal value of the shares.

Options granted are exercisable for a period to be notified by
the board of directors to each grantee and such period shall

expire not later than [0 years from the date of grant of options.

During the year, 828,317 and 2,691,619 (2009: 5,606,406)
options were granted to Eligible Scheme Participants under the
Scheme on 8 June 2010 and 27 August 2010, respectively. The
estimated fair values of the options granted on those dates are
HK$2,659,000 and HK$9,062,000 (2009: HK$19,316,000),
respectively. The total number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding was
9,126,342 (2009: 5,606,406) shares, representing approximately
0.80% (2009: 0.54%) of the issued share capital of the Company
at 31 December 2010.

xR RN RS H B30
BAEM EMBAINUET

AEEREEERE - EHEHR
EABATFRERTIEENE
5%

() RIEZEH(ERBRMHIEE
HEXGEBNBT)BXMEA
BERMARNEMIAINE
H W TE

(i) BERESEHAESE B
RETEBREBRTEHKRDER
REMEHEE R RHE: &

(i) BipHE{E -

IXEREIREZENE AR
ABERTTE  MxBEARK L
AR FRER -

FA - BERBZFTE IR =F
ZERNRANBRZZE—ZFENAZ
THtHmEEKELEERD
828,31713 % 2,691,6191% (= ggn
% : 5,606,406 ) B - RZE
H%&ﬁZ%%%ZﬁﬁA$@n
7l % 2,659,0007% 7T 2 9,062,000
gt (ZZZ N F ¢ 19,316,000
) cRZE—ZTF+-A=+—
BrBERHRERTEBERES
BB DB 59,126,342/ (= F
T F : 5,606,4060%) © HIEAR
AINZA 2B #H1TRA0.80% (ZF
TNF  054%) °
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 38.LIBHM X% 5 =)

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

NESEEBRESS (&)

(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (b) BARAERE (&)
Share options granted under the Scheme on 24 December RZBTZAF+T-AZ-tEH - =
2009, 8 June 2010 and 27 August 2010 are exercisable at the Z-ZHEXANARZZE-—ZFN
prices of HK$8.74 per share, HK$6.78 per share and HK$7.80 AZTTtEREBEZFTEARLNBR
per share, respectively. Each of the holders of the share options EHARERe.74E T - BiR6.78
under the Scheme shall be entitled to exercise his/her options in ATRER70BTHERITE -
the following manner: ZETEIMBRERFE AR ERIU
THATEEBRE
Service period Maximum
that share options accumulated
can be exercised percentage of share
Date of grant Relevant date after the relevant date options exercisable
REBBH#E TTEEREN
RHA M A@AH UTERRENREHE 2dBILLER
24 December 2009 | November 2009 Attaining | year 33.33%
“ZENFFZAZtHA ZZEAF+-RA—H RBAF
Attaining 2 years 66.67%
RAMF
Attaining 3 years 100%
RA3F
8 June 2010 8 June 2010 Attaining | year 33.33%
—Z-ZFR ANB —Z-ZTFR ANB RBEF
Attaining 2 years 66.67%
RA2%E
Attaining 3 years 100%
RA3F
27 August 2010 [ July 2010 Attaining | year 33.33%
“E-FENAZTLH —2-FFLH-H RAE
Attaining 2 years 66.67%
RA2E
Attaining 3 years 100%
RAJE
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Details of the share options granted under the Scheme and

BBUBEBRIZARSD @

DEsEEBRESSE ()

(b) BRMESE ()
REZFEARLNBREREDHH

their movements are as follows: BT :
Options
granted during
the year and
outstanding
asat
31.12.2009 Outstanding
Category of RERRLM asat
Eligible Scheme RZZEAE  Transferred Granted  31.12.2010
Participants Exercise price +=A=t-A during during H=F-%%
SEKSH  Dateof grant pershare  Exercisable period Vesting date MATE  theyear  theyear TZAZT-H
ALEH RARH EROER  EH BEAA KERE RERBR  REARE  HAGR
A director 24 December 2009 HK$874 I November 2010 - | November 2010 = 1,144,164 = 1,144,164
EH “EENE AT 13 December 2017 ZE-FET-A-6
+ZAZ1mA “E-TF-A-BE
“E{Et-f+=R
| November 2011 - | November 201 = 1,144,165 = 1,144,165
23 Decernber 2017 Z2——%1-5-H
“E—ft-f-RE
“E{Et-f+=R
| November 2012 - | November 2012 - [,144165 - 144165
23 Decernber 2017 ZF-Z#1-5-H
“E-CEt-A-RE
i i g
- 34304%4 - 3432494
Employees under 24 December 2009 HK$6.74 | November 2010 - | November 2010 1868802 (1,144,164) = 14638
ontiuoss ~ ZEENE AT 23 December 2017 ZF-%ET-f-H
emploment ~ TZAZTHA “E-REt-R-RE
contract S
E8RRaN | Noverber 201 | - | Noverber 2011 1868902 (1144165) = 4637
HES 23 Decernber 2017 ZF——#1-5-H
“E-REt-A-RE
ZE-tErAZTEE
| November 2012 - | November 2012 1,868,802 (1,144165) - 14631
23 Decernber 2017 ZE-ZE+-F-4
“E-CEt-A-RE
ZE-tErAZTEE
SH06406  (34304%4) — BN
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BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

(Continued)

38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

BBUBRZRRSD @

DREEEBRESSE (B)

(b) BREE (8)

Options
granted during
the year and
outstanding
asat
31.12.2009 Outstanding
Category of RERELT asat
Eligible Scheme RZZEAF  Transferred  Granted  31.12.2010
Participants Exercise price tZA=1-H during during H=%-%F
AERSE Date of grant pershare  Exercisable period Vesting date REXIEH the year the year TZA=1—H
ALEH RtAH SRORS 7ES BEAA NERE REAER  REARE  HAGE
A director § June 2010 HK$6.78 8 June 2011 - 8 June 2011 — - 128,700 128,700
EZ “R-%E BT T)ne0I8 “Z——£5xANR
RANE 2355 N\RE
ZE-\ERALR
8 June 2012 - 8 June 2012 - - 128,700 128,700
7 June 2018 “E-ZEXAN\R
ZE-CERRNRE
ZE-\ERALR
8 June 2013 - 8 June 2013 - - 128,700 128,700
7 June 2018 “E-ZE£XAN\R
ZE-ZERRNEE
ZE-\ERALR
= = 386,100 386,100
Employees under 8 June 2010 HKS6.78 8 June 2011 - 8 June 201 = = |47 405 147405
continuous “3-%% BT Tine0I8 “2——ExANR
employment ~ AAN\A Z5--£7AN\AE
contract Z2-\ERALA
EEER §June 2012 - §|une 2012 - = 147406 147406
RNNES 7 June 2018 “E-£/A)\R
Z3-Z£7ANAE
ZE-N\ERAtR
8 June 2013 - 8 June 2013 — - 147406 147406
7|une 2018 “2-ZExANR

ZE-ZERANRE
“E-\FRALA

442217 440207
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(Continued)

38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

B.LUERZRIRS @)

DESEEBRESS ()

(b) RS ()

Options
granted during
the year and
outstanding
asat
31.12.2009 Outstanding
Category of REARULT asat
Eligible Scheme RZZZAE  Transferred Granted  31.12.2010
Participants Exercise price +Zh=1-H during during R-E-5%
RERSE Date of grant per share  Exercisable period Vesting date WA the year the year TZA=1—H
ALER RARH SROEH EH bl ER NERE RERER  REARE  HAGE
Employees under 27 August 2010 HK$780 I July 2011 - [ July 2011 = = 897:206 897:206
continuoss ~ Z5-%& BT 26Auust 018 “E--%tA-A
employment ~ \AZ+¢H Z3--ErR-RZ
contract Z5-NENRZTHH
EEER | uly 2012 - | uy 2012 = = 897,206 897,06
afRES 26 August 2018 “E-Z5tA-A
CE-CELA-RE
“E-NENAZTRH
| July 2013 - | July 2013 - - 897,007 897207
26 August 2018 “3-=£tA-A
CE-CELA-RE
“E-NENAZTH
- - 2691619 2691619
Bxercisable &t the end of the year EXTfE — |,868,802
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For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The fair values of the options were calculated using the Binomial

model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

B.URBRZRIRXS @

NESEEBRESS (&)

(b) BRMESE (B)

EREAABREA ZBAELG
& ZEAFEASBEOT

Market price

Exercise price

Expected volatility

Contractual life

Risk-free rate

{8
TEfE
BRI
BHFH

Share options
granted on
27 August
2010
R=-%-%%
NBEZttH
RENERE

HK$7.65/& T
HK$7.805% T
58.32%

4.42 to2
5.42 years®F
0.91% toZ

Share options

Share options

BRI =

Expected dividend yield BHRERAEX

1.16%
1.48%

granted on granted on
8 June 24 December
2010 2009
R-B-FF R-TITNF
AANR TZAZ-+WAH
REMBRE RENERE
HK$6.52% 7T HK$8.747 T
HK$6.7878 T HK$8.74% 7T
58.06% 48.31%
4.5 toZ 8 years
5.5 yearsf
1.401% toZ 2431%
1.657%
1.51% Nil

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the stock return of certain comparable listed

companies.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair values
of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain

subjective assumptions.

The Group recognised an expense of HK$14,580,000 (2009:
HK$278,000) for the year in relation to share options granted
by the Company under the Scheme.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢QEEE’§;’L§ (#=h%) ARAF

B KBRETAHEALRETAF
HERNEHREEREEE

AEBREAAERAEZEERRR
REEMREGBINE - BREE
ERETIERIROTAEHRMA
PR

AEERFAREBARRRIEZ
FEREERERRIMAS
14,580,0008 T (Z T T N F
278,000/ L) °



39.RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rule of the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to
make contributions to the scheme at rate specified in the rules. The
only obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in the

future years.

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC
government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their basic payroll to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the required

contributions under the schemes.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution

payable in the future years.

39.38 k8 #l 5t &1

AEERBARGMEDE S FERG R
FRERBEBEEBRIRHMEABES
8 ([BfRestal]) - BESHANEE
FHRRBUZREAZGNOES - B
SENBEESRFBE - REBREEAE
MRA BEEREBREHAZRAEE
M ERRZEHT - AEEHRES
Bl -EEARRAEELREN
HAR o KRR F R A BB R &2 M
AT R o

AEERTHERNEES S ERA
EENMBEREERAREMNTENKE °
FEMBLARARZEREEARTIEN
AT L RLERKEF SR K
RUBNEHES - AEERZERKE
Mt BRI ME— R ERR&ATEELAE
HOEE R o

R R S B B 4 R0 R 0% e R AT
K o
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For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
DISCLOSURES

During the year, the Group had transactions with related parties,
some of which are deemed to be connected parties pursuant to the
Listing Rules upon Listing. The transactions with these parties during
the year, and balances with them at the end of the reporting period,

are as follows:

40.FRARBAENLTHE

FRAREAREATENTRS &
REHNZEALRARA LMEARE L
MHABBBEAL - BZFEALIRF
RETHR SR RERREREFNEHR
mE

(I) RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES (I EEARBEAL
Nature of 2010 2009
Name of counterparty transactions/balances —E-%F —EENF
XEHHER X5/ RHMEE HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TE T
Guangzhou Zhujiang Steel Port loading charges paid 1,378 1,541
Port Co,, Ltd. (“Guangzhou (notes a and g)
Zhujiang"), an associate ENEORBDER (Mtako)
of the Group
BMIKMIBRER A
(TEMIRMAETR]) -
AEEREE R F
Guangzhou Asia Steel Rental expenses paid 642 491
Property Co., Ltd. ("GAS (notes b and h) 120 [15
Property”), a company ERNHESRAX (FiEbkh)
indirectly owned by Deposit paid (note 22)
Mr. Chun BfTE S (H522)

BEMBHERERAA
(TEMEWMEE]) -
RELREHEENDA

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢§EEE’£;‘L§ (12h%) ARAF



40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES A0.BRAREEHEANTHE &)

DISCLOSURES (Continued)

() RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES (Continued) () FERBEAL (H)

Nature of 2010 2009
Name of counterparty transactions/balances —B-2F —TTNEF
XEHHER X5/ @EHitE HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
Asia Wing Tat Recycling Cargo handling service fee paid — 3,456
Limited (“Asia Wing Tat"), (notes c and h)
a company indirectly ENEMREREE
owned by Mr. Chun (FfsEcknh)
FMRERKERRA
(TEEMeRZE]D) -
REABMEBEENLA
Mr. Chun Interest expenses paid (note i) 2,514 —
REHE B AB R 32 (B &E)
Wellrun Limited Issue of new shares (note i) 706,500 —
HEBRAA A7 R (MY )
(1) CONNECTED PARTIES () BAEAL
Nature of 2010 2009
Name of counterparty transactions/balances —E-FF —ETNEF
XEHLER X5/ GEHitE HK$000 HK$'000
FER FET
Certain subsidiaries of Sale of recycled metals 5,665,686 2,253,621
Guangzhou Iron & Steel (notes d and )
Enterprises Holdings Limited HERD KB (HTdR)
("GSEG") Purchase of scrap metals 1,565,288 —
EMHASCEEEERA A (notes e and j)
(TEWEXEERA]) RBEETE (HiZek)
WETHEBRR Trade receivables 1,900,752 802,102
Y E 53R
Bills receivable 566,571 192,714
FBKEE
Lane Tone International Material Purchase of scrap metals 1,461,081 1,073,615
Inc. (“Lane Tone") (notes f and j)
RBESE (MER) 23,052 —
Trade payables
BT 5 5508
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G & IR R R BT

For the year ended 3| December 2010

BHE

SE-FFI-ASt—ALFE

40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Il COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL

The emolument of directors who are also identified as members

of

Notes:

(@)

key management of the Group is set out in note |2.

On 22 May 2009, Guangzhou Asia Steel Co,, Ltd. (*Guangzhou
Asia Steel"), a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Guangzhou Zhujiang, of which a substantial shareholder is an
associate of a substantial shareholder of Guangzhou Asia Steel,
entered into a service agreement (the “Port Loading Service
Agreement”’) under which Guangzhou Zhujiang agreed to provide
port loading services to Guangzhou Asia Steel commencing from
the date of Listing (i.e. 22 June 2009) and ending on 3| December
2011,

Guangzhou Asia Steel would receive port loading services from

By entering into the above connected transactions,

Guangzhou Zhujiang in a timely and efficient manner.

The service fee payable by Guangzhou Asia Steel in relation to the
provision of port loading services by Guangzhou Zhujiang is
determined on the basis of prevailing market price. The Port
Loading Service Agreement was negotiated on an arm’s length

basis.

The extent of these connected transactions did not exceed the
limits as set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 10 June
2009.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢QEEE’£3§ (12h%) ARAF

0.FHARBEEANLTHE 2

TEEEABHH

EZ(MAREENTZEEEAS)
B B = R BT RE 12 o

B oE

(a)

RZBENFRERAZTZH A2 aAH

FEEWBAREMNGHEEERA

([& Hﬁmhﬁ MERMIESR (H—RE
ERFAEMNEH —ZEERAOHE
A) RIS — R % (D8 QR H R
#|) > Bt BNKBBERES LW
BRI ZZEZAEA=-TZH) EE
—E——Ft-A=t—HIEREME
MR B ARERY - BT LA
#RG  BMEHE kRO ERE
INER S0 TS A PR IR R A0 78 AR E AR 7S o

J& M 35 50 5t M R SR IS SR P FR (R A0 B O
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40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) On 23 May 2008, Guangzhou Asia Steel entered into an office lease as
tenant with GAS Property as landlord, pursuant to which GAS
Property agreed to lease to Guangzhou Asia Steel certain office
premises in Guangzhou, the PRC at a monthly rental of RMB36,029 for
a term from | June 2008 to 3| May 2010.The lease was renewed and
extended to 30 April 2013 during the year and the monthly rental
remained the same. On 25 April 2010, Guangzhou Asia Steel entered
into another two office leases as tenant with GAS Property as landlord,
pursuant to which GAS Property agreed to lease to Guangzhou Asia
Steel certain office premises in Guangzhou, the PRC at monthly rentals
of RMB9,335 and RMB3,118 for terms from | June 2010 to 31 May
2013 and from | May 2010 to 30 April 2013, respectively. The office
premises were leased due to the expansion of the Group's business in

Guangzhou and the close proximity of the office premises with the

Guangzhou Asia Steel's facility.

The rental rate is determined on the basis of prevailing market rates .

40.FHERBEENTHE 2

BT -

(b)

(%)

RZZENFRA=-+=H " E/MNEH
(EREMA) BEMGHEE EAX
F)IV—BRAZALY - KK - BMNE
B 2[R B 8 A0 5 R BN 8 T
REMERTEMNGH  AEAARE
36,0297 - B _TZTNE~A—H
BE_Z-ZTFRAA=+—-AL-HE
ERENEHRERZE-_S—=FIA
=+H AHE#RAE RZZT-TF
MA-+HA Hr EMNGHE(EEMAP) &
BMEHER ((ERZEE)ITLRIIMM
HAZHE  BUHENGHEERZER
BMEHEEERRAEN 2 ETHAS
M- RESRAEARKI3BL K
38T FHHFIH-T—TF A~
HE-_Z—=FRAA=+t—-HEHBH=-Z
—EERR—RAE-T—=-—FMA=F
B -ARAEEEEMNERSES B L
PN E YRR MR - A
NAEAZENE -

LB eEXDRRTHSEE -
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For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

©

On 23 February 2009, Huan Bao Steel Limited (“Huan Bao"), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a service agreement
with Asia Wing Tat whereby Huan Bao engaged Asia Wing Tat to
provide cargo handling services at a monthly service fee of
HK$288,000 for a term commencing from | January 2009 to 30 June
2009. The service agreement was subsequently extended for a period
of six months and terminated on 3| December 2009. The agreement
was entered into for the purpose of giving convenience to certain
scrap suppliers of the Group who are accustomed to Huan Bao's scrap

collection site, which is located at Yau Tong, Hong Kong.

The service fee payable by Huan Bao in relation to the provision of
cargo handling services by Asia Wing Tat was determined on the basis

of prevailing market price and negotiated on an arm's length basis.

The extent of these connected transactions did not exceed the limit as

set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 10 June 2009.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |*QEEE’£5§ (12h%) ARAF
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40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) GSEG is an associate of a substantial shareholder of Guangzhou Asia
Steel, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and thus, a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules upon Listing.
The Group entered into separate sales agreements (the “Sales

Agreements”) with certain subsidiaries of GSEG to supply them with

recycled scrap metals.

The transaction price in relation to the supply of recycled scrap metals
is determined with reference to the prevailing market price of the

recycled scrap metals. The Sale Agreements were negotiated on an

arm’s length basis .

The extent of these connected transactions for 2009 and 2010 under
the Sales Agreements did not exceed the limit as set out in the
prospectus of the Company dated [0 June 2009 and the limit as

revised with reference to an announcement of the Company dated 15

October 2010, respectively.

L0.FFARMAENLHEE

BT -

(d)

(%)

BHEXKERRAAARANZENE
AEEMEH -2 ERRROBEA
ERARA EHEEE EHRUAAR
RAWEEAL - AEECEEMLE
SERQRNETHERAZBILAHE
EhE ((HEHH)  AREHELD
BESE -

~

ﬂ

ERRELOUESBNRSEBN2ZE
ROWESBORTHEEE - HEW
FE R TR

—T-TERBHED
FETHREHER ZBEHFILEREB
ZAFRNATHAENERE
BEHRERZ2ZARA T -2F+
AtRAR BN REHETNRE -
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For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_Z—ZEF+-A=1+—HIUFE

40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(e) On |5 October 2010, the Company and two subsidiaries of GSEG
entered into two purchase agreements (the “Purchase Agreements”)
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase from them and
their associates metals for a term commencing from the date the
purchase agreements being approved by independent shareholders (i.e.
I5 October 2010) until 31 December 201 1.

The transaction price in relation to the purchase of metals is
determined with reference to the prevailing market price. The Purchase

Agreements have been entered into after arm’s length negotiations.

The extent of these connected transactions under the Purchase
Agreements did not exceed the limits as set out in an announcement

of the Company dated |5 October 2010.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |=F£EEE’£5L§ (12h%) ARAF

0.FHARBEEANLTHE 2

st (&)

(e)
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40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(f) Lane Tone is an associate of a former director of Tianjin Yatong, a

wholly-owned (2009: 90.385%) subsidiary of the Company. Though the
director resigned on 29 November 2010, Lane Tone is also considered
as a connected person of the Company until 28 November 201 | under
the Listing Rules upon Listing. On | June 2009, the Group and Lane
Tone entered into a framework purchase agreement (the “Purchase
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Group has agreed to purchase
scrap metals from Lane Tone commencing from the date of Listing (i.e.
22 June 2009) and ending on 3| December 201 |.

The purchase price payable by the Group in relation to the purchase of
the scrap metals from Lane Tone is determined with reference to the
prevailing market price of the scrap metal. The Purchase Agreement

was negotiated on an arm's length basis.

The extent of these connected transactions for 2009 and 2010 did not
exceed the limit as set out in the prospectus of the Company dated |0
June 2009 and the limit as revised pursuant to an announcement of the

Company dated |5 October 2010, respectively.

40.FHERBEENTHE 2

BT -

(%)

Lane Tone BAA A2 E (ZZTNF -
90.385%) i@ A AR 2 Gl — AR EE
ok ZEREFERZ
¢+—HZ+JLEI%¥E CHERAAF E
MERE ETHA - Lane Tonel 48 &
AABWBEEAL - TTNENA
—B  A%EHLane Tones] V —BES
RERZ ((KBHA) Bt A5E
REELTRAHE=SSAFA A=+
—HRE-_T——F+-_A=t+—-HL
B M Lane Tonel R EEEE o

REEFLane ToneRBEESBMERNK
KEBR2EESEBNRIMEETE -
REREDEAFRERRI °

—TEETNZRTF
HERGBESHLEBBAAR T
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FoE-TFEF-_F=1+—HIFE

40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(8

These connected transactions are defined as “continuing connected
transactions” in the Listing Rules and are exempt from the independent
shareholders” approval requirement under Rules [4A.34 of the Listing
Rules, but subject to the reporting and announcement requirement and
annual review requirement set out in Rules 14A.45 to 14A.47 and

Rules [4A.37 to 14A.40 of the Listing Rules, respectively.

These connected transactions are defined as “continuing connected
transactions” in the Listing Rules and are exempt from the reporting,
annual review, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval

requirement under Rules [4A.33 of the Listing Rules.

These connected transactions are defined as “connected transactions”
in the Listing Rules and are exempt from the reporting, announcement
or independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Rules
[4A31 of the Listing Rules.

These connected transactions are defined as non-exempt continuing
connected transactions in the Listing Rules under Rules [4A.35 of the
Listing Rules and are subject to reporting and announcement
requirements, independent shareholders’ approval requirement and
annual review requirement set out in Rules 14A.45 to 14A.47, Rule
[4A.48 and Rules 14A.37 to 14A.40 of the Listing Rules, respectively.
Waivers from strict compliance with the announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirement on these transactions

have been sought from the Stock Exchange.
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41.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN

ASSOCIATE

(I) SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2010
and 31 December 2009 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

HEAAAR

Asia Steel (Holdings)
Limited

M ()
LN

Asia Steel (HK)
Limited

SNEE (BE)
BRAR

Asia Steel (Investments)
Limited

EMAE(RE)
ARAA

Place

and date of
incorporation/
establishment
HRAL/
RYBERAH

The British Virgin
Islands

20 July 1999
(note a)
RBRAES
—“MANE
tA=+H
(fit i a)

Hong Kong

6 December 2000
(note a)

&%

NN
—T=

+=A7H
(GET)

Hong Kong

[ August 1999
(note a)

&k
—hAKE
NA+—H
(FEa)

Issued and
fully paid share/
quota capital/

Form of registered capital
business BRTR
structure BRRE/
EBEE REEX,/
2 dREX
Limited liability US$200
company =Y
BERRA

Limited liability HK$78,100,000
company BT
BERRT

Limited liability HK$100,000
company BT
ERAR

Bt 8 2 &

41.&%’&%&%‘%%’Aﬁlﬂﬁ¥
B

AAAIMBEARR T —FF+Z
A=+-BR=ZFFNF+=A=
T-ARHEBET :

Proportion of
nominal value
of issued
share/quota
capitallregistered
capital held
by the Company
RRAfRE
BRIRE/
REER/ M
EXEENL A
Direct Indirect
EE B

% %

100 —

— 100

Principal activities

ITRER

Investment holding
REZR

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding
REER
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Name of subsidiary

WEAFAR

Asia Steel (Development)
Limited

A (RR)
BRAA

Huan Bao

RiRiE

Central Steel

hRHE

China Metal Recycling
(Investments) Limited

hHEEBLER
(B&)BRAT

41.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN
ASSOCIATE (Continued)

(1) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place

and date of
incorporation/
establishment
AR/
RUBERAS

Hong Kong
4 June 1999
(note a)

-AANE
~AMA
(Ft3ka)

Hong Kong

7 August 1998
(note b)

BR
—NANE
NALH
(Kfib)

Macau

21 March 2005
(note b)

&b
“TTRF
=A-t-H
(H&b)

Hong Kong

8 October 2009
(note a)

B
_ETNE
TANR
(Ktsta)

Issued and
fully paid share/
quota capital/
Form of registered capital
business BRIR
structure BeRE/
EHRR REEE/
F AR
Limited liability HK$100,000
company BT
BRAT
Limited liability HK$10,000
company BT
FRAT
Limited liability MOP100,000
company L5
ERAH
Limited liability HK$10,000
company B
FRAT

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢§EEE’£;‘L§ (12h%) ARAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

MEAR (&)

Proportion of
nominal value
of issued
sharelquota
capital/registered
capital held
by the Company
AD AR
BRARE/
REEA/ i
EXEENLA
Direct  Indirect
% B
% %

— 100

M.MBASIREZE AT
5 )

Principal activities

TERR

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding
and collection,
processing and sale
of recycled scrap
metal
REERREA -
NIRHE
OhELE

Metal trading
tEE%

Investment holding

REER



ASSOCIATE (Continued)

(1) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

(. YK

China Metal Recycling

(Development) Limited
TECEBLER
(%R BRAA

BT
(Yangzhong Yagang)

RRGH
(Tianjin Yatong)

Place

and date of
incorporation/
establishment
ARET/
BRIBHRAH

Hong Kong

8 October 2009
(note a)

Bt

It JiK:2
+ANR
(Ksta)

The PRC

5 December 2006
(note b)

hE
IS
tZATEA
Likd)

The PRC

6 August 2006
(note b)

hE
ZIENE
NAT7RB
(Ki3t)

41.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN

Form of
business
structure

ST
i

Limited liability
company

BRAA

Wholly-foreign
owned enterprise

IEEELR

Wholly-foreign
owned enterprise

IEEELR

Issued and

fully paid share/
quota capital/
registered capital
EBTR
BRRA/
REEE/
e

HK$10000
AT

U5$20,000,000
0

US§13,000,000
0

1% =)

(1)

WEAR (F)

Proportion of
nominal value
of issued
share/quota
capitallregistered
capital held
by the Company
g
BRIRE/
RELL/if
EXEENLA
Direct  Indirect
EE 3
% %

= 100

- 100
(2009:
90.385)

(ZBZAE:
90.385)

41.MBATI REEABMNF

Principal activities

TERE

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding
and collection,
processing and sale
of recycled scrap
metal
REBRADY -
MIR#HE
RELR

Investment holding
and collection,
processing

and sale of recycled
scrap metal
REBRE
@ MLk
HERNETE
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Name of subsidiary

WEAFAR

ENEHEBERAT
(Guangzhou Yatong)
Metal Co, Ltd)

BN
(Guangzhou Asia Steel)

hLEHEBHH
BRAH

(Zhongshan Yatong Metal
Materials Co, Ltd)

EREAZRARLA
(Ningbo Yagang Metal
Co, L1d)

(1) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place

and date of
incorporation/
establishment
AR/
RUBERAS

The PRC

25 May 2007
(note b)

b

o
iy it
(Kfitb)

The PRC

15 May 2001
(note b)
hiE
“3E-F
EATEA
(Kitb)

The PRC

3 September 2008
(note b)

hE

it J]::
NA=H
(KtiEb)

The PRC

4 September 2008
(note b)

hE

= e
AARA
(KriEb)

41.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN
ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Form of
business
structure
$hRE
Fa

Wholly-foreign
owned enterprise

NEBALR

Sino-foreign
owned enterprise
TiaELR

Wholly-foreign
owned enterprise

IEEELR

Wholly-foreign
owned enterprise

NEBALR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

M.MBASIREZE AT

Issued and

fully paid share/
quota capital/
registered capital
ERTR
BRERE/
REEE/
AR

US$3,500000
T

US§4,500,000
Q0

US$10,000000
X

RMB20,000,000
ARH

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢§EEE’£;‘L§ (12h%) ARAF

1% &)

(I WEXRE (&)

Proportion of
nominal value
of issued
sharelquota
capital/registered
capital held
by the Company
AD AR
BRARE/
REEA/ i
EXEENLA

Direct
ER
%

Indirect
B
%

100

75

Principal activities

TERR

Investment holding
and collection,
processing and sale
of recycled

scrap metal
REERE
@k IRk
HEDLERR

Collection, processing
and sale of recycled
scrap metal

B - IR
HEDNESR

Collection, processing
and sale of recycled
scrap metal

B MR
HEDNESR

Collection, processing,
and sale of recycled
scrap metal

B IR
HERKETE



41.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN 43. B A B R Bt = A S A&

ASSOCIATE (Continued) B =
(1) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) () KMEAR (&)
Issued and Proportion of
fully paid share/ nominal value
Place quota capital/ of issued
and date of Form of registered capital sharelquota
Name of subsidiary incorporation/ business EBAR  capitaliregistered
HEARER establishment structure BrRE/ capital held
HRRY/ $BRE REEX/  bythe Company Principal activities
RIBHRAH 4 &R AL TfH TEXE
eRIRE/
REEL/ER
BEXEENLA
Direct Indirect
=83 A&
% %
RETHEBARARA The PRC Sino-foreign US$12,000,000 — 70 Collection, processing,
(MRETH)) 10 November 2008 owned enterprise (note ¢) and sale of recycled
(Wuhan Yagang Metal (note b) PAEERR e scrap metal
Co, Ltd) ("Wuhan i (R3kc) Bl IR
Yagang') ZTEN\E HEDWELE
t-AtH
(K&Eb)
DHEB(RI)BERAR  ThePRC Wholly-foreign US$5,000,000 - 100 Inactive
(rZ@Ru)) 13 March 2009 owned enterprise (note ¢) AENEE
(Yatong Metal (Shenzhen) (note a) NEBELE e
Co, Ltd) (*Vatong # (B &Ec)
Shenzhen") i 2
=At=H
(Ksta)
LHETeELER The PRC Wholly-foreign US§$59,980,000 = 100 Investment holding
ERAR 28 August 2009 owned enterprise (2009: and collection,
(Jiangsu China Metal (note b) NEBELE US$29,980,000) processing and sale
Recycling Resources '? E of recycled scrap
Co, Ltd) ZEENE (ZZENE: meta
NAZtIA 29,9800000 REBRADY
(KtiEb) x7) MIR#HE

AREEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

41.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN MMBAS REIE AT

ASSOCIATE (Continued) 5 &)
(I) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) () WEBAR (&)
Issued and Proportion of
fully paid share/ nominal value
Place quota capital/ of issued
and date of Form of registered capital share/quota
Name of subsidiary incorporation/ business ERTR  capitaliregistered
WEAR AR establishment structure BERE/ capital held
AT/ £33 REEX/  bythe Company Principal activities
RUBERAH i &R A2 AR IERB
BRRE/
REER/ER
EXAEHLH
Direct Indirect
B B
% %
IEREBENE The PRC Limited liabity RMB30,000,000 — 70 Collection, processing
HAERAR 10 November 2009 company ARE and sale of recycled
(Jiangsu China Metal (note b) ERAR scrap metal
Recycling Materials i B MIR
Co, Ltd) “RENE HERKETE
AL
(KtiEb)
REPEBELER The PRC Limited liabity RMB50,000,000 — 100 Inactive
RGMHERAT 23 March 2010 company N (000 ABRAEE
(Tianjin China Metal (note 2) ERAR NIA)
Recycling Resources hE 100
Trading Market “T-%F (Z2ENE:
Co, Ltd)* ZB-t=H AER)
(Hzta)
REDEEELE The PRC Wholly-foreign RMB5,000,000 — 100 Collection, processing
BRERAR 28 January 2010 owned enterprise ARE (2009 and sale of recycled
(Tianjin China Scrap Metal (note b) NEBEME N/A)  scrap metal
Recycling Co, Ltd)* i 100 Ei-MIR
“Z-%f (CETNF: BEOUESE
—A=t/H TER)
(Kf&tb)
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41.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN A HEBATREEATMEE
ASSOCIATE (Continued)

(1) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) I WEAE(E)
Issued and Proportion of
fully paid share/ nominal value
Place quota capital/ of issued
and date of Form of registered capital share/quota
Name of subsidiary incorporation/ business BEBATR  capitallregistered
KWEARER establishment structure BER%/ capital held
HRAEY/ E3/ 2 REEAX/  bythe Company Principal activities
RIBHREH 28 e ADAM% TEXE
BRIkE/
RELL/ R
EXEENLA
Direct Indirect
EE E:S
% %
HEEEER(ME) The PRC Wholly-foreign US$100,000,000 — 100 Metal trading
REARAH 20 January 2010 owned enterprise (note ) (009 £EBES
(fheBE (RE))) (note b) NEBELE E N/A)
(China Metal Recycling i (R zEc) 100
Investment Co, Ltd) Z3-%F (Z2ENE:
(“CMR (China)")* ~A-1H AER)
(KizEb)
mEEEER(RE) The PRC Wholly-foreign US$100,000,000 — 100 Investment holding
RERRAT 21 June 2010 owned enterprise (note ¢) (2009:  and metal trading
(fheBE(XRE))) (note b) NEBELE e NA)  REZRE
(China Metal Recycling i (R zEc) 0 £EE5
(Tianjin) Investment Z5-%F (Z2ENE:
Co, Lid)* RAZT-A AER)
(‘CMR (Tianjin)") (B &Eb)
Infinite Metal Recycling Hong Kong Limited liability HK$100,000 = 60 Metal trading
Limited* 6 October 2010 company BT 00 £BES
BREBRONARAR (note b) ERDR N/A)
Bk 60
“%-%% (ZZENE:
TAAH TER)
(BizEb)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

41.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN MMBAS REIE AT

ASSOCIATE (Continued) % (&)
(I) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) () WEBAR (&)
Issued and Proportion of
fully paid share/ nominal value
Place quota capital/ of issued
and date of Form of registered capital share/quota
Name of subsidiary incorporation/ business BBAR  capitaliregistered
KEARER establishment structure BEks/ capital held
AR/ £33 REEX/  bythe Company Principal activities
RIBHREH A &R A2 T IERB
BRIRE/
REEX/HR
EXEENLA
Direct  Indirect
B B
% %
TRERA The PRC Lirited iability RMB39,380,000 — 9968 Warchousing
(Jangyin Container)* 26 December 2001 company ARE (2009 stevedoring and
(note b) ERAR NIA)  transportation
# (note 33)  of goods
“3E-F 9068 A BAXHR
+=A=1xA (ZEENF: BNES
(Kitb) TER)
(Ht3t33)
FRARH The PRC Lirited liabity RMBI 6,667,000 — NI Collection, processing
(Zhangjiagang Rongli) | December 2006 company AR# (2009: 70)  and sale of recycled
(note b) ERAT (note 34)  scrap metal
hE NER B MIREE
S (CEENF: ORELE
+=A-H 70)
(Kitb) (KriE34)
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41.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN
ASSOCIATE (Continued)

(1) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Notes:

@)

(®)

©

These entities are either investment holding companies or inactive

and do not have any operations.

The operations of these entities are located at the place of

incorporation/establishment.

Capital injections to these entities are not completed at the end
of the reporting period. The unpaid capital for Wuhan Yagang,
Yatong Shenzhen, CMR (China) and CMR (Tianjin) as at 3|
December 2010 amounted to US$7,500,000 (2009:
US$8,300,000), US$3,500,000 (2009: US$3,500,000),
US$85,000,000 (2009: N/A) and US$35,000,000 (2009: N/A),

respectively.

Subsidiaries newly set up during the year ended 3| December
2010.

41.0} B 2 B) B Bk

1% =)

(1)

X

ZEATMH

WEAR (&)

i ¢

(a)

(b)

(c)

ZEEBAREEBRARHIHAR
AgE UEEMEEX -

%% B BB A M A S oAk 32 3 B

3

RBEBRIT R TREZEE B
AE  -RZTE-ZEF+ZA=1—
B REGHE SRR v&E
E(RE) RFREBE (KE) AR
&A% R A7,500,000E L (ZFF
AL : 8,300,000%T) * 3,500,000
Zn (ZTZT N F : 3,500,000%
JT) * 85,000,000 T (ZTF A
F : NEA) k35,000,000 T (=
ZTNEFE : TEA) -

REZE-F-FF+-A=+—-AL
ERMEINMBAF -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

G & IR R R BT

For the year ended 3| December 2010
BE-_FT—ZFTF+-_A=1+—HUFE

41.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN

ASSOCIATE (Continued)

(11) AN ASSOCIATE

Particulars of the Group’s associate at 3| December 2010 and

3| December 2009 are as follows:

Place and
date of

Name of associate establishment

BELRER RIBHEAMD

BN IR0 15 5 The PRC
(Guangzhou Zhujiang) 28 February 2003
hi

—gE=

—TT—

“A-t/E

1§ =)

(I BEQF

41.M BT REHE A S

AEEBERTAR-_T-—FTF+ -

A=+—HBR-ZZAF+-A=
T—HNFBEMOT :

Proportion of

nominal value of

registered capital

held indirectly

Form of by the Company

business AAAEE
structure FEEMER
ES TP EEHL
Sino-foreign 45%
owned

enterprise

THaBhE

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |*QEEE’£5§ (12h%) ARAF

Principal activities

IRXR

Construction of
terminals, loading and
unloading of cargoes,
and warehousing
REBHE  XHEY
ke



42.FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE

REXABZHBEH

COMPANY
2010 2009
—2-2F L Y%
HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET
TOTAL ASSETS HEE 2,689,425 2,086,778
TOTAL LIABILITIES meE (11,626) (3,858)
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,677,799 2,082,920
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR#E
Share capital R 7R 114 105
Reserves (note) fet & (PR &) 2,677,685 2,082,815
TOTAL EQUITY R 2,677,799 2,082,920
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 2010

BE-F-FFI-A=+—AILEE

42.FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

R.EKATZHMBEHR »

Note: Bif =T
Share
Share Capital options Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
RiER X BRERRE ZRER Eh)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT AT TAT AT
At | January 2009 RZZETNF
+TZA=1+—H 234,000 161,370 - (34391 360979
Profit and total comprehensive FREEMR
income for the year 2HNERE — — — 21,936 21,936
Capitalisation issue BRI (70) = — — (70)
Issue of new shares RITHR 1,787,065 — — — 1,787,065
Cost of issue of new shares BITHRAA (102215) = = = (102215)
Recognition of equity-settled ERNEREE
share-based payments WABR 1D 32 1 3R = = 15120 = 15,120
At 31 December 2009 RZZZNF
+ZA=+—H 1,918,780 161,370 15,120 (12,/455) 2,082,815
Loss and total comprehensive FEBRR
expense for the year 2EKREE — — — (17,638) (17,638)
Issue of new shares BATHIR 706,491 — — — 706,49
Cost of issue of new shares BRI A (15,126) — — — (15,126)
Recognition of equity-settled BRANEREE
share-based payments AR 15 3 {5 238 — — 34,761 — 34,761
Exercise of share options IR 16,000 — (4218) — 11,782
Dividend recognised as distribution A% Ik i BERR 2 R B = — — (125,400) (125,400)
At 31 December 2010 R=-B-ZF
+ZA=+-H 2,626,145 161,370 45,663 (155,493) 2,677,685

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited |¢§EEE’£;‘L§ (12h%) ARAF



43.EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD A3 ERIEZETE

In January 201 I, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement R-F——F—f AEEEBIYE =T
with an independent third party pursuant to which the Group agreed to BEERE  BUASERELEEN 2%
sell its investment properties and the corresponding prepaid lease payments F+-RA=+—H®LKMHEER4358000%
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$4,358,000 as at 3| December TZREVERMBENHENRE  KEAR
2010 at a consideration of HK$17,306,000. 17,306,000/ Tt
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FiveYears’ Financial Summary

LIEHMEGRE

RESULTS 4

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
—2TRF —TEF —TENF —TINF ZEB-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET

Revenue W 2= 1,090,338 1942400 6,526,594 9,063,175 22,508,182
Profit before taxation B 35 Al g A 100,235 187,069 330920 503,635 944,501
Income tax expense FrEBRAx (4,855) (8,342) (23,007) (24950)  (52,598)
Profit for the year F 5 g A 95,380 178727 307913 478,685 891,903
Attributable to: FEfh :
Owners of the Company RRREE A 46,626 137,691 294,431 478422 886,562
Non-controlling interests FEERER 48,754 41,036 13,482 263 5,341

95,380 178,727 307913 478,685 891,903

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SERER

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
ZEERF ZZT+F ZZENF ZZTNF ZB-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$’000

Total assets mEE 583274 1585317 2,102,263 4,750,667 13,703,706
Total liabilities maR (373,768) (1,272,031) (1,205911) (1,660,852) (9,102,569)
209506 313286 896352 3,089.815 4,628,137

Equity attributable to owners ZIN/NETE DN
of the Company FE (L #E 2 100224 278527 831554 3,00998! 4,556,834
Non-controlling interests FE1E PR = 109,282 34,759 64,798 79,834 71,303

209,506 313,286 896,352 3089815 4,628,137
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